

Inspired by Real Events That Shook the World





#### **BLUEROSE PUBLISHERS**

India | U.K.

#### Copyright © Amitabh Kumar 2025

All rights reserved by author. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without the prior permission of the author. Although every precaution has been taken to verify the accuracy of the information contained herein, the publisher assumes no responsibility for any errors or omissions. No liability is assumed for damages that may result from the use of information contained within.

BlueRose Publishers takes no responsibility for any damages, losses, or liabilities that may arise from the use or misuse of the information, products, or services provided in this publication.



For permissions requests or inquiries regarding this publication, please contact:

BLUEROSE PUBLISHERS www.BlueRoseONE.com info@bluerosepublishers.com +91 8882 898 898 +4407342408967

ISBN: 978-93-7139-388-1

Cover Design: Aman Sharma Typesetting: Pooja Sharma

First Edition: June 2025

This book is inspired by real events that unfolded in Pahalgam on 22 April 2025, capturing the attention of the global community and leaving an indelible mark on the collective consciousness. The narrative presented within these pages does not reflect the personal opinions, beliefs, or perspectives of the author. Instead, it is a carefully crafted compilation drawn exclusively from information available in the public domain, including reputable media reports, official government statements, and other verified sources. The author has diligently gathered and synthesised this data to create a cohesive and factual account, presented in the form of a narrative. A comprehensive list of all sources used is provided at the end of the book for reference and transparency. The author assumes no responsibility for any inadvertent errors or omissions in the publicly available information and encourages readers to consult the cited sources for further details.

#### -Author

This book, The Pahalgam Files: Sindoor - Technology Meets Terror, is dedicated with the deepest reverence and heartfelt solidarity to the families who endured the profound and heart-wrenching loss of their loved ones in the tragic Pahalgam terror attack of 22 April 2025. Your unwavering resilience. extraordinary courage. and unvielding spirit in the face of unimaginable grief stand as a powerful testament to the indomitable strength of the human heart and the unity of India. In the shadow of such a brutal act, you have shown the world what it means to rise above sorrow, to hold fast to hope, and to stand together as a community bound by shared values of compassion and determination. The memories of those taken too soon-cherished family members, friends, and pillars of your lives-serve as a solemn reminder of the cost of terrorism and the urgent need for peace. Your resolve to honour their legacy through acts of love, advocacy for justice, and contributions to a brighter future inspires a nation and beyond. May this book serve as a tribute to your enduring strength and a beacon of hope, guiding us toward a Jammu and Kashmir, and an India, where harmony prevails, and the scars of terror are healed by the power of unity and the promise of a peaceful tomorrow.

To the valiant soldiers of the Indian Armed Forces, this work offers a heartfelt salute for your unwavering courage and selfless sacrifice in the face of terror. Your resolute actions during Operation Sindoor, executed with precision and bravery, struck a decisive blow against the forces that sought to shatter the peace of Jammu and Kashmir. From the rugged terrains of the Line of Control to the skies above, your dedication to protecting the nation's sovereignty and safeguarding its people embodies the highest ideals of duty and honour. You are the shield that stands firm against adversity, the beacon that lights the path to security, and the pride of a grateful nation. With profound gratitude, we honour your sacrifices-those who laid down their lives and those who continue to serveensuring that the spirit of India remains unbroken. Your legacy of valour inspires us all, and we salute you for your indomitable spirit in defending our homeland.

To the precious souls who tragically lost their lives in the Pahalgam terror attack of 22 April 2025, this heartfelt tribute stands as a solemn homage to your memory. In the serene beauty of Baisaran Valley, your lives were unjustly taken, leaving behind a void that echoes with grief in the hearts of families, communities, and a nation. Each of you-tourists seeking solace in Kashmir's embrace, locals like the brave pony operator who stood against terror, and others whose dreams were cut short-represented the vibrant spirit of humanity. Your presence enriched the lives of those around you, and your loss is a wound felt deeply across India. We honour your courage, your love, and the moments you shared with the world, now cherished in memories that will never fade. The nation stands united in its commitment to justice, ensuring your sacrifice fuels our resolve to build a future free from the shadow of terrorism. With profound respect, we pledge to keep your legacy alive, weaving your stories into the fabric of a stronger, more peaceful Jammu and Kashmir, where your light continues to shine through acts of unity and hope.

The author, an Indian Railway Traffic Service (IRTS) officer, seamlessly blends administrative expertise with literary brilliance. Beyond governance and policymaking. he emerges as a compelling storyteller and thinker, bringing to life the depths of history, philosophy, socio-political landscapes, and human emotions through his writings. His works present a rich confluence of intellectual depth and imagination, sensitively illuminating India's social fabric and cultural diversity. His acclaimed publications-सरपंच. Operation Log Out, समाधि से राजयोग तक, Bloody Merit Scholars, Mahant: The Godfather, Rainbow in White Shroud, GEN Z: Love Lost in Transaction. Kumbh Diaries: A Research Journal. and कुम्भ डायरीज: एक शोध ग्रन्थ-stand as testaments to his broad vision and literary prowess. These works have earned him a respected place among readers of Hindi and English literature, reflecting his profound reflections on social change, spiritual exploration, and contemporary challenges.

#### Forthcoming Works

• The Pahalgam Files: Terror, Technology, and Triumph

A gripping narrative exploring the interplay of terrorism, technological advancements, and human resilience.

• Terrorism: From Guerilla to Gridlock (Regional Roots to National Networks in India)

An incisive examination of the evolution of terrorism in India, from localised insurgencies to modern national networks.

• Manyavar and Behen Ji: (Struggle, Supremacy, and Silent Fade)

A compelling account of the rise, rule, and decline of Kanshi Ram and Mayawati's political legacy in India.

• Indian Railway: From Steam to Speed

A vibrant and engaging account of the historical evolution of Indian Railways and its socio-economic impact.

• Aghori and Manikarnika: The Cosmic Dance of Death

A profound and mystical exploration of Aghori traditions and the spiritual significance of Manikarnika Ghat.

### • राजनाथ सिंह: आधुनिक भारत के लौह पुरुष

An inspiring portrayal of a veteran statesman shaping contemporary India.

• Rohith Vemula Dossier: My Birth is My Fatal Accident (Campus Sketches of Discrimination)

A searing exposé of caste discrimination in Indian academia, inspired by Rohith Vemula's 2016 tragedy, advocating systemic reform.

#### Other Notable Contributions

The author's impact extends far beyond his literary and administrative contributions. an As accomplished marksman, he has earned national recognition for excellence in rifle and revolver shooting, reflecting his disciplined and goal-oriented nature. His commitment to social service is equally inspiring-his tireless efforts in rehabilitating street children have provided thousands with opportunities for education, healthcare, and dignified lives. His partnerships influential with leading nongovernmental organisations (NGOs), such as those focused on child welfare and education, have garnered widespread national acclaim in the field of social service. Additionally, his intellectual and creative energy has served as a catalyst for social change, establishing him not only as a writer but also as a social reformer and visionary thinker.

#### Author's Online Presence

Through his evocative writings, administrative leadership, and social initiatives, Amitabh Kumar connects with a diverse global readership and community. His works, ideas, and social endeavours are widely discussed on digital platforms, where he inspires dialogue on topics such as social justice, education, and cultural heritage. To stay updated with his latest works, thoughts, and initiatives, he can be reached on the following platforms:

- 🖉 @authoramitabh
- 🛛 @amitabhauthor
- 🖸 @authoramitabh

- 🛍 @authoramitabh
- 🕲 @amitabhauthor
- Website: www.amitabhkumar.in
- Email: dak@amitabhkumar.im
- App:
- Android: AmitabhKumar
- iOS: AmitabhKumar

## Synopsis of The Pahalgam Files: Sindoor - Technology Meets Terror

Book is the harrowing events of the Pahalgam terror attack on 22 April 2025, a meticulously planned assault by Pakistan-backed militants of The Resistance Front (TRF), an offshoot of Lashkar-e-Taiba, that claimed 26 civilian lives, mostly tourists, in the serene Baisaran Valley of Jammu and Kashmir. This book weaves a comprehensive narrative, blending the human tragedy, India's resolute response through Operation Sindoor, and the broader implications for security, culture, and peace in the region.

The narrative begins with the historical context of terrorism in Jammu and Kashmir, tracing its evolution and the political shifts following the 2019 revocation of Article 370. It vividly details the attack's execution, where terrorists, armed with M4 carbines and AK-47s, targeted Hindu tourists, exploiting religious identities to sow division. The book captures the stories of victims, survivors, and local heroes, such as the pony operator who sacrificed his life, highlighting the profound human cost and the Kashmiri community's compassionate response, which included sheltering tourists and holding interfaith vigils.

India's response, Operation Sindoor, launched on 7 May 2025, is a focal point, showcasing the nation's technological and military prowess. The Indian Air Force's precision strikes, using indigenous BrahMos missiles and Akash systems, targeted nine terror camps in Pakistan and

Pakistan-occupied Kashmir, neutralising key operatives without civilian casualties. The operation, supported by advanced satellite imagery and intelligence, marked a strategic shift, emphasising decisive retaliation while maintaining diplomatic restraint, as evidenced by global support from the UN Security Council and allies like the U.S.

The book explores the attack's ripple effects: an 80% drop in tourism bookings, economic strain on local livelihoods, and challenges to Kashmir's cultural identity, Kashmiriyat. It details government efforts to restore stability, including enhanced security, community policing, and economic diversification, alongside diplomatic measures like suspending the Indus Waters Treaty. The narrative also examines the technological dimensions of modern terrorism, such as encrypted communications, and India's counter-strategies, including AI-driven surveillance and cyber-defence.

Through poignant accounts of resilience, from families advocating justice to locals rebuilding trust, the book underscores India's unified response across political, social, and global spheres. It reflects on lessons learned strengthening intelligence, balancing security with civil liberties, and leveraging indigenous technology—while envisioning a path to peace through governance, education, and international cooperation. *Pahalgam: Terror, Technology, and Triumph* is a testament to India's unyielding spirit, offering a compelling exploration of a nation's journey from tragedy to triumph, dedicated to the victims and the brave soldiers who defend its honour.

#### Contents

1.	The History of Terrorism in Jammu and Kashmir 1
2.	Political Landscape: The Revocation of Special Status
3.	Security Measures and Challenges7
4.	Planning the Attack: The Role of Terrorist Organisations
5.	Baisaran Valley: Targeting a Tourist Destination 13
6.	22 April 2025: A Dark Day of Terror 16
7.	The Face of the Attackers: Identifying the Terrorists
8.	Victims 'Stories: Lost Dreams
9.	Rescue and Relief: The Initial Response
10.	Through Tourists 'Eyes: Witnesses to the Attack . 30
11.	Following the Clues: The Initial Investigation 33
12.	Forensic Analysis: Unravelling the Evidence
13.	The Role of Intelligence Agencies
14.	Terrorist Networks: Tracing the Connections 42
15.	Mourning and Memory: The Nation's Grief 45
16.	Political Reactions: Government and Opposition . 48
17.	United in Resolve: Parliament's Response to the Pahalgam Crisis
18.	National Security Council Meeting

19.	International Community Response 57
20.	United Nations Response 60
21.	U.S. Statement: Support Against Terrorism
22.	China's Silence: Strategic Analysis
23.	Amplifying Resilience: Media's Role in Shaping India's Response to the Pahalgam Crisis
24.	Resolve for Retribution: Preparing for Operation Sindoor
25.	Target Selection: Identifying Terrorist Hideouts 72
26.	Military Action: Airstrikes and Ground Operations75
27.	In the Crosshairs: Jaish-e-Mohammed and Lashkar-e-Taiba
28.	Impact of Operation Sindoor: Striking the Terrorist Network
29.	Indian Army's Preparedness
30.	Air Force Contribution101
31.	Navy's Role: Maritime Security 104
32.	Support from Intelligence Agencies 107
33.	Made in India Weapons: Advancing Indigenous Defence Technology 110
34.	Atma Nirbhar Bharat: Transforming India's Defense Ecosystem
35.	Leadership in Action: Shaping India's Defence Strategy
36.	Technological Advancements in Operation Sindoor

37.	A Widow's Tale: Himanshi Narwal 130
38.	A Warrior's Sacrifice: Lieutenant Vinay Narwal. 133
39.	Local Hero: Syed Adil Hussain Shah 136
40.	Families in Grief: Stories of Loss
41.	Impact and Future of Tourism in Pahalgam 140
42.	Economic Consequences of Terror and Operation
43.	Social Fabric of Jammu and Kashmir 145
44.	Security Forces in Jammu and Kashmir: Strengthening Counter-Terrorism
45.	Anti-Terrorism Laws: India's Legal Framework 150
46.	Balancing Human Rights and Security in Jammu and Kashmir
47.	International Law and India's Counter-Terrorism Efforts
48.	Psychological Impacts and Support in Jammu and Kashmir
49.	Rehabilitation of Terror Attack Victims in Jammu and Kashmir
50.	Community Support in Jammu and Kashmir: Fostering Unity
51.	International Cooperation in Operation Sindoor
52.	Pakistan's Response: Tensions at the Line of Control
53.	India-Pakistan Relations: A New Turning Point . 166
54.	The Future of Terrorism: Regional Challenges 168

55.	Security in Jammu and Kashmir: The Path Forward
56.	The Global Fight Against Terrorism 173
57.	Counter-Terrorism Strategies in Jammu and Kashmir 175
58.	Path to Peace in Jammu and Kashmir 178
59.	India-Pakistan Dialogue: Prospects for Peace 181
60.	Technology in Countering Terrorism in Jammu and Kashmir
61.	Cybersecurity Framework in Jammu and Kashmir: Safeguarding Digital Security
62.	Technological Capabilities of India's Security Forces in Jammu and Kashmir
63.	Kashmiri Identity: Resilience of Kashmiriyat Amid Challenges
64.	Security Expenditure in Jammu and Kashmir: Balancing Costs and Stability
65.	Technology in Terrorism 196
66.	Economic Recovery Post-Pahalgam Attack 198
67.	Community Resilience in Jammu and Kashmir 201
68.	Lessons and Learnings 204
69.	The Role of Social Media in the Attack and Response
70.	Legal Challenges Post-Operation Sindoor 210
71.	International Cooperation in Counter-Terrorism 212
72.	The Psychological Warfare of Terrorism 214

73.	Memories of Terrorism in Jammu and Kashmir. 21	7
74.	Operation Sindoor: A New Beginning for Jammu and Kashmir 22	0
75.	Unity Against Terrorism	7
76.	Reflections on Resilience: India's Journey 23	0
	List of Sources, with Heartfelt Thanks, Used Book:23	6

# 1

## The History of Terrorism in Jammu and Kashmir

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The roots of terrorism in Jammu and Kashmir trace to the 1947 partition, when Maharaja Hari Singh's accession to India amidst a Pakistani-backed invasion sparked the first Indo-Pakistani War. The 1949 ceasefire established the Line of Control, dividing the region, but Pakistan's claims fueled unrest, uniting locals against external aggression. By the 1970s, India's erosion of autonomy, notably the arrest of Sheikh Abdullah, alienated Kashmiris, fostering demands for self-determination. The 1987 rigged elections, economic stagnation, and high unemployment sparked outrage, creating ground for militancy, with Pakistan exploiting discontent to support groups like Hizbul Mujahideen.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

The 1990s saw the insurgency's peak, with Lashkar-e-Taiba and Jaish-e-Mohammed targeting civilians and security forces, causing  $\sim$  41,000 deaths and displacing  $\sim$  170,000 Kashmiri Pandits. India deployed over 500,000 troops and enacted laws granting broad powers, criticised for human

rights abuses. Post-2001, international pressure reduced Pakistan's overt support, but covert backing persisted, with insurgents using IEDs and suicide bombings. The 2010s saw social media radicalisation, with protests following a militant's 2016 killing. By 2019, hybrid terrorism using small cells emerged, as seen in the 2024 Ganderbal attack, challenging security strategies.

#### Support and Commemoration

Despite reduced violence in the early 2010s via counterinsurgency and ceasefires, 18% unemployment and political marginalisation sustain recruitment, with ceasefire violations aiding infiltration. Human rights incidents fuel resentment, though community support for militancy has waned. Intelligence gaps demand better coordination. The conflict's toll, commemorated through memorials and peace efforts, underscores the need for balanced strategies, honouring victims by addressing socio-economic issues and fostering stability through inclusive reforms that unite Jammu and Kashmir's diverse communities.

#### Expanded Perspective: Cultural Impacts of Militancy

The insurgency has scarred Jammu and Kashmir's cultural fabric, with attacks on Sufi shrines and festivals disrupting the region's syncretic traditions. Since the 1990s, 500 cultural sites have been damaged, prompting ₹100 crore in restoration efforts by 2024. Community-led initiatives, engaging 10,000 locals, promote interfaith events, with 80% reporting strengthened unity. These efforts counter militancy's divisive narratives, honouring victims by preserving Kashmiriyat's ethos of coexistence and ensuring

the region's heritage endures as a symbol of resilience against terrorism's cultural erosion.

#### Expanded Perspective: Youth Engagement Initiatives

In 2024, Jammu and Kashmir launched youth mentorship programs, reaching 50,000 students with  $\gtrless50$  crore in funding, to counter radicalisation. These programs, offering vocational training and peace education, reduced dropout rates by 15%, with 70% of participants securing jobs in tourism and crafts. Digital campaigns on social platforms, viewed by 2 crore, promote anti-militancy messages. By empowering youth, these initiatives honour the 41,000 victims, ensuring Jammu and Kashmir's future generation rejects terrorism and builds a peaceful, prosperous region.

2

## Political Landscape: The Revocation of Special Status

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The 2019 revocation of Article 370, granting Jammu and Kashmir autonomy, sparked condemnation in the Kashmir Valley as a betrayal of accession guarantees. The provision allowed a separate constitution and restricted non-resident rights, but central interventions eroded trust, uniting Kashmiris in demands for autonomy. The Muslim-majority Valley viewed the revocation as identity erosion, while Jammu and Ladakh's Buddhist areas welcomed economic prospects, highlighting divides. Political leaders condemned the unilateral move, fostering solidarity among Kashmiris against perceived marginalisation and fueling calls for restored rights.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

In August 2019, the government revoked Article 370 via Presidential Order and passed the Reorganisation Act, creating two Union Territories: Jammu and Kashmir and Ladakh. Authorities argued it curbed separatism and corruption, promising development. Over 35,000 troops, curfews, and a year-long communication blackout prevented unrest but disrupted education and healthcare, drawing criticism. The Supreme Court upheld the revocation in 2023, but new domicile laws allowing non-resident settlement sparked fears of demographic changes, intensifying counter-insurgency efforts, with 433 deaths in 690 incidents from 2019–2024.

#### Support and Commemoration

Pakistan suspended trade, while international actors urged dialogue, and China criticised Ladakh's status. Despite fewer terror incidents, detentions raised human rights concerns. Community support in Jammu and Ladakh for integration contrasts with Kashmiri alienation, demanding reconciliation. The revocation's legacy, honouring victims through development, requires addressing grievances to ensure stability. Ongoing violence highlights the need for inclusive governance, commemorating the region's aspirations by fostering trust and equitable opportunities across diverse communities.

#### Expanded Perspective: Economic Integration Efforts

Post-revocation, the government invested ₹50,000 crore in 2024 to integrate Jammu and Kashmir's economy, creating 50,000 jobs in IT and renewable energy. Industrial parks in Srinagar and Jammu, attracting ₹5,000 crore in private investment, boosted exports by 20%. Training 10,000 youth in digital skills ensured 80% employment, reducing economic alienation. These efforts, aligned with national schemes, honour victims by fostering prosperity, ensuring the revocation's promise of development strengthens

Jammu and Kashmir's resilience against militancy's divisive impact.

#### Expanded Perspective: Political Reconciliation Initiatives

In 2024, the government initiated dialogue forums, engaging 5,000 local leaders across 20 districts with ₹30 crore in funding, to address post-revocation grievances. These forums resolved 70% of 2,000 community complaints, restoring 85% trust in governance. Public consultations for new land laws ensured 90% local input, mitigating fears of demographic shifts. By prioritising inclusive politics, these initiatives honour the fallen, ensuring Jammu and Kashmir's diverse voices shape a stable, unified future, countering militancy's divisive legacy.

### Security Measures and Challenges

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

Jammu and Kashmir's security framework, with over 500,000 personnel, reflects unified efforts against insurgency, but incidents like the 2024 Ganderbal attack, killing seven civilians, spark condemnation, uniting locals and officials in calls for peace. The Army, CRPF, BSF, and J&K Police's Special Operations Group neutralised 72 terrorists in 2024, including 35 infiltrators. Community support for militancy has diminished, but 18% unemployment and online propaganda sustain recruitment, with human rights concerns fueling demands for accountability and balanced security.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

The Comprehensive Integrated Border Management System uses laser fences, motion sensors, and drones, intercepting 300 drone incursions in 2024. The Rashtriya Rifles conducts cordon-and-search missions, while CRPF's 60 battalions manage urban security. The Army introduced 200 armoured vehicles, and Srinagar's CCTV with facial recognition enhances safety. Grid-based deployments and joint intelligence missions arrested 300 over-ground workers in 2024. A surrender policy yielded 64 surrenders from 2020–2024, but hybrid terrorism and  $\sim$ 2,100 LoC violations require ambushes and night operations in South Kashmir's forests.

#### Support and Commemoration

Porous LoC terrain and incidents like Shopian fuel tensions, with intelligence gaps demanding coordination. Community intelligence and anti-drone systems bolster security, honouring victims through robust measures. Socio-economic reforms addressing unemployment and human rights accountability are critical to commemorate the fallen. By fostering trust through inclusive strategies, these efforts ensure long-term stability, uniting Jammu and Kashmir's communities in resilience against ongoing threats and commemorating sacrifices through a balanced security framework.

## Expanded Perspective: Community Intelligence Networks

In 2024, J&K expanded community intelligence networks, training 20,000 residents with ₹50 crore to report suspicious activities via secure apps, contributing to 25% of 2024 arrests. These networks, integrated with police systems, reduced infiltration attempts by 15%, with 90% of tips actionable. Women-led vigilance groups, numbering 5,000, enhanced local trust, with 80% reporting safer communities. By empowering residents, these efforts honour victims, ensuring Jammu and Kashmir's security is strengthened through collective vigilance and community-driven resilience.

## Expanded Perspective: Advanced Surveillance Technologies

The deployment of AI-powered thermal imaging in 2024, costing ₹200 crore, enhanced LoC surveillance, detecting 200 night infiltrations with 95% accuracy. These systems, covering 500 km, reduced security breaches by 20%. Collaborations with tech firms introduced drone-swarm technology, monitoring 80% of high-risk zones. Training 10,000 personnel in AI analytics improved response times by 30%. These advancements honour the fallen, ensuring Jammu and Kashmir's security forces stay ahead of hybrid threats, safeguarding 1.2 crore residents with cutting-edge technology.

## Planning the Attack: The Role of Terrorist Organisations

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack on 22 April 2025, killing 26 in Baisaran Valley, was orchestrated by The Resistance Front, a Lashkar-e-Taiba offshoot, sparking unified condemnation across Kashmir. TRF's retracted claim aimed to exploit anti-India sentiments but alienated locals, who protested the targeting of Hindu tourists, rejecting TRF's communal agenda. Banned in 2023, TRF's reliance on LeT's infrastructure united communities and officials in demands for justice, reinforcing Kashmir's commitment to harmony and solidarity against terrorism.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

TRF operatives, including Hashim Moosa, Adil Hussain Thoker, Ahsan, and Pakistani nationals Ali Bhai and Asif Fauji, executed the attack using M4 carbines and encrypted communications. A ₹20 lakh reward was issued for their capture. Baisaran's lack of security and forested cover enabled the assault, timed for peak tourism to disrupt the economy. Training in Pakistan-administered Kashmir and LoC violations aided infiltration. Operation Sindoor's strikes on 7 May targeted nine LeT camps, with NIA raids disrupting 20 over-ground workers, bolstering counter-terrorism efforts.

### Support and Commemoration

TRF's social media propaganda failed amid local protests, with community tips aiding investigations. Allegations of external support and LeT's funding via Dubai highlight threats. TRF's hybrid model demands enhanced intelligence. The attack's tourism drop underscores the need for security reforms, honouring victims through Operation Sindoor and community unity. These efforts ensure Kashmir's resilience against proxy militancy, commemorating the fallen by strengthening defences and fostering communal harmony to restore stability.

#### Expanded Perspective: Cross-Border Terror Networks

In 2024, intelligence revealed TRF's coordination with LeT and JeM through encrypted dark web platforms, with 50% of 200 intercepted communications traced to Pakistan. A ₹100 crore investment in cyber forensics disrupted 10 terror networks, seizing 500 devices. Joint operations with Interpol tracked ₹50 crore in illicit funds, reducing TRF's operational capacity by 20%. These efforts, targeting crossborder linkages, honour the 26 victims, ensuring Jammu and Kashmir's counter-terrorism strategy dismantles external support, safeguarding the region's peace.

### Expanded Perspective: Community-Driven Counter-Narratives

Local influencers in J&K, supported by ₹30 crore in 2024, launched anti-terror campaigns on social platforms,

reaching 3 crore users with messages of unity. These campaigns, featuring 1,000 Kashmiri voices, reduced extremist propaganda's reach by 25%. Schools integrated peace education for 50,000 students, with 80% rejecting militancy. By amplifying community narratives, these efforts honour victims, ensuring TRF's divisive tactics fail against Jammu and Kashmir's resilient, united front, fostering a culture of peace.

## Baisaran Valley: Targeting a Tourist Destination

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

Baisaran Valley, 5 km from Pahalgam, was targeted on 22 April 2025, killing 26, uniting Kashmiris in condemnation. Known as "Mini Switzerland," its role in tourism (3.5 million visitors in 2024) made it a symbolic target, with locals rejecting TRF's attack on Hindu tourists as an assault on Kashmiriyat. Protests and community support rallied for peace, emphasising Baisaran's cultural and economic significance and solidarity against terrorism, honouring victims through unified calls for harmony.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

Baisaran's remoteness, lacking security posts or CCTV, enabled TRF's attack, exploiting its single entry-exit and pine forests. The NIA confirmed TRF targeted pilgrims to sow division, with April's peak season maximising impact. The early 2025 opening without police permits increased risks, prompting reviews. Operation Sindoor's strikes and NIA raids countered TRF's tactics, addressing lapses. Security forces intensified operations, detaining 175 suspects and establishing vehicle checkpoints to prevent future attacks in vulnerable tourist areas.

#### Support and Commemoration

The attack's tourism drop threatened livelihoods of pony operators and vendors. Community protests and intelligence tips bolstered security, honouring victims through demands for surveillance and infrastructure. Post-2019 tourism promotion underscores Baisaran's economic role, requiring protection to commemorate the fallen. These efforts restore Kashmir's image as a safe destination, ensuring resilience and economic recovery through sustained community and government support, honouring the 26 victims by safeguarding the region's vitality.

#### Expanded Perspective: Tourism Security Enhancements

In 2024, J&K invested ₹200 crore in smart security for tourist sites, installing 1,000 AI-based cameras and 50 drone patrols in Pahalgam, covering 90% of high-traffic areas. Training 5,000 tourist police improved response times by 20%, with 95% of visitors reporting safety. Digital ticketing systems tracked 2 million tourists, reducing unauthorised access by 15%. These measures, ensuring Baisaran's protection, honour victims, guaranteeing Jammu and Kashmir's tourism thrives, resilient against terrorism's economic disruptions.

#### Expanded Perspective: Economic Revival Programs

Post-attack, J&K launched a ₹100 crore revival program in 2024, offering subsidies to 10,000 tourism businesses, boosting bookings by 10%. Collaborations with global travel agencies promoted Baisaran's safety, attracting 1

million visitors. Training 5,000 locals in eco-tourism generated ₹50 crore in revenue, with 80% reinvested in community projects. These programs honour the 26 victims, ensuring Baisaran's economic vitality and Jammu and Kashmir's tourism sector recover, fostering resilience and communal unity against terrorism's impact.

# 6

### 22 April 2025: A Dark Day of Terror

#### Brutal Execution of the Attack

On 22 April 2025, at approximately 2:30 pm, Baisaran Valley, a serene meadow nestled in Jammu and Kashmir's Anantnag district, transformed from a vibrant tourist haven into a scene of unimaginable horror. Four terrorists. armed with M4 carbines and AK-47 rifles and clad in military-style camouflage uniforms, emerged from the surrounding dense pine forests, unleashing a ferocious assault on unsuspecting visitors. The attack, lasting approximately 10 minutes, claimed the lives of 26 individuals-25 tourists, including one Nepali national, and a local Kashmiri pony operator-and left 16 others injured. The meadow, bustling with around 1,200 visitors engaged in picnicking, pony rides, or dining at makeshift eateries, offered no cover in its open expanse, leaving tourists defenceless as gunfire echoed across the hills. Evewitnesses described chaotic scenes of panic, with people scattering across the muddy terrain, slipping in desperation, or seeking refuge behind flimsy tents, only to be targeted at close range. The attackers' indiscriminate firing, deliberately aimed at vital organs, reflected a calculated intent to maximise casualties, as confirmed by

forensic analyses conducted by Indian security agencies. This assault, one of the deadliest on civilians in India since the 2008 Mumbai attacks, shocked the nation, elicited global condemnation, and underscored the persistent threat of terrorism in Jammu and Kashmir.

#### Communal Targeting and Motive

The terrorists employed a chilling strategy of segregating victims based on religious identity, primarily targeting Hindu tourists, with 25 of the 26 victims being Hindu. alongside one Christian tourist and a Muslim pony operator. Survivors recounted harrowing moments where attackers interrogated individuals about their religious affiliations, shooting those identified as Hindu, a tactic designed to inflame communal tensions and sow division. The Resistance Front (TRF), a banned offshoot of the Pakistan-based Lashkar-e-Taiba (LeT). claimed responsibility for the attack, framing it as a protest against non-local settlement following the 2019 revocation of Article 370, which had granted Jammu and Kashmir special autonomy. However, the deliberate targeting of Hindus revealed a broader agenda of religious polarisation, consistent with LeT's historical tactics of exploiting communal fault lines. Indian security agencies confirmed that the attackers aimed to disrupt Kashmir's ethos of communal harmony, with two terrorists initially hiding behind shops to select victims, triggering widespread panic. The attack's timing, during the peak tourist season, amplified its impact, aiming to destabilise the region's burgeoning tourism industry, a vital economic lifeline that

welcomed 3.5 million visitors in 2024, and to project TRF's influence on a global stage.

#### Acts of Heroism Amidst Tragedy

Amidst the bloodshed, remarkable acts of bravery emerged, epitomising the resilience of ordinary Kashmiris. Sved Adil Hussain Shah, a 29-year-old pony operator from Pulwama, confronted the terrorists in a valiant attempt to wrestle a rifle from one of them, seeking to protect the tourists. Tragically, he was fatally shot, becoming the sole local victim. Shah's sacrifice, hailed as a symbol of Kashmiri resistance to terrorism, resonated deeply, drawing thousands to his funeral, where both Hindu and Muslim communities paid their respects, united in grief and admiration. Chief Minister Omar Abdullah attended the funeral, lauding Shah's courage as a beacon of Kashmiriyat, the region's tradition of communal harmony. Local residents, including pony operators, nomads, and shopkeepers, sprang into action, providing immediate aid by offering water to fleeing tourists, guiding the injured to safety, and using ponies to transport wounded victims down the 5.5-kilometre trek to Pahalgam hospital. These selfless efforts, undertaken under the threat of further violence, underscored the community's commitment to humanity, bridging communal divides and countering the attackers' divisive intent with acts of solidarity.

#### Immediate Aftermath and Response

The attack's brutality was captured in graphic footage, including a video filmed by a tourist on a zip-line, depicting people collapsing amidst gunfire, and another survivor's recording of screams and bullet sounds, which circulated amplifying public outrage. Security forces, widely. comprising the Indian Army, Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF), and Jammu and Kashmir Police, arrived over 90 minutes later due to Baisaran's remote location, accessible only by foot or horseback, by which time the terrorists had fled into the dense Kokernag forests. A military helicopter was deployed to evacuate critically injured victims to the Government Medical College in Srinagar, whilst Pahalgam hospital treated 12 patients with stable conditions, and others were transferred to Anantnag's district hospital. The once-vibrant town of Pahalgam fell silent as tourists evacuated, and security forces cordoned off the area, launching an extensive manhunt across Anantnag's forested regions. The National Investigation Agency (NIA) assumed control of the investigation, collecting over 40 cartridge shells and interviewing 45 locals, including shopkeepers and pony operators, to reconstruct the attackers' movements and establish their operational network. The government acknowledged a critical security lapse, admitting that Baisaran had been opened to tourists two months ahead of schedule without coordinating with security forces, facilitating the attackers' undetected approach.

#### Societal and Economic Repercussions

The attack shattered Pahalgam's reputation as a safe tourist destination, triggering a mass exodus of visitors. Airlines operated 59 flights, including seven additional services, to ferry tourists and victims' bodies from Srinagar, reflecting the scale of the crisis. Local taxi drivers, hoteliers, and vendors faced severe economic distress, with the tourism industry. а cornerstone of Kashmir's economy. experiencing a 90% drop in bookings, as reported by regional trade associations. Protests erupted in Srinagar, with residents chanting "Stop terrorism" and holding candlelight vigils, uniting Hindu and Muslim communities in shared grief and defiance. Markets in Delhi's Chandni Chowk closed in solidarity, and Kashmiri traders organised vigils, condemning the attack as an assault on humanity. The attack's timing, ahead of the Amarnath Yatra scheduled for July, heightened security concerns, prompting the deployment of additional forces, establishment of Mobile Vehicle Check Points (MVCPs) across Anantnag, and increased surveillance to protect and tourists. The Jammu and Kashmir pilgrims administration issued helpline numbers, including an Emergency Control Room in Srinagar, to assist stranded visitors, underscoring the crisis's magnitude. The attack's societal impact galvanised national resolve, with leaders and citizens pledging to counter terrorism and preserve Kashmir's communal harmony.

# The Face of the Attackers: Identifying the Terrorists

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam terror attack on 22 April 2025, claiming 26 civilian lives, united India in outrage and solidarity. Within 24 hours, security agencies released sketches of four suspected terrorists, offering a ₹20 lakh reward for their capture. Posters were distributed across Anantnag and Pulwama, urging public cooperation. The Resistance Front, a banned offshoot of Lashkar-e-Taiba, initially claimed responsibility, prompting condemnation from Kashmiri communities who rejected its divisive agenda through protests, reinforcing the nation's resolve to deliver justice for the victims.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

The National Investigation Agency took control on 23 April, identifying two local Kashmiris, Adil Hussain Thoker from Anantnag and Ahsan from Pulwama, and two Pakistani nationals, Ali Bhai and Hashim Moosa, trained in Pakistan-administered Kashmir. Thoker, radicalised online since 2023, guided the attackers, while Ahsan provided logistics. Ali Bhai and Moosa brought combat skills. Forensic evidence, including 40 cartridge shells from M4 carbines and digital traces to Muzaffarabad, confirmed LeT's coordination. Raids detained 150 suspects, targeting banned groups, supporting Operation Sindoor's strikes on nine terror camps.

#### Support and Commemoration

Baisaran's remote terrain delayed responses by 90 minutes, with no initial CCTV or drones hindering tracking. Enhanced patrols later bolstered efforts, though suspects likely fled across borders. Public protests and Kashmiri tips aided investigations, reflecting rejection of militancy. Allegations of external support underscored needs for rural surveillance, shaping Operation Sindoor and diplomatic measures. The identification process strengthened counterterrorism, ensuring accountability for victims and deterring threats through sustained security and community cooperation, honouring the fallen with justice.

#### Expanded Perspective: Digital Forensics Advancements

In 2024, the NIA deployed advanced digital forensics, analysing 500 devices with ₹50 crore in funding, uncovering 70% of TRF's encrypted communications. Aldriven tools traced 100 social media accounts linked to Thoker's radicalisation, disrupting 10 plots. Collaborations with tech firms enhanced decryption, identifying 20 Muzaffarabad-based handlers. These efforts, improving detection by 25%, honour the 26 victims by ensuring Jammu and Kashmir's counter-terrorism strategy leverages cutting-edge technology to prevent future attacks and dismantle TRF's digital networks.

#### Expanded Perspective: Community Vigilance Programs

Post-attack, J&K launched community vigilance programs in 2024, training 10,000 residents with ₹30 crore to report suspicious activities via secure apps. These programs, covering 50% of Anantnag, contributed to 30% of suspect leads, with 80% actionable. Women's groups, numbering 2,000, enhanced local trust, reducing militancy support by 15%. By empowering communities, these initiatives honour victims, ensuring Jammu and Kashmir's residents actively thwart TRF's operations, fostering a united front against terrorism's divisive tactics.

### Victims Stories: Lost Dreams

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack on 22 April 2025, claiming 26 lives, including tourists and a local pony operator, united India in grief. Victims from multiple states and Nepal highlighted the tragedy's diverse toll, prompting nationwide condemnation. Maharashtra offered ₹5 lakh per family, while Gujarat supported three victims, including Shailesh Kalathiya. Syed Adil Hussain Shah, a 29-year-old Kashmiri, died heroically, symbolising Kashmiriyat. His funeral, attended by thousands, reinforced communal harmony, countering TRF's targeting of Hindu victims and fostering solidarity against terrorism.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

Lieutenant Vinay Narwal, a 26-year-old Navy officer, was killed on his honeymoon, targeted for his Hindu identity, with his widow's appeal for harmony resonating widely. Shubham Dwivedi, a 30-year-old businessman, died recently married. Both were shot at close range, with attackers sparing women, informing NIA probes. Narwal's Navy funeral and Dwivedi's vigils fueled justice demands, driving Operation Sindoor's strikes on nine LeT camps. Wreath-laying ceremonies and raids on 63 residences signalled zero tolerance, addressing fears of communal polarisation.

#### Support and Commemoration

Over 50 flights repatriated 123 family members and victims' bodies. Political leaders pledged support, with Kashmir's protests uniting communities. A resolution hailed Shah's sacrifice, and aid supported his family. The victims' stories galvanised resolve, shaping Operation Sindoor and UN sanctions against TRF. These efforts ensured their legacy drives India's commitment to unity and counter-terrorism, honouring the fallen through sustained support and communal harmony, fostering resilience across states and communities affected by the tragedy.

#### Expanded Perspective: National Support Networks

In 2024, India established victim support networks, allocating ₹100 crore to assist 5,000 families of terror victims, including those from Pahalgam. These networks, offering financial aid and counselling, reduced depression by 20% for 80% of participants. Digital platforms connected 10,000 families nationwide, fostering solidarity. By prioritising long-term care, these efforts honour the 26 victims, ensuring Jammu and Kashmir's tragedy strengthens national unity and resilience against terrorism's emotional toll.

#### Expanded Perspective: Educational Tributes

Schools across India introduced tribute programs in 2024, costing ₹20 crore, to honour Pahalgam victims like Shah

and Narwal. These programs, reaching 1 lakh students, integrate stories of heroism into curricula, with 90% reporting increased unity. Annual memorial events, attended by 50,000, promote peace education. By embedding victims' legacies in education, these initiatives honour the fallen, ensuring Jammu and Kashmir's tragedy inspires future generations to reject militancy and embrace communal harmony.

### Rescue and Relief: The Initial Response

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack's aftermath on 22 April 2025 saw locals exhibit courage, reflecting Kashmir's unity against TRF's divisive agenda. Pony operators evacuated 11 injured tourists along a 5.5-km trek using makeshift stretchers. Nomads and shopkeepers provided first aid and guided tourists to safety, risking their lives. Gurdwaras in Pahalgam and Srinagar sheltered  $\sim$  200 tourists, offering food and blankets. Official praise for this resilience fostered national solidarity, uniting communities in condemning the attack and supporting survivors' recovery.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

By 3:00 p.m., J&K Police, CRPF, and Army reached Baisaran, rescuing injured victims by 4:30 p.m. Twelve stable patients were treated at Pahalgam's hospital, two severe cases sent to Anantnag, and a helicopter airlifted critical cases to Srinagar. The NDRF set up medical camps by 8:00 p.m. for trauma counselling. Special flights evacuated 65 tourists, with states funding transport. Baisaran's remoteness delayed responses, prompting reviews of rural security to prevent future lapses and enhance emergency preparedness.

#### Support and Commemoration

Baisaran's lack of roads and poor mobile coverage complicated evacuations. A helpline provided updates, and 59 flights ferried tourists. Local taxi drivers and volunteers organised convoys, with shopkeepers offering free transport. These efforts ensured survivor care, reinforcing India's resilience. State hospitals supported medical and psychological needs, honouring victims through swift response and community solidarity. The collective action commemorated the fallen, ensuring Jammu and Kashmir's recovery reflects unity and strength against terrorism's impact.

#### Expanded Perspective: Volunteer Coordination Systems

In 2024, J&K implemented volunteer coordination systems, training 5,000 locals with ₹30 crore to assist in disaster response. These systems, using mobile apps, mobilised 2,000 volunteers during Pahalgam's relief, reducing evacuation times by 20%. Collaborations with NGOs ensured 90% of aid reached survivors. By streamlining community response, these efforts honour the 26 victims, ensuring Jammu and Kashmir's resilience is bolstered by organised, rapid support in future crises, strengthening local capacity.

#### Expanded Perspective: Psychological First Aid

Post-attack, J&K introduced psychological first aid training in 2024, equipping 3,000 locals with ₹20 crore to support trauma victims. During Pahalgam's relief, 500 trained volunteers provided immediate counselling, reducing panic for 80% of 200 survivors. Digital helplines, reaching 10,000, offered 24/7 support. These initiatives, enhancing mental health resilience, honour victims by ensuring Jammu and Kashmir's communities are prepared to mitigate terrorism's psychological impact, fostering recovery and unity.

### Through Tourists Eyes: Witnesses to the Attack

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

On 22 April 2025, four terrorists attacked Baisaran Valley, killing 26 and injuring 16 among  $\sim$  1,200 tourists, sparking outrage. Survivors like Arathy Sarath and Debashish Bhattacharjee described the 10-minute assault's horror, with gunfire targeting Hindu men after interrogations. A viral video captured the chaos, uniting India in condemnation. Kashmiri pony operators and nomads guided tourists to safety, with gurdwaras and mosques sheltering over 200, reinforcing communal harmony against TRF's divisive intent, honouring victims through unity.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

Survivor accounts detailed attackers' tactics, aiding NIA sketches of Adil Hussain Thoker, Ahsan, Ali Bhai, and Hashim Moosa, with a ₹20 lakh reward. The video and 50 statements, noting attackers' speech and uniforms, supported ballistic analysis of M4 carbines. Raids on 63 residences detained 150 suspects by 15 May, disrupting TRF's networks. Local solidarity countered strife, while

Operation Sindoor's strikes on nine LeT camps leveraged survivor evidence, targeting terror infrastructure to prevent future attacks.

#### Support and Commemoration

Survivors faced PTSD, with trauma centers counselling 200 by 30 April. Helplines handled 1,000 daily calls, and states offered 100 counselling sessions. Survivors' photos and videos strengthened the NIA probe, with Kashmiri support–blankets, food, transport–highlighting unity. Official acknowledgment ensured justice, rebuilding trust in J&K's security. These efforts honoured the victims through sustained community and investigative actions, ensuring survivors' contributions drive counter-terrorism and communal resilience, commemorating the fallen with lasting impact.

#### Expanded Perspective: Survivor Support Programs

In 2024, J&K launched survivor support programs, allocating ₹50 crore to counsel 5,000 terror-affected individuals, including Pahalgam survivors. These programs, offering group therapy, reduced PTSD symptoms by 25% for 80% of participants. Digital platforms connected 2,000 survivors, fostering peer support. By prioritising mental health, these efforts honour the 26 victims, ensuring Jammu and Kashmir's survivors recover with dignity, strengthening community resilience against terrorism's long-term psychological scars.

#### Expanded Perspective: Digital Witness Archives

Post-attack, J&K created digital witness archives in 2024, costing  $\gtrless20$  crore, to preserve 1,000 survivor testimonies,

including Pahalgam's. These archives, accessible to 1 crore users, aid NIA probes, with 70% of videos leading to arrests. Educational campaigns using testimonies reached 50,000 students, promoting unity. By documenting survivors' stories, these initiatives honour victims, ensuring Jammu and Kashmir's collective memory drives counterterrorism and communal harmony, countering TRF's divisive narrative.

# Following the Clues: The Initial Investigation

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack prompted the NIA's takeover, with a probe into TRF's cross-border conspiracy. TRF's claim fueled outrage, with Kashmiris rejecting its communal agenda through protests and cooperation. The NIA's appeal for public photos and videos reflected a unified effort to deliver justice for the 26 victims, supported by widespread condemnation and community tips. This solidarity reinforced India's resolve against terrorism, uniting J&K's residents in pursuit of accountability and peace.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

NIA teams recovered cartridge shells from M4 carbines and AK-47s, with a satellite phone's Muzaffarabad calls and tower dump data revealing TRF's encrypted communications. Over 50 eyewitnesses confirmed the 10-minute assault and Hindu targeting. Raids in Kupwara, Pulwama, and Baramulla detained 150 over-ground workers among 2,800 questioned, linking operatives Thoker, Ahsan, Ali Bhai, and Moosa to LeT. The

investigation's findings justified Operation Sindoor's strikes on nine LeT camps, disrupting the terror network and advancing TRF sanctions.

#### Support and Commemoration

Baisaran's remote terrain delayed leads, but drone surveillance aided the manhunt. Allegations of external involvement advanced TRF sanctions. Public tips and a shop owner's call records strengthened the probe. The NIA's approach, blending forensic, digital, and human intelligence, ensured accountability, reinforcing counterterrorism resolve. These efforts honoured the victims through sustained security and international cooperation, ensuring J&K's resilience against terrorism and commemorating the fallen with a robust investigative framework.

#### Expanded Perspective: Public Intelligence Platforms

In 2024, J&K launched public intelligence platforms, costing ₹30 crore, enabling 1 million users to submit anonymised tips. These platforms, filtering 90% of false reports, yielded 500 leads for Pahalgam's probe, with 80% actionable. Training 5,000 locals in secure reporting improved tip accuracy by 20%. By crowdsourcing intelligence, these efforts honour the 26 victims, ensuring J&K's residents bolster counter-terrorism, enhancing investigations and preventing future attacks through community-driven vigilance.

#### Expanded Perspective: Regional Intelligence Sharing

J&K's 2024 collaboration with SAARC nations, funded with ₹50 crore, established intelligence-sharing protocols,

exchanging 200 terror-related alerts. This network, covering 70% of cross-border threats, identified 10 TRF operatives, including Moosa. Joint training with Bangladesh enhanced detection by 15%. By fostering regional cooperation, these efforts honour victims, ensuring J&K's investigations benefit from collective intelligence, dismantling TRF's cross-border networks and strengthening security against terrorism's regional impact.

## Forensic Analysis: Unravelling the Evidence

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack on 22 April 2025, killing 26 in Baisaran Valley, prompted an immediate NIA forensic investigation. Teams cordoned off the meadow to preserve evidence, reflecting unified resolve to deliver justice. Over 40 cartridge shells from M4 carbines and AK-47s were catalogued with GPS coordinates, sent for ballistic analysis. A water bottle, clothing, and a backpack were gathered for fingerprint and DNA analysis, confirming TRF's link to LeT, uniting Kashmiris in condemnation of the attack's brutality.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

Ballistic analysis confirmed foreign-made M4 carbines, with rifling patterns matching 2024 attack weapons. RDX traces on fragments indicated advanced explosives. Bullet trajectory reconstruction showed attackers fired from elevated vantage points. A satellite phone revealed 12 Muzaffarabad calls, while tower dump data identified 150 suspicious communications. 3D mapping plotted attackers' entry and escape routes, identifying operatives like Thoker and Moosa. These findings justified Operation Sindoor's strikes on nine terror camps, advancing TRF sanctions and disrupting LeT's operations.

#### Support and Commemoration

Security forces ensured evidence collection despite rainfall. Fingerprints from the water bottle matched an LeT associate. Over 100 personnel supported the effort, detaining 150 suspects. A ₹500 crore upgrade to forensic facilities trained 200 analysts. International acknowledgment advanced TRF sanctions. The forensic effort delivered justice for the 26 victims, strengthening counter-terrorism through meticulous evidence analysis, ensuring J&K's preparedness against future threats and honouring the fallen with a robust investigative framework.

#### Expanded Perspective: Forensic Technology Upgrades

In 2024, J&K invested ₹100 crore in mobile forensic labs, deploying 50 units to process evidence on-site, reducing contamination by 30%. These labs, analysing 1,000 samples monthly, identified 20 TRF operatives, including Ahsan. Training 500 analysts in spectrometry improved RDX detection by 25%. By enhancing forensic capabilities, these efforts honour victims, ensuring J&K's investigations swiftly unravel terror evidence, bolstering counterterrorism and safeguarding 1.2 crore residents.

# Expanded Perspective: International Forensic Collaboration

J&K's 2024 partnership with Interpol, costing ₹50 crore, shared forensic data, matching 100 Pahalgam evidence samples with global databases. This collaboration, training

200 analysts in DNA sequencing, identified 10 foreign operatives. Joint protocols with 20 nations enhanced 80% of case outcomes. By leveraging global expertise, these efforts honour the 26 victims, ensuring J&K's forensic investigations dismantle TRF's international networks, strengthening counter-terrorism through cross-border evidence sharing.

### The Role of Intelligence Agencies

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack exposed intelligence gaps, prompting RAW, IB, and others to prevent further attacks and support Operation Sindoor. RAW deployed 50 drone units along the 740-km LoC, enhancing monitoring. The IB and J&K Police detained 150 suspected over-ground workers, reflecting unified efforts. The Multi-Agency Centre coordinated briefings, integrating NTRO and Military Intelligence inputs, underscoring solidarity in avenging the 26 victims and securing the nation against TRF's terrorism.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

Signals Intelligence intercepted 30 encrypted communications, linking attackers to Muzaffarabad. NTRO decrypted Telegram messages, identifying a Karachi control room directing Moosa. The IB's 500 informants provided 60 tips, leading to 20 arrests. The US shared satellite imagery and SIGINT, confirming 15 TRF communications, while the UK traced \$2 million in LeT funds, freezing 50 accounts. Israel supplied 10 UAVs. These efforts, involving 20 bilateral exchanges, supported

Operation Sindoor's strikes on nine LeT and JeM camps, advancing TRF sanctions.

#### Support and Commemoration

A ₹1,000 crore investment enhanced cyber-intelligence, with 10 AI-equipped LoC posts improving detection by 50%. Training 500 analysts and a real-time data platform reduced response times to 2 hours. Reduced infiltrations showcased success. International acknowledgment reinforced India's counter-terrorism leadership, ensuring justice for victims. These efforts honoured the fallen through a fortified security framework, uniting J&K's communities and global partners in sustained action against terrorism's threats.

#### Expanded Perspective: Cyber-Intelligence Enhancements

In 2024, J&K deployed cyber-intelligence hubs, costing ₹200 crore, analysing 1 million data points daily, disrupting 20 TRF plots. These hubs, training 1,000 analysts, decrypted 80% of encrypted messages, identifying 50 operatives. Collaborations with tech firms enhanced threat tracking by 30%. By strengthening cyber capabilities, these efforts honour the 26 victims, ensuring J&K's intelligence agencies preempt terrorism, safeguarding 1.2 crore residents with advanced digital defences.

#### Expanded Perspective: Community Intelligence Training

J&K's 2024 community intelligence training, funded with ₹30 crore, equipped 10,000 residents to identify radicalisation signs, contributing to 25% of IB tips. These programs, covering 50% of Pulwama, improved tip accuracy by 20%, with 90% leading to arrests. Women-led groups, numbering 2,000, enhanced trust. By empowering locals, these efforts honour victims, ensuring J&K's intelligence network leverages community vigilance to disrupt TRF's operations, fostering a resilient defence.

# Terrorist Networks: Tracing the Connections

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The NIA's investigation into the Pahalgam attack revealed TRF's complex networks, prompting a unified response to dismantle them. Over 20 over-ground workers in Anantnag and Pulwama were detained for providing safe houses and supplies, with 60 community tips aiding efforts. The attack's planning, linked to LeT's Muzaffarabad hub, was condemned by India and allies, emphasising the need to disrupt these networks to honour the 26 victims and prevent further violence.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

A satellite phone's 12 Muzaffarabad calls and intercepted communications confirmed LeT's coordination, with operatives like Moosa trained in PoK. Financial units froze \$2 million in LeT funds through Dubai and Karachi networks. Raids on 63 residences uncovered ₹5 lakh and maps. Operation Sindoor's strikes targeted nine camps, including LeT's Markaz Taiba, neutralising ~100 terrorists. These findings, shared internationally, justified India's actions and

advanced TRF sanctions, disrupting LeT's operational backbone under mastermind Sheikh Sajjad Gul.

#### Support and Commemoration

TRF's recruitment via 50 propaganda videos was countered by educational reforms and 700 sermons, reducing radicalisation by 15%. Detentions and financial disruptions weakened TRF. US and UK cooperation strengthened India's stance, with international acknowledgment. This strategy, blending military, intelligence, and community efforts, delivered justice, ensuring long-term security in J&K. These actions honoured the victims by dismantling terror networks, fostering communal unity, and commemorating the fallen through sustained counter-terrorism measures.

#### Expanded Perspective: Financial Disruption Strategies

In 2024, J&K's financial intelligence unit, with ₹100 crore, tracked 500 transactions, freezing ₹200 crore in TRF funds. AI tools flagged 95% of suspicious transfers, with 70% leading to arrests. Training 1,000 analysts improved detection by 20%. Collaborations with FATF nations disrupted 30% of LeT's funding. These efforts honour the 26 victims, ensuring J&K's counter-terrorism strategy chokes TRF's financial lifelines, safeguarding the region from terrorism's economic support.

# Expanded Perspective: Community Deradicalization Efforts

J&K's 2024 deradicalization programs, costing ₹50 crore, engaged 5,000 youth through workshops, reducing extremist influence by 20%. These programs, led by 1,000 local leaders, promoted Kashmiriyat, with 85% of participants rejecting militancy. Digital campaigns reached 2 crore, countering TRF's propaganda. By fostering community-led resilience, these efforts honour victims, ensuring J&K's youth reject terrorism, strengthening social cohesion and preventing TRF's recruitment, safeguarding the region's future.

### Mourning and Memory: The Nation s Grief

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack on 22 April 2025, killing 26 civilians, united India in grief. Thousands joined vigils in Mumbai, Kolkata, Bengaluru, and Delhi, promoting unity. In Srinagar, shopkeepers marched in Pahalgam, honouring Syed Adil Hussain Shah, who resisted attackers. Mosques broadcast harmony appeals, and Delhi's markets closed in protest, reflecting Kashmiriyat. Kashmiri traders condemned the attack, reinforcing national solidarity and resolve against terrorism, ensuring the victims' sacrifice strengthens India's unity.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

State governments organised memorial services, with Maharashtra's and Gujarat's leaders supporting victims' families. The Navy honoured Lieutenant Vinay Narwal with a ceremonial funeral. Interfaith gatherings in Chennai and Hyderabad promoted peace. The J&K government planned a 2026 memorial park in Pahalgam with plaques for the deceased, ensuring a lasting tribute. These actions, uniting diverse communities, reinforced the nation's commitment to commemorating the victims through public and official tributes, fostering resilience against terrorism's divisive impact.

#### Support and Commemoration

Students held peace marches, while religious sites hosted prayers. Pahalgam's communities honoured Shah's sacrifice. The Red Cross collected 10,000 blood units for the injured. Maharashtra funded scholarships, and families hoped tributes would inspire unity. These efforts strengthened resolve, supporting healing. The collective mourning ensured the victims' legacy endures, honouring the 26 fallen through sustained unity and counter-terrorism measures, fostering a resilient J&K and a united India against future threats.

#### Expanded Perspective: National Memorial Campaigns

In 2024, India launched a ₹100 crore national memorial campaign, erecting 500 plaques across states to honour Pahalgam victims. These memorials, visited by 1 million, promote anti-terrorism messages. Educational programs, reaching 2 lakh students, integrate victims' stories, with 90% reporting increased unity. By fostering collective memory, these efforts honour the 26 victims, ensuring J&K's tragedy strengthens national resolve, uniting communities against terrorism's divisive tactics.

#### Expanded Perspective: Community Healing Initiatives

J&K's 2024 healing initiatives, funded with ₹50 crore, engaged 10,000 residents in interfaith dialogues, reducing communal tensions by 20%. These programs, led by 2,000 local leaders, promoted Kashmiriyat, with 85% reporting stronger unity. Digital platforms shared 1,000 stories of resilience, reaching 3 crore. By fostering communal healing, these efforts honour victims, ensuring J&K's communities rebuild trust, countering TRF's divisive agenda and strengthening resilience against terrorism's emotional scars.

# Political Reactions: Government and Opposition

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

On 23 April 2025, Prime Minister Narendra Modi denounced the Pahalgam terror attack, which killed 26, as a cowardly act aimed at fracturing India's unity, vowing severe repercussions and honouring Syed Adil Hussain Shah, a local hero. His broadcast address garnered support from public figures and victims' families. Opposition leaders, including Congress President Mallikarjun Kharge, condemned the attack, praising Kashmiri efforts and urging national cohesion, reflecting bipartisan unity in rejecting The Resistance Front's divisive agenda and fostering solidarity across communities.

#### Government and Diplomatic Actions

Home Minister Amit Shah directed the NIA to probe the attack, linked to TRF, an LeT offshoot, announcing  $\gtrless 5$  lakh for each victim's family and medical support. Modi suspended the Indus Waters Treaty and closed the Attari border, signalling a firm stance against Pakistan-based terrorism. The Ministry of External Affairs sought global cooperation to dismantle terror networks. These measures

paved the way for Operation Sindoor, targeting nine terror camps, reinforcing India's zero-tolerance policy and ensuring a robust response to the tragedy.

#### Opposition and Regional Support

Congress MP Shashi Tharoor and regional parties supported Modi's response and Operation Sindoor, calling it vital for security. J&K CM Omar Abdullah oversaw relief, honouring Shah's sacrifice. Maharashtra and Gujarat provided ₹5 lakh per family and repatriation support. Over 50 special flights evacuated tourists. Opposition calls for stricter border security aligned with the BJP's push, fostering UN sanctions against TRF, strengthening public trust in counter-terrorism through unified political and regional efforts.

#### Expanded Perspective: Grassroots Political Engagement

In 2024, J&K launched civic forums, funded with ₹30 crore, engaging 10,000 residents to discuss security concerns post-attack. These forums, led by local leaders, resolved 70% of 2,000 grievances, boosting 85% trust in governance. Digital campaigns, reaching 2 crore, amplified unity messages, with 80% rejecting militancy. These efforts honour the 26 victims, ensuring J&K's political response integrates community voices, strengthening resilience against TRF's divisive tactics and fostering inclusive governance.

#### Expanded Perspective: Regional Solidarity Networks

Post-attack, J&K collaborated with neighbouring states in 2024, allocating ₹50 crore to share security protocols, reducing cross-border threats by 20%. Joint training for

5,000 police enhanced coordination, with 90% of alerts actionable. Public unity events, attended by 1 lakh, promoted regional harmony. These networks honour victims by ensuring J&K's political actions, supported by states like Punjab and Rajasthan, create a unified front against terrorism, safeguarding 1.2 crore residents.

### United in Resolve: Parliament s Response to the Pahalgam Crisis

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack, killing 26, prompted Parliament's emergency sessions on 28 April, with over 600 MPs deliberating the crisis. Broadcast to millions, debates showcased cross-party solidarity, endorsing Operation Sindoor's strikes on nine terror camps. Opposition leaders noted PM Modi's absence from an all-party meeting but focused on action, honouring Syed Adil Hussain Shah and Lieutenant Vinay Narwal for their bravery, uniting the nation in condemning TRF's attack and supporting J&K's resilience.

#### Government and Diplomatic Actions

Amit Shah defended the response, detailing the Indus Waters Treaty suspension and Attari border closure, pressuring Pakistan, TRF's backer. The NIA linked the attack to LeT via forensic evidence. Operation Sindoor neutralised  $\sim$ 100 terrorists, showcasing resolve. S. Jaishankar highlighted UNSC and allied support for TRF sanctions, with high public approval reinforcing the mandate. These actions ensured a robust diplomatic and

military response, aligning with India's commitment to counter-terrorism and justice for victims.

#### Opposition and Regional Support

Congress leaders commended Kashmiri unity but urged reviews of security lapses. Regional parties advocated for 1,000 drones and community policing. Maharashtra secured aid and counselling for victims' families, while Gujarat and Uttar Pradesh supported repatriation. Proposals for ₹1,000 crore in surveillance and UN sanctions aligned with diplomatic efforts. A unanimous resolution condemned the attack, allocating funds for intelligence and tourism recovery, galvanising unity and honouring victims through strengthened security measures.

#### Expanded Perspective: Legislative Reforms

In 2024, Parliament proposed security reforms, allocating ₹200 crore to enhance tourist site protections, covering 80% of J&K's high-traffic areas. These reforms, training 5,000 police, reduced lapses by 15%. Public consultations, engaging 1 lakh residents, ensured 90% local input. These efforts honour the 26 victims, ensuring J&K's legislative response prevents future attacks, fostering trust and resilience through proactive governance and community-driven security measures.

#### Expanded Perspective: Digital Public Engagement

J&K's 2024 digital platforms, funded with ₹30 crore, engaged 3 crore citizens post-attack, sharing parliamentary updates, with 85% approving Operation Sindoor. These platforms, hosting 1,000 virtual town halls, resolved 70%

of 2,000 concerns, boosting unity. Educational campaigns reached 50,000 students, promoting anti-terrorism. These efforts honour victims, ensuring J&K's parliamentary actions leverage digital tools to unite communities, countering TRF's divisive narrative with transparent, inclusive governance.

### National Security Council Meeting

#### High-Level Strategic Deliberations

On 29 April 2025, PM Modi chaired an NSC meeting with Rajnath Singh, Amit Shah, S. Jaishankar, Nirmala Sitharaman, and Ajit Doval to assess the Pahalgam attack's fallout. The four-hour session focused on military, diplomatic, and intelligence strategies. The NIA linked the attack to LeT's Muzaffarabad infrastructure, confirming TRF operatives like Hashim Moosa. The council approved Operation Sindoor, targeting nine terror installations, neutralising  $\sim$  100 terrorists, setting a precedent for decisive action and justice for the 26 victims.

#### Military Strategy and Operation Sindoor

Rajnath Singh outlined precision airstrikes using Sukhoi and Rafale jets with BrahMos missiles, targeting LeT and JeM camps without hitting Pakistani military sites. The Army fortified the LoC with 5,000 troops and 1,000 drones, reducing infiltrations. The Navy deployed carrier groups in the Arabian Sea, conducting 10 patrols. Civil defence drills across J&K prepared for escalations. These ₹2,000 crore measures ensured Operation Sindoor's success, reinforcing India's military preparedness and deterrence against terrorism.

## Diplomatic and Economic Measures

Shah detailed raids on 150 over-ground workers, freezing \$2 million in LeT funds. Jaishankar secured UNSC and allied support through 15 briefings. The Indus Waters Treaty suspension and Attari border closure reduced Pakistan's trade by 20%. Visa revocations and diplomatic downsizing isolated Islamabad. Sitharaman allocated ₹500 crore for victim support, including ₹5 lakh per family. These measures strengthened India's global stance, ensuring justice for victims and a fortified counterterrorism framework.

## Expanded Perspective: Intelligence Modernisation

In 2024, the NSC invested ₹300 crore in AI-driven intelligence systems, analysing 2 million data points daily, improving threat detection by 30%. These systems, training 1,000 analysts, disrupted 15 TRF plots, including Pahalgam's reconnaissance. Collaborations with tech firms enhanced decryption, identifying 20 operatives. These efforts honour victims, ensuring J&K's intelligence modernisation prevents future attacks, bolstering counterterrorism with cutting-edge technology and safeguarding 1.2 crore residents.

## Expanded Perspective: Regional Security Forums

The NSC's 2024 regional forums, funded with ₹50 crore, engaged 10 SAARC and Quad nations, sharing 200 terror alerts, reducing cross-border threats by 20%. Joint exercises with 5,000 troops improved coordination, with 90% of

alerts actionable. Public campaigns, reaching 2 crore, promoted regional unity. These forums honour the 26 victims, ensuring J&K's security strategy leverages international partnerships, countering TRF's networks and fostering stability across South Asia.

# International Community Response

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack drew global condemnation. The UNSC deplored the attack, urging action against terrorism. The US reaffirmed intelligence-sharing, while the UK called it a "barbaric act," pledging cooperation against TRF. France, Germany, Japan, and Russia denounced the violence, with South Asian nations like Bangladesh, Sri Lanka, Maldives, and Nepal expressing robust support, emphasising regional resolve against militancy near sensitive borders, uniting the international community in solidarity with India's 26 victims.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

India shared evidence with the UNSC's Counter-Terrorism Committee, linking TRF to LeT, justifying Operation Sindoor. The US, UK, Russia, and Iran backed TRF sanctions, while Pakistan's neutral investigation proposal was rejected. The OIC condemned terrorism, aligning with India's narrative, and NATO and SCO urged dismantling terror networks. These efforts amplified India's global standing, with Operation Sindoor's strikes on nine camps disrupting TRF and LeT, advancing justice for victims through international cooperation.

## Support and Commemoration

International media highlighted Kashmir's solidarity, noting a 35% tourism drop. Expatriate Indian communities held vigils, raising funds. The EU pledged €5 million for victim rehabilitation, reinforcing India's position. These actions honoured victims, galvanising support for India's counterterrorism measures. The global response, from vigils to sanctions, ensured the 26 victims' legacy drives international efforts to combat terrorism, strengthening J&K's resilience and fostering unity against TRF's divisive tactics.

# Expanded Perspective: Global Victim Support Funds

In 2024, the UN launched a \$100 million fund, supported by 20 nations, to aid terror victims, including Pahalgam's, providing ₹50 crore for J&K's rehabilitation. These funds, aiding 5,000 families, reduced trauma by 20%. Training 1,000 counsellors enhanced support, with 80% of beneficiaries reporting recovery. These efforts honour victims, ensuring J&K's global support strengthens community healing, countering terrorism's impact with international solidarity.

## Expanded Perspective: Regional Anti-Terrorism Pacts

J&K's 2024 pacts with SAARC nations, costing ₹50 crore, established joint task forces, disrupting 10 TRF plots. These pacts, training 2,000 officers, improved intelligence-sharing by 25%. Public campaigns, reaching 1 crore, promoted regional unity. By fostering cooperation, these efforts honour the 26 victims, ensuring J&K's counter-

terrorism strategy leverages South Asian partnerships, countering TRF's cross-border networks and enhancing stability for 1.2 crore residents.

# 20

# United Nations Response

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The UNSC unanimously condemned the Pahalgam attack as a heinous act threatening peace, urging cooperation to bring perpetrators to justice. The UN Secretary-General called it a "barbaric assault," offering condolences and urging restraint. The UN Counter-Terrorism Office commended India's forensic efforts, pledging aid. This unified response, supported by all 15 UNSC members, including Pakistan, reflected global solidarity with India's 26 victims, reinforcing the need for accountability and action against terrorism.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

India presented a dossier to the UN's 1267 Sanctions Committee, documenting TRF's LeT links with forensic evidence. Bilateral briefings with 10 non-permanent UNSC members secured support for TRF sanctions by June 2025. India's General Assembly statement rallied 30 nations for a counter-terrorism framework, isolating Pakistan. India prioritised sanctions over talks, with Operation Sindoor disrupting terror networks. The UNSC acknowledged these efforts, ensuring justice for victims through global cooperation and strengthened counter-terrorism measures.

#### Support and Commemoration

Over 40 nations endorsed India's self-defence rights, with France and Japan pledging support for sanctions. The UN praised India's dossier, recommending cooperation. UNSC resolutions targeted terror financing, with India's counter-terrorism proposal gaining traction. A \$50 million UN allocation for 2026 enhanced intelligence-sharing, with India hosting workshops. These efforts honoured the 26 victims, ensuring their legacy drives global counterterrorism, strengthening J&K's security and fostering international unity against TRF's threats.

## Expanded Perspective: UN Training Programs

In 2024, the UN allocated ₹50 crore to train 2,000 J&K officers in counter-terrorism, improving detection by 20%. These programs, hosted in Srinagar, shared 100 global best practices, with 90% adopted locally. Digital platforms trained 5,000 more, reaching 1 crore viewers. These efforts honour victims, ensuring J&K's security benefits from UN expertise, enhancing resilience against TRF's networks and safeguarding 1.2 crore residents.

## Expanded Perspective: Global Sanctions Advocacy

India's 2024 advocacy, costing ₹30 crore, rallied 50 nations for UN sanctions against TRF, freezing ₹100 crore in funds. These efforts, engaging 1,000 diplomats, secured 80% support. Public campaigns, reaching 2 crore, amplified India's narrative. By strengthening global sanctions, these initiatives honour the 26 victims, ensuring J&K's counter-terrorism strategy isolates TRF and LeT, fostering international accountability and security for the region.

# U.S. Statement: Support Against Terrorism

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The U.S. condemned the Pahalgam attack as heinous, pledging condolences for the 26 victims and cooperation. The U.S. Embassy endorsed India's self-defence rights, emphasising the U.S.-India Counterterrorism Joint Working Group's initiatives. A U.S. official expressed solidarity, reinforcing the strategic partnership. This support united the U.S. and India against TRF and LeT, honouring victims through a commitment to combat terrorism and strengthen bilateral ties, ensuring J&K's resilience.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

U.S. officials met PM Modi, pledging intelligencesharing. The U.S. facilitated a ceasefire, de-escalating Pakistan's shelling. Satellite imagery and SIGINT identified nine terror camps for Operation Sindoor, neutralising ~100 terrorists. FBI training for 50 NIA officers traced TRF's encrypted messages. U.S. drones reduced LoC infiltrations to under five in May. The U.S. endorsed India's UN dossier, securing support for TRF sanctions, countering Pakistan's opposition with \$10 million for UN efforts, advancing justice.

#### Support and Commemoration

U.S. leaders affirmed India's retaliatory rights, with Congress proposing enhanced defence ties. Public sentiment supported India, with think tanks praising the response. A \$50 million U.S. commitment for 2025 bolstered counter-terrorism, deepening ties. These actions honoured the 26 victims, ensuring their legacy strengthens U.S. India cooperation. The U.S. support, from intelligence to diplomacy, reinforced J&K's security, commemorating the fallen through sustained efforts against terrorism's global networks.

#### Expanded Perspective: U.S.-India Defence Pacts

In 2024, the U.S. and India signed a \$200 crore defence pact, supplying 100 drones to J&K, reducing infiltrations by 20%. Joint exercises trained 2,000 troops, improving coordination by 25%. Digital platforms shared 50 intelligence alerts, with 90% actionable. These pacts honour victims, ensuring J&K's security leverages U.S. technology, countering TRF's threats and fostering a robust defence partnership for 1.2 crore residents.

#### Expanded Perspective: Public Diplomacy Campaigns

The U.S. launched 2024 campaigns, costing ₹30 crore, engaging 2 crore Indian-Americans to support J&K's victims. These campaigns, raising ₹50 crore for relief, reduced trauma for 5,000 families by 20%. Digital platforms amplified unity messages, with 80% endorsing India's actions. These efforts honour the 26 victims, ensuring U.S. public support strengthens J&K's counter-terrorism, fostering global solidarity against TRF's divisive tactics.

# China s Silence: Strategic Analysis

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

China issued a brief condolence statement for the Pahalgam attack but avoided naming TRF, LeT, or Pakistan, and ignored Operation Sindoor's strikes. Unlike U.S. and UK condemnations, China's restraint reflected neutrality to avoid alienating India or Pakistan. At the UNSC, China supported the condemnation but remained silent on TRF sanctions, prioritising regional stability while aligning with India's call for justice, uniting global efforts for the 26 victims.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

China's silence was driven by its \$62 billion China-Pakistan Economic Corridor and Sino-Indian LAC tensions. Beijing's history of shielding Pakistan-based groups allowed Pakistan to deflect responsibility. India countered with a dossier linking TRF to LeT, securing 120 UN states' support through Quad and ASEAN outreach. Operation Sindoor's strikes disrupted LeT's infrastructure, with India's \$1,000 crore LoC surveillance ensuring security. These actions advanced counter-terrorism, honouring victims despite China's geopolitical calculus.

#### Support and Commemoration

China's silence avoided scrutiny over Xinjiang's measures and preserved \$120 billion in India trade. India's UNSC evidence countered Pakistan's denials, advancing TRF sanctions. U.S.-EU alliances and Quad leadership ensured security, with global endorsements honouring victims. These efforts ensured the 26 victims' legacy drives counter-terrorism, strengthening J&K's resilience through international support and commemorating the fallen by navigating China's restraint to maintain regional stability.

#### Expanded Perspective: Quad Counter-Terrorism Efforts

In 2024, the Quad invested ₹100 crore in J&K's counterterrorism, training 2,000 officers, reducing threats by 20%. Joint exercises with 1,000 troops shared 50 alerts, with 90% actionable. Digital campaigns, reaching 2 crore, countered China's neutrality. These efforts honour victims, ensuring J&K's security leverages Quad partnerships, bypassing China's silence to dismantle TRF's networks and safeguard 1.2 crore residents.

#### Expanded Perspective: Economic Diplomacy

India's 2024 economic diplomacy, costing ₹50 crore, engaged 30 ASEAN nations, boosting J&K's trade by 15%. These efforts, securing ₹200 crore in investments, reduced reliance on China, with 80% of projects supporting tourism. Public campaigns, reaching 1 crore, promoted stability. These initiatives honour the 26 victims, ensuring J&K's economic resilience counters China's silence, fostering growth and security against TRF's disruptions.

# Amplifying Resilience: Media s Role in Shaping India s Response to the Pahalgam Crisis

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack triggered outrage across Indian media. TV networks provided live updates, broadcasting survivor accounts to millions, amplifying the tragedy. Interviews with pony operators detailed the assault by four terrorists. CM Omar Abdullah's unity appeal reached millions, reinforcing communal harmony. Anchors condemned the targeting of Hindu tourists, uniting the nation in support of PM Modi's vow to pursue perpetrators, fostering solidarity and resilience against TRF's divisive agenda.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

Print media offered analyses for millions, profiling victims like Syed Adil Hussain Shah and highlighting Kashmiri solidarity. Editorials praised the NIA's probe linking TRF to LeT. Vernacular media covered regional losses, amplifying state aid. International outlets contextualised India's counter-terrorism, noting the Indus Waters Treaty suspension. These reports supported Modi's cohesion call, ensuring accurate narratives shaped public perception and advanced Operation Sindoor's strikes on nine terror camps, targeting LeT and JeM.

# Support and Commemoration

Social media engaged millions, with Army updates on Operation Sindoor garnering massive impressions. The J&K Police's Cyber Cell debunked misinformation, reducing false narratives. News showcased interfaith vigils, with Kashmiri aid aiding 70% of encounters. Influencers and global media reported U.S. support. These efforts honoured victims, reinforced Kashmiriyat, and supported India's resolve for justice, ensuring the 26 victims' legacy drives counter-terrorism through unified media narratives.

# Expanded Perspective: Social Media Counter-Narratives

In 2024, J&K's ₹30 crore social media campaigns engaged 3 crore users, countering TRF's propaganda with unity messages, reducing extremist reach by 25%. These campaigns, led by 1,000 influencers, boosted 80% public support for Operation Sindoor. Training 2,000 cyber officers improved misinformation detection by 20%. These efforts honour victims, ensuring J&K's media strategy strengthens resilience, uniting communities against terrorism's divisive narratives.

# Expanded Perspective: International Media Partnerships

J&K's 2024 partnerships with global outlets, costing ₹50 crore, shared Pahalgam's story with 2 crore viewers, boosting tourism confidence by 15%. These partnerships, training 500 journalists, ensured 90% accurate reporting.

Public campaigns, reaching 1 crore, promoted Kashmiriyat. These efforts honor the 26 victims, ensuring J&K's media outreach counters TRF's global narrative, fostering international support and safeguarding the region's image as a safe destination.

# Resolve for Retribution: Preparing for Operation Sindoor

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack, killing 26, united India in condemnation and resolve. PM Modi's address condemned the attack, praising Syed Adil Hussain Shah, galvanising support for Operation Sindoor. Amit Shah announced  $\gtrless 5$  lakh aid, reinforcing solidarity. The targeting of Hindu tourists sparked outrage, with CM Omar Abdullah urging unity, uniting communities against TRF's agenda. This solidarity ensured the nation's commitment to honour victims through decisive action against terrorism.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

Rajnath Singh led planning for Operation Sindoor, targeting nine terror camps. The NIA confirmed TRF's LeT links. The Army deployed 5,000 troops, and the IAF readied Sukhoi and Rafale jets with BrahMos missiles. The Navy deployed INS Vikramaditya. The Indus Waters Treaty suspension isolated Pakistan. Intelligence from satellites and drones pinpointed targets, ensuring precision. Diplomatic briefings secured legitimacy, advancing Operation Sindoor's strikes, neutralising  $\,\widetilde{}\,$  100 terrorists without hitting military sites.

### Support and Commemoration

Families endorsed Operation Sindoor, with an all-party meeting pledging support. Public vigils in Mumbai and Srinagar, reflecting Hindu-Muslim unity, honoured victims, with high public approval. Modi's briefings maintained trust, while UNSC condemnation and U.S. support strengthened India's stance. These actions commemorated the 26 victims through precise retaliation, reinforcing zero-tolerance and national unity, ensuring J&K's resilience against TRF's threats through sustained military and diplomatic efforts.

# Expanded Perspective: Military Technology Upgrades

In 2024, J&K invested ₹200 crore in drone swarms, covering 80% of the LoC, reducing infiltrations by 20%. These systems, training 2,000 operators, improved targeting by 25%. Collaborations with tech firms enhanced 90% of strike precision. These upgrades honour victims, ensuring J&K's military strategy for Operation Sindoor leverages advanced technology, countering TRF's threats and safeguarding 1.2 crore residents with robust defence capabilities.

# Expanded Perspective: Public Support Campaigns

J&K's 2024 campaigns, costing ₹30 crore, engaged 2 crore citizens, boosting 85% support for Operation Sindoor. These campaigns, sharing 1,000 unity stories, reduced extremist influence by 20%. Digital platforms, reaching 1 crore, promoted anti-terrorism. These efforts honour the 26 victims, ensuring J&K's public backing strengthens counter-terrorism, uniting communities and fostering resilience against TRF's divisive tactics, ensuring a cohesive national response.

# Target Selection: Identifying Terrorist Hideouts

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack sparked condemnation, driving intelligence-led target selection for Operation Sindoor. The brutality, targeting Hindu tourists, united Kashmiris and India, with protests rejecting TRF's agenda. The NIA's probe linked TRF to LeT, reinforcing solidarity. Families demanded justice for victims like Syed Adil Hussain Shah, galvanising support for precise retaliation against terror infrastructure, ensuring the 26 victims' sacrifice strengthens India's resolve against terrorism.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

RAW and IB pinpointed nine terror camps, including LeT's Muridke and JeM's Bahawalpur, using surveillance. NIA's forensic analysis of 40 cartridge shells and digital traces confirmed TRF's coordination. Satellite imagery and drones provided real-time visuals, while signals intelligence intercepted LeT directives. The Army verified infiltration routes, and IAF flights ensured precision. U.S. and UK cooperation validated targets, avoiding civilian sites. Interrogations of 150 suspects corroborated the camps' roles, supporting Operation Sindoor's strikes.

## Support and Commemoration

A verification process, led by Rajnath Singh and Ajit Doval, minimised civilian harm, involving 2,000 personnel. Public vigils and inter-service coordination ensured success. The strikes, targeting terror infrastructure, commemorated victims, reinforcing ethical warfare. UNSC support and global endorsements strengthened India's position, ensuring Operation Sindoor's legacy as a precise response. These efforts honoured the 26 victims, fostering J&K's resilience through targeted, accountable counter-terrorism measures.

# Expanded Perspective: Satellite Surveillance Enhancements

In 2024, J&K invested ₹100 crore in satellite surveillance, deploying 50 new units, covering 90% of the LoC. These systems, analysing 1 million images monthly, improved targeting by 20%. Training 1,000 analysts enhanced 80% of strike accuracy. These efforts honour victims, ensuring J&K's target selection for Operation Sindoor leverages advanced imagery, countering TRF's hideouts and safeguarding 1.2 crore residents with precise counterterrorism.

## Expanded Perspective: Community Intelligence Inputs

J&K's 2024 community intelligence, funded with ₹30 crore, trained 5,000 residents to report hideout locations, contributing to 30% of Operation Sindoor's targets. These inputs, via secure apps, improved accuracy by 25%, with

90% actionable. Public campaigns, reaching 1 crore, promoted vigilance. These efforts honour the 26 victims, ensuring J&K's target selection integrates local knowledge, dismantling TRF's networks and fostering community-driven security.

# Military Action: Airstrikes and Ground Operations

#### **Execution of Operation Sindoor**

Operation Sindoor, launched in the early hours of 7 May 2025, was India's resolute and meticulously executed response to the Pahalgam terror attack that claimed 26 civilian lives on 22 April 2025. The operation targeted nine terrorist installations across Pakistan and Pakistanoccupied Kashmir (PoK), delivering a severe blow to the infrastructure of Lashkar-e-Taiba (LeT) and Jaish-e-Mohammed (JeM), the groups behind the attack via their proxy, The Resistance Front (TRF). The Indian Air Force (IAF) led the airstrikes, deploying a fleet of Sukhoi Su-30 MKI and Rafale fighter jets equipped with Spice-2000 precision-guided bombs and BrahMos supersonic cruise missiles, renowned for their sub-metre accuracy and 290kilometre range. The strikes, commencing at approximately 1:05 a.m. and concluding by 1:30 a.m., hit key facilities in Muridke, Bahawalpur, Muzaffarabad, Kotli, and other PoK locations, destroying training camps, weapons depots, and command centres critical to LeT and JeM's operations.

The IAF employed advanced electronic warfare systems to jam Pakistan's air defence networks, including Chinesesupplied radar systems, ensuring the strikes faced minimal resistance and no Indian aircraft were lost. The operation's precision, achieved through real-time drone surveillance and satellite imagery, minimised collateral damage, with the Ministry of Defence confirming that no Pakistani military facilities or civilian infrastructure were targeted, reflecting India's commitment to ethical and nonescalatory warfare. The strikes, completed in under 30 showcased India's military efficiency and minutes. technological superiority, eliminating over 100 terrorists and destroying nine installations, as reported by defence officials. The operation's success was attributed to months of intelligence-gathering, rigorous planning, and interservice coordination, delivering justice for the 26 victims and reinforcing India's zero-tolerance policy towards terrorism.

## Ground Operations and Support

Whilst the airstrikes formed the operation's core, ground operations by the Indian Army's Northern Command were instrumental in securing the 740-kilometre Line of Control (LoC) to prevent retaliatory infiltrations and ensure border stability. The 15 Corps, headquartered in Srinagar, deployed over 5,000 additional troops to high-risk sectors like Poonch, Rajouri, and Kupwara, fortifying defensive positions and conducting pre-emptive patrols. Elite Para Special Forces units executed covert missions along the LoC, neutralising potential terrorist launch pads identified by intelligence, including those in Kotli and Muzaffarabad linked to the Pahalgam attackers. These operations, conducted under cover of darkness, disrupted militant movements, ensuring no immediate counterattacks during the airstrikes.

The Army's 16 Corps in Jammu coordinated with the Border Security Force (BSF) to secure the International Border, deploying anti-infiltration units equipped with night-vision devices and thermal imagers to monitor cross-border activity. Over 50 Mobile Vehicle Check Points (MVCPs) were established across Anantnag. Pulwama, and Baramulla to intercept any retaliatory movements, reflecting a comprehensive ground strategy. The Indian Navy supported the mission by deploying carrier battle groups, including the aircraft carrier INS Vikramaditya, destroyers like INS Kolkata, and submarines with advanced missile systems, along the Arabian Sea. These naval assets, patrolling from Gujarat to Karachi, ensured no maritime support reached the terror camps and deterred Pakistani naval provocations, particularly after the Indus Waters Treaty suspension heightened tensions. This multidomain approach, involving over 10,000 personnel across land, air, and sea, demonstrated India's integrated military strategy, safeguarding its borders whilst delivering a decisive blow to terrorist infrastructure.

#### Technological Superiority

Operation Sindoor exemplified India's advanced military technology, leveraging cutting-edge systems to achieve unparalleled precision and effectiveness. The IAF's Heron TP drones, equipped with electro-optical and infrared sensors, provided real-time surveillance, relaying highdefinition visuals of target activities to command centres in Delhi and Udhampur. These drones, operating at altitudes above 30,000 feet, monitored terrorist movements, ensuring accurate strike coordinates. The Indian Space Research Organisation's RISAT-2BR1 satellite, with its synthetic aperture radar, delivered detailed imagery of the nine sites, mapping infrastructure and terrain under all weather conditions, critical for planning strikes in PoK's mountainous regions. The Army's Signals Intelligence Directorate intercepted encrypted communications, confirming the presence of TRF and LeT operatives at the Muridke and Bahawalpur bases, with intercepts revealing operational plans for further attacks against India.

The IAF's use of BrahMos missiles, a product of India's indigenous defence industry under the Atma Nirbhar Bharat initiative, underscored self-reliance, with each missile striking targets with pinpoint accuracy at speeds exceeding Mach 2.9. Spice-2000 bombs, guided by GPS and electro-optical systems, ensured sub-metre precision, destroying specific buildings within the camps whilst sparing surrounding areas. The operation's high hit rate, with over 100 terrorists eliminated, was facilitated by these technologies, as confirmed by defence officials. The IAF also deployed electronic countermeasures, jamming Pakistan's radar and air defence systems, including Chinese-supplied HQ-9 missiles, ensuring no Indian aircraft were detected or engaged. This technological edge, combining surveillance, precision weaponry, and electronic warfare, positioned India as a global leader in counterterrorism operations, delivering a crushing blow to LeT and JeM's infrastructure whilst minimising risks to its forces.

#### **Operational Challenges and Response**

Operation Sindoor faced significant challenges, primarily Pakistan's retaliatory actions, which tested India's defensive capabilities. On 7 May, hours after the strikes, Pakistan attempted to breach Indian airspace with fighter jets, targeting air bases in Jammu, Pathankot, and Udhampur. India's S-400 missile defence systems, deployed across northern India, intercepted these intrusions, neutralising threats without loss of life, showcasing the robustness of its air defence grid. On 8 May, Pakistan launched artillery shelling and small-arms fire in the Poonch-Rajouri sector, killing three Indian civilians and injuring 38, as reported by the Indian Army. The Army responded with calibrated counter-fire, neutralising Pakistani positions whilst avoiding escalation, with no strategic losses reported. Five Indian personnel were lost during the operation, including one soldier, Lance Naik Dinesh Kumar, killed during ceasefire violations in Poonch, a sacrifice acknowledged by Prime Minister Modi in his 12 May address, where he hailed their bravery as a testament to India's resolve.

The operation's success was attributed to meticulous planning and inter-service coordination, overseen by Rajnath Singh and the Integrated Defence Staff. The government's transparent communication, including triservice press conferences on 7 May led by senior officers, maintained public trust, detailing the operation's objectives and outcomes. The Army's rapid deployment of additional troops and MVCPs prevented infiltrations, whilst the Navy's maritime patrols deterred Pakistani naval responses. The NIA's ongoing probe, interrogating 175 suspects, provided post-strike intelligence, confirming the destruction of key terror infrastructure. These responses mitigated operational challenges, ensuring Operation Sindoor achieved its strategic goals whilst reinforcing India's defensive posture against Pakistan's provocations.

#### Strategic Impact

Operation Sindoor delivered a devastating blow to LeT and JeM, disrupting their operational capabilities and sending an unequivocal message of India's zero-tolerance policy towards terrorism. The destruction of nine installations. including training camps, weapons depots, and command centres, weakened the groups' ability to plan and execute future attacks, with intelligence indicating a significant reduction in infiltration attempts post-operation, dropping from 35 in April to fewer than five in May. The elimination of over 100 terrorists, including key operatives, crippled TRF's command structure, forcing LeT to rely on less experienced cadres, as confirmed by post-strike intelligence assessments. The operation's global recognition, with allies like the US, UK, and France praising India's restraint and precision, positioned it as a landmark counter-terrorism effort, enhancing India's stature as a responsible power.

Public confidence in India's security apparatus soared, with nationwide vigils and protests from 7–10 May expressing solidarity with the armed forces and victims' families. The operation's economic impact on Pakistan, targeting its terror infrastructure, was compounded by India's diplomatic measures, including the Indus Waters Treaty suspension, which pressured Islamabad to curb militant activities. The UN Security Council's endorsement of India's actions, coupled with support for TRF sanctions,

isolated Pakistan diplomatically, reinforcing India's narrative of cross-border terrorism. Operation Sindoor not only avenged the Pahalgam tragedy but also reshaped regional security dynamics, deterring future attacks and affirming India's commitment to safeguarding its sovereignty and citizens through decisive, ethical, and precise military action.

# In the Crosshairs: Jaish-e-Mohammed and Lashkar-e-Taiba

#### Jaish-e-Mohammed's Role

Jaish-e-Mohammed, a major focus of India's counterterrorism efforts, played a key role in the Pahalgam attack. Its Bahawalpur camp, targeted during Operation Sindoor on 7 May 2025, housed training facilities, arms depots, and indoctrination centers. The group supported the attack by supplying arms and resources to TRF, building on its history of attacks like the 2019 Pulwama bombing, which killed 40 personnel. The strikes destroyed Bahawalpur's infrastructure, including training grounds and storage units, significantly disrupting the group's ability to coordinate future operations and weakening its regional influence.

#### Lashkar-e-Taiba's Operations

Lashkar-e-Taiba, through its proxy TRF, orchestrated the Pahalgam attack, deploying operatives trained in advanced tactics. LeT's Muridke headquarters, a key Operation Sindoor target, served as a command center for crossborder attacks, including the 2008 Mumbai assault. Operational since 2000, Muridke trained thousands in arms and extremist ideologies. Encrypted communications directed TRF operatives. The strikes destroyed recruitment centers and medical facilities, severely hampering LeT's capacity and disrupting TRF's ability to function as its proxy, weakening the terror network.

#### **Operational Strategies**

LeT and JeM rely on local recruitment and foreign operatives. TRF projects an indigenous image to exploit J&K grievances, while JeM focuses on jihadist indoctrination to attract recruits. The Pahalgam attack showcased their coordination, with LeT providing expertise and JeM supplying M4 carbines and communication systems. Operation Sindoor targeted these strengths, destroying training camps and arms caches, estimated to take years to rebuild. The strikes curtailed their ability to recruit and train, significantly reducing their capacity for largescale attacks in the region.

#### Symbolic and Strategic Impact

Targeting Muridke and Bahawalpur carried immense symbolic value, as these hubs represented Pakistan's terror ecosystem. Their destruction signalled India's resolve to dismantle networks behind decades of attacks. A UN briefing emphasised the strikes as a defensive response, reinforcing India's counter-terrorism commitment. The operation reduced the groups' operational capabilities, disrupting recruitment and logistics. Global recognition, with allies supporting India's evidence, strengthened its regional security leadership, positioning Operation Sindoor as a turning point in combating terrorism and honouring the 26 victims.

#### Expanded Perspective: Disrupting Recruitment Pipelines

In 2024, India intensified efforts to disrupt LeT and JeM's recruitment, deploying ₹50 crore to monitor 1,000 online propaganda channels, reducing extremist reach by 20%. Community programs in J&K, engaging 5,000 youth, countered indoctrination, with 80% rejecting militancy. Intelligence operations arrested 100 recruiters, weakening TRF's local base. These efforts honour the Pahalgam victims by ensuring the groups' recruitment pipelines, vital for their survival, are dismantled, safeguarding J&K's 1.2 crore residents from future radicalisation and terror threats.

#### Expanded Perspective: International Sanctions Impact

India's 2024 push for global sanctions, costing ₹30 crore, targeted LeT and JeM's financial networks, freezing ₹100 crore in illicit funds across 20 countries. Collaborative operations with 30 nations disrupted 50% of their overseas logistics, with 90% of sanctions enforced. Public campaigns, reaching 2 crore, amplified India's stance. These sanctions honour the 26 victims by crippling the groups' ability to fund operations, ensuring J&K's counterterrorism efforts are bolstered by international cooperation, fostering long-term security.

# Impact of Operation Sindoor: Striking the Terrorist Network

#### Devastation of Physical Infrastructure

Operation Sindoor, launched on 7 May 2025, delivered a catastrophic blow to the terrorist networks of Lashkar-e-Taiba (LeT) and Jaish-e-Mohammed (JeM), obliterating nine critical installations across Pakistan and Pakistanoccupied Kashmir (PoK) in response to the Pahalgam terror attack that claimed 26 civilian lives-25 tourists, including one Nepali national, and one local Kashmiri pony operator-on 22 April 2025 in Baisaran Valley, Anantnag, Jammu and Kashmir. Commencing at 1:05 a.m. and concluding by 1:30 a.m., the Indian Air Force (IAF) deployed Sukhoi Su-30 MKI and Rafale fighter jets, armed with Spice-2000 precision-guided bombs and BrahMos supersonic cruise missiles, to strike high-value targets. These included LeT's Markaz Taiba headquarters in Muridke, Punjab, JeM's Markaz Subhan Allah training complex in Bahawalpur, Punjab, and operational bases in Muzaffarabad, Kotli, Bhimber, Sialkot, and three additional PoK locations. These facilities were the backbone of LeT, JeM, and their proxy, The Resistance

Front (TRF), housing training camps, weapons depots, recruitment centres, communication hubs, and residential quarters for operatives.

The Markaz Taiba complex in Muridke, operational since 2000 and spanning approximately 200 acres, served as LeT's primary command centre, coordinating TRF's operations, including the Pahalgam attack. The strikes demolished its mosque, lecture halls, guest houses, and training grounds, rendering the facility inoperable and disrupting LeT's ability to plan large-scale assaults. The Bahawalpur camp, a cornerstone of JeM's operations since 1999, lost its training facilities, arms stockpiles, and residences, crippling its logistical role in attacks like the 2019 Pulwama bombing. Safe houses in Muzaffarabad and Kotli, used to shelter operatives and store weapons, were destroyed, severing supply chains critical for terrorist activities. The operation's precision, achieved through advanced satellite imagery and drone surveillance, ensured no Pakistani military or civilian infrastructure was targeted. aligning with India's commitment to ethical warfare. The destruction, estimated to require years and tens of millions of dollars to rebuild, fundamentally weakened the terror ecosystem, preventing immediate large-scale attacks and reinforcing India's zero-tolerance policy.

#### Neutralisation of Operative Networks

The operation eliminated over 100 terrorists, including mid-level commanders and operational planners, dealing a severe blow to LeT, JeM, and TRF's human resources. These losses disrupted recruitment pipelines, as the groups relied on experienced operatives to train and radicalise new members. The NIA's post-strike interrogations of 175 suspects, including 20 Over Ground Workers (OGWs), confirmed that the strikes targeted key planners, throwing TRF's command structure into disarray. The loss of operatives in Muzaffarabad, where TRF coordinated the Pahalgam attack, halted the group's ability to relay directives, with surviving members forced to operate from secondary hideouts. The Indian Army's Signals Intelligence Directorate reported a significant drop in encrypted communications, indicating operational paralysis across the groups' networks.

The destruction of recruitment centres at Muridke and Bahawalpur curtailed LeT and JeM's ability to replenish their ranks, a process intelligence assessments estimate will take at least two years due to the loss of trainers and infrastructure. The operation's psychological impact was profound, with surviving operatives facing demoralisation and fear of further Indian strikes, as evidenced by intercepted communications expressing uncertainty about future operations. The neutralisation of these networks, validated by international intelligence-sharing with allies like the US and UK, ensured that TRF's reliance on LeT's infrastructure was exposed, limiting its operational reach and forcing LeT to rely on less experienced cadres, significantly weakening its tactical capabilities.

#### Logistical and Financial Disruptions

Operation Sindoor severed critical supply chains, disrupting the logistical and financial networks that sustained LeT, JeM, and TRF. The destruction of weapons depots in Bahawalpur and Sialkot eliminated stockpiles of

M4 carbines, AK-47s, and explosives, which forensic evidence linked to the Pahalgam attack. Safe houses in Muzaffarabad and Kotli, used to store ammunition and funds, were demolished, with intelligence assessments indicating a 70% reduction in the groups' logistical capacity in the immediate aftermath. The NIA's Financial Intelligence Unit (FIU) froze 50 bank accounts linked to LeT and JeM in 2024, disrupting funding streams used for the attack, including payments for weapons and operative salaries. These financial disruptions, coupled with the physical loss of infrastructure, choked the groups' ability to procure resources, forcing a reliance on smaller, less reliable networks.

The operation's impact on logistics extended to crossborder smuggling routes, with the Indian Army's Northern Command intensifying patrols along the LoC, intercepting three smuggling attempts in May 2025. The deployment of over 1,000 drones, including Heron TP and DRDO's Rustom-2, enhanced surveillance, preventing the reconstitution of supply chains. The destruction of communication hubs in Muzaffarabad, used to coordinate logistics, halted the groups' ability to manage operations, with intercepted messages revealing delays in weapons deliveries. These disruptions, validated by post-strike intelligence, ensured that LeT, JeM, and TRF faced immediate operational constraints, reinforcing India's strategic objective of crippling their ability to launch attacks like the one in Pahalgam.

#### Strategic Setback for Terrorist Organisations

Operation Sindoor inflicted a profound strategic setback on LeT and JeM, fundamentally impairing their capacity to orchestrate large-scale terrorist attacks against India. The destruction of indoctrination centres at Bahawalpur's Markaz Subhan Allah, where JeM conducted ideological training, dismantled a key mechanism for radicalising youth. These centres, equipped with lecture halls, propaganda libraries, and dormitories, were critical for grooming operatives for attacks like the 2019 Pulwama bombing. The strikes obliterated these facilities, disrupting JeM's ability to propagate jihadist ideology and recruit new members. Similarly, LeT's Markaz Taiba in Muridke, a 200acre nerve centre for planning high-profile assaults, was rendered inoperable, with its recruitment offices, training grounds, and communication hubs demolished, severing TRF's lifeline as LeT's proxy.

TRF's operational framework was particularly devastated, as its dependence on LeT's infrastructure for planning, exposed. training. and logistics was The NIA's interrogations revealed that TRF's command structure was thrown into chaos, with surviving operatives unable to coordinate due the loss of Muzaffarabad's to communication nodes. The Indian Army reported a sharp decline in infiltration attempts along the LoC, plummeting from 35 in April to fewer than five in May 2025, a direct result of the destruction of launch pads in Kotli and Bhimber. Intelligence reports indicated a pause in recruitment drives, with LeT and JeM forced to relocate to remote hideouts, limiting their operational reach. India's

diplomatic efforts amplified this setback, with a dossier submitted to the UN Security Council's Counter-Terrorism Committee on 8 May detailing TRF's role as an LeT proxy and its orchestration of the 26 civilian deaths. The dossier, supported by forensic evidence, intercepted communications, and survivor testimonies, advanced India's proposal to list TRF under the 1267 Sanctions Committee, with discussions initiated on 10 May, backed by the US, UK, and France.

The financial blow was equally significant, with the FIU's actions disrupting funding streams, forcing the groups to seek alternative, less reliable sources. The operation's psychological impact demoralised operatives, with intercepted communications expressing fear of further Indian strikes, weakening their tactical cohesion. The loss of mid-level commanders forced LeT and JeM to rely on less experienced cadres, reducing their operational effectiveness. This strategic setback positioned India as a formidable force in counter-terrorism, deterring future attacks by demonstrating its ability to strike deep into terror networks with precision and impunity, whilst maintaining global legitimacy through evidence-based actions.

#### **Regional Security Transformation**

Operation Sindoor reshaped the regional security landscape, significantly enhancing India's defensive posture and altering the dynamics of terrorism in South Asia. The strikes deterred immediate terrorist activities, with the Indian Army's Northern Command reporting a marked reduction in infiltration attempts along the LoC, dropping from 35 in April to fewer than five in May 2025. The destruction of launch pads in Kotli, Bhimber, and Muzaffarabad, used to deploy the Pahalgam attackers, ensured no operational activity in the weeks following, validated by ground patrols and drone surveillance. India fortified its border security, deploying over 1,000 additional drones, including Heron TP and DRDO's Rustom-2, equipped with infrared sensors, to monitor the LoC, complemented by advanced anti-drone systems intercepting over 300 Pakistani smuggling attempts in 2024.

The Ministry of Defence established 50 new Mobile Vehicle Check Points (MVCPs) across Anantnag, Pulwama, Baramulla, and Kupwara, equipped with thermal imagers and facial recognition technology, intercepting 10 suspicious vehicles in May alone. The Comprehensive Integrated Border Management System (CIBMS) was expanded by 200 kilometres, incorporating laser fences, motion sensors, and night-vision cameras in Poonch and Rajouri, fortifying vulnerable sectors. The Border Security Force (BSF) neutralised a terrorist launch pad in Sialkot's Looni area on 10 May, deploying over 500 additional personnel to Jammu's frontier, ensuring robust border protection.

Regionally, Operation Sindoor catalysed discussions within the Shanghai Cooperation Organisation (SCO), where India led a special session on 10 May, presenting evidence of TRF's LeT links and the cross-border origins of the Pahalgam attack. Russia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, and Uzbekistan endorsed a joint statement on 12 May, calling for enhanced intelligence-sharing, border security cooperation, and a regional task force to monitor threats from Afghanistan, where the Islamic State-Khorasan (IS-K) poses a growing risk. India's collaboration with Bangladesh and Sri Lanka through the South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation (SAARC) strengthened regional counter-terrorism, with a virtual summit on 15 May agreeing to share intelligence on terror financing and crossborder movements. Nepal, mourning one citizen killed in Pahalgam, enhanced border coordination with India, ensuring no terrorist movements along their shared frontier.

India's diplomatic offensive isolated Pakistan, with the suspension of the Indus Waters Treaty, closure of the Attari-Wagah border, and downsizing of Pakistan's diplomatic missions exerting economic and diplomatic pressure. The UN Security Council's Counter-Terrorism Committee, on 9 May, acknowledged India's evidence against LeT and JeM, endorsing sanctions against TRF, whilst the US, UK, and France affirmed India's right to self-defence. Pakistan's limited shelling on 8 May, causing three Indian civilian deaths and 38 injuries, was countered by India's strengthened security infrastructure, regional alliances, and diplomatic leverage positioned it as a leader in South Asian security, committed to countering terrorism whilst avoiding broader conflict.

# Public Sentiment and National Unity

Operation Sindoor ignited a wave of national pride, significantly bolstering public confidence in India's security apparatus. Families of the 26 victims, such as Rajesh Narwal, father of Lieutenant Vinay Narwal, expressed profound gratitude for the armed forces' swift response, viewing it as justice for their loved ones. Narwal's public address on 8 May in Karnal, Haryana, hailed the operation as a "triumph of India's resolve," inspiring nationwide vigils and rallies from 7–12 May. Thousands gathered in Mumbai, Delhi, Kolkata, Bengaluru, and Srinagar, holding placards with slogans like "Bharat Mata ki Jai" and "Stop Terrorism," honouring victims like Narwal, Shubham Dwivedi, and Syed Adil Hussain Shah, whose sacrifice bridged communal divides. In Srinagar, Hindu and Muslim communities held joint candlelight vigils, displaying banners proclaiming "Kashmiriyat Zindabad," reinforcing Jammu and Kashmir's unity against TRF's divisive agenda.

Over 80% of polled citizens approved of Operation Sindoor, reflecting widespread support for the government's actions. The government's transparent communication, through daily Ministry of Defence briefings from 7-10 May, detailed the operation's objectives, target selection, and outcomes, maintaining public trust. Prime Minister Narendra Modi's 12 May address from Delhi's Vigyan Bhawan paid tribute to the five personnel lost, including Lance Naik Dinesh Kumar, and reaffirmed India's commitment to protecting its citizens, reaching over 100 million viewers. Jammu and Kashmir Lieutenant Governor Manoj Sinha, speaking in Srinagar on 9 May, declared the operation a message that "terrorists will face justice, no matter where they hide," echoed by Chief Minister Omar Abdullah, who praised its defence of Kashmiriyat. Political unity was evident at an allparty meeting on 8 May, where leaders across parties endorsed the operation, condemning the Pahalgam attack and pledging support for India's counter-terrorism efforts. Social media campaigns, trending globally, amplified public resolve, uniting citizens in solidarity with the victims and military.

## Global Perception and Diplomatic Triumph

Internationally, Operation Sindoor was perceived as a justified and proportionate retaliation, earning India widespread acclaim for its precision and restraint. Foreign Secretary Vikram Misri's press conference on 7 May detailed the operation's execution, presenting forensic evidence and satellite imagery of destroyed sites, reassuring allies of India's ethical approach. The United States. United Kingdom, and France issued statements on 8 May supporting India's right to self-defence, with the US affirming solidarity against terrorism. The UN Security Council's Counter-Terrorism Committee, on 9 May, acknowledged India's evidence linking LeT and JeM to the Pahalgam attack, advancing sanctions against TRF under the 1267 Committee. The European Union, on 9 May, committed €5 million for victim rehabilitation in Jammu and Kashmir, supporting medical care and community recovery, whilst praising India's measured response.

Neutral powers like Qatar, Singapore, and Saudi Arabia commended India's focus on terrorist infrastructure, with Singapore issuing a statement on 10 May urging deescalation. Russia offered technical assistance, whilst Sri Lanka's President Anura Kumara Dissanayake welcomed the 10 May ceasefire at 5:00 p.m. IST, pledging regional counter-terrorism support. UN Secretary-General António Guterres urged restraint on 10 May, a call India countered by rejecting Pakistan's "neutral" investigation proposal, citing its history of evading accountability. India's diplomatic briefings to UNSC members on 8 May debunked Pakistan's false claim of 31 civilian deaths, validated by US and UK intelligence confirming no civilian infrastructure was hit. The operation's precision, using BrahMos and Spice-2000 munitions, positioned India as a responsible power, reinforcing its leadership in the global fight against terrorism and isolating Pakistan diplomatically through measures like the Indus Waters Treaty suspension and border closure.

## Economic and Psychological Impact

The operation's economic impact on Pakistan's terror ecosystem was significant, disrupting funding and logistics critical for LeT, JeM, and TRF. The loss of infrastructure, requiring years to rebuild, strained the groups' financial resources, compounded by India's FIU freezing 50 accounts in 2024. The Indus Waters Treaty suspension and Attari-Wagah closure further pressured Pakistan's economy, limiting its ability to fund militant activities. Psychologically, the operation demoralised operatives, with intercepted communications revealing fear of further Indian strikes, weakening group cohesion. The operation's success boosted India's domestic economy, restoring investor confidence in Jammu and Kashmir's tourism sector, with government pledges to rebuild Pahalgam's reputation as a safe destination through enhanced security and promotional campaigns.

#### Long-Term Security and Policy Shifts

Operation Sindoor prompted long-term security and policy shifts in India's counter-terrorism strategy. The Ministry of Defence allocated ₹2,000 crore to expand CIBMS and drone surveillance, covering 300 additional kilometres of the LoC by 2026. The NIA's ongoing probe, targeting 175 suspects, aimed to dismantle remaining OGW networks, with 63 residences raided in Srinagar by 15 May. India's diplomatic push for TRF sanctions, supported by allies, set a precedent for global action against terror proxies, whilst SCO and SAARC collaborations strengthened regional security frameworks. The operation's success, avenging the Pahalgam victims and deterring future attacks, solidified India's resolve, ensuring a safer Jammu and Kashmir and a stronger stance against terrorism regionally and globally.

# 29

# Indian Army s Preparedness

#### Strategic Readiness

The Indian Army is a cornerstone of India's national security, maintaining a high state of readiness to address internal and external threats. With approximately 1.4 million active personnel, it is one of the world's largest armies, operating under the Ministry of Defence. The Northern Command, headquartered in Udhampur, Jammu and Kashmir, oversees operations in the strategically sensitive region along the Line of Control (LoC) with Pakistan and the Line of Actual Control (LAC) with China. The Army conducts continuous patrolling, surveillance, and counter-insurgency operations to deter infiltration and maintain stability. Its seven operational commands, including the Western, Eastern, and Central Commands, ensure comprehensive coverage across India's diverse terrains. Regular exercises, such as the annual "Exercise Shatrujeet," test the Army's ability to mobilise rapidly and execute combined arms operations, ensuring preparedness for conventional and asymmetric threats.

# Training and Operational Enhancements

The Indian Army priorities advanced training to counter evolving security challenges. Specialised units like the Rashtriva Rifles, established for counter-insurgency in Jammu and Kashmir, undergo rigorous instruction in urban combat, jungle warfare, and mountain operations. Training facilities, such as the Counter-Insurgency and Jungle Warfare School in Variegate, Mizoram, simulate real-world scenarios to prepare troops for guerrilla tactics and terrorist threats. The Army collaborates with international partners, including the United States, France, and Israel, through joint exercises like "Yudh Abhyas" and "Shakti," enhancing interoperability and adopting global best practices. Modernisation efforts include the induction of light armoured vehicles, such as the Tata Kestrel, and upgraded artillery systems like the K9 Vajra firepower. howitzers, improving mobility and These enhancements ensure the Army's operational superiority in diverse environments, from Himalayan heights to desert borders.

## **Technological Advancements**

The Army leverages advanced technologies to strengthen its situational awareness and combat effectiveness. Unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs), including the indigenous Switch UAV and imported Heron drones, provide real-time surveillance along the LoC and LAC. The Integrated Battle Management System (BMS) enables secure communication and coordination among units, enhancing command and control. Anti-drone systems, deployed to counter unauthorised UAVs, have been integrated into border security frameworks, addressing threats from hostile drones used for smuggling or reconnaissance. The Army also employs satellite-based intelligence, supported by the Indian Space Research Organisation (ISRO), for terrain mapping and threat assessment. These technological advancements, coupled with investments in night-vision equipment and precision-guided munitions, ensure robust defence capabilities in challenging operational theatres.

#### Coordination with Other Forces

The Indian Army works in close coordination with the Indian Air Force (IAF) and Navy to ensure a unified defence strategy. The Integrated Defence Staff (IDS), established post-Kargil War, facilitates tri-services collaboration, enabling joint planning and execution of operations. Exercises like "Gagan Shakti" and "Tropex" test inter-service interoperability, simulating scenarios such as rapid airlift of troops or maritime support for land operations. The Army's 15 Corps, based in Srinagar, collaborates with the IAF's Western Air Command for air support in Jammu and Kashmir, while coastal security exercises with the Navy safeguard India's maritime borders. This synergy, supported by the Chief of Defence Staff (CDS), ensures a cohesive response to multi-domain threats, reinforcing India's military preparedness.

## Community and Diplomatic Support

The Army's effectiveness is bolstered by community engagement and international cooperation. In Jammu and Kashmir, village defence committees and local informants provide grassroots intelligence, enhancing counter-insurgency operations. The Army's "Operation Sadbhavana" promotes goodwill through civic projects, such as building schools and healthcare facilities, fostering trust with local populations. Diplomatically, India's defence partnerships with countries like the United States, France, and Australia, through forums like the Quad, facilitate intelligencesharing and joint exercises. These efforts strengthen the Army's operational capabilities and ensure international support for India's security policies, maintaining public confidence in its ability to safeguard the nation.

# 30

# Air Force Contribution

#### Strategic Role and Capabilities

The Indian Air Force (IAF) is a critical component of India's defence architecture, responsible for air superiority, strategic strikes, and support for ground operations. With approximately 140,000 personnel and over 1,700 aircraft, the IAF operates under the Ministry of Defence, with its headquarters in New Delhi. The Western Air Command, based in Delhi, oversees operations along the Pakistan border, while the Eastern Air Command in Shillong focuses on the China frontier. The IAF maintains a fleet of modern fighter jets, including Sukhoi Su-30 MKI, Rafale, and indigenous Tejas, capable of precision strikes and air defence. Exercises like "Gagan Shakti" demonstrate the IAF's ability to conduct large-scale operations across India, simulating rapid deployment and sustained combat missions.

#### **Technological Precision**

The IAF leverages advanced technologies to ensure operational effectiveness. Its fleet is equipped with precision-guided munitions, such as the BrahMos supersonic cruise missile and Spice-2000 bombs, enabling accurate targeting of high-value assets. Heron and

Searcher UAVs provide real-time intelligence, surveillance, and reconnaissance (ISR), supporting mission planning and execution. The IAF's Integrated Air Command and Control System (IACCS) coordinates air defense operations, integrating data from ground-based radars like Swordfish and Rajendra, which can track multiple targets simultaneously. The S400 air defence system, procured from Russia, enhances protection against aerial threats, with the capability to engage targets at long ranges. These systems ensure the IAF's ability to operate in contested environments with minimal risk.

#### **Operational Readiness**

The IAF maintains a high state of readiness through rigorous training and modernisation. Pilots undergo advanced combat training at facilities like the Air Force Academy in Dundigal, Telangana, and participate in international exercises such as "Red juvenile" with the US and "Garuda" with France. The induction of 36 Rafale jets, completed in 2022, has bolstered the IAF's multi-role capabilities, while the planned acquisition of 114 Multi-Role Fighter Aircraft (MRFA) aims to address squadron shortages. The IAF's airlift capabilities, supported by C-17 Globemaster and IL-76 aircraft, enable rapid troop deployment and humanitarian missions, as demonstrated during disaster relief operations like the 2013 Uttarakhand floods. This readiness ensures the IAF's ability to respond swiftly to both military and civilian emergencies.

#### Coordination and Challenges

The IAF collaborates closely with the Army and Navy to execute joint operations. The tri-services exercise "Poorvi Prahar" tests coordinated responses to threats in the eastern sector, while the IAF's close air support enhances Army operations in border areas. Challenges include squadron depletion, with the IAF operating 31 squadrons against a sanctioned strength of 42, prompting efforts to accelerate indigenous production through programs like the Advanced Medium Combat Aircraft (AMCA). The IAF also counters emerging threats, such as hostile drones, through systems like the Spyder air defence, procured from Israel. These efforts ensure the IAF remains a formidable force, capable of deterring aggression and supporting national security objectives.

## Public and Strategic Impact

The IAF's contributions bolster public confidence in India's defence capabilities. Its humanitarian missions, such as airlifting supplies during cyclones and earthquakes, demonstrate its role beyond combat, earning widespread appreciation. Internationally, the IAF's participation in exercises with allies like the US, UK, and Australia enhances India's strategic posture, reinforcing its reputation as a regional power. The IAF's modernisation and operational readiness, supported by government investments, ensure it remains a key pillar of India's defence strategy, capable of addressing both conventional and asymmetric threats.

# 31

# Navy s Role: Maritime Security

#### Strategic Deployment

The Indian Navy safeguards India's 7,516-km coastline and maritime interests in the Indian Ocean Region (IOR), a critical area for global trade. With approximately 67,000 personnel and 150 ships, including aircraft carriers, destroyers, and submarines, the Navy operates under the Ministry of Defence, headquartered in New Delhi. The Western Naval Command in Mumbai and Eastern Naval Command in Visakhapatnam oversee operations in the Arabian Sea and Bay of Bengal, respectively. The Navy's Carrier Battle Group, centered around INS Vikramaditya and the indigenous INS Vikrant, projects power and ensures maritime dominance. Regular patrols and exercises like "Malabar" with Quad nations (US, Japan, Australia) maintain a robust presence, deterring threats and securing sea lanes.

## **Operational Readiness**

The Navy maintains high operational readiness through advanced platforms and training. Its fleet includes Kolkata-class destroyers, equipped with Barak-8 air defence systems, and Scorpene-class submarines for stealth operations. The P-8I Poseidon aircraft, based in INS Hansa, Goa, conduct maritime reconnaissance, monitoring shipping routes and countering submarine threats. Exercises like "Tropex" and "Naseem-Al-Bahr" with Oman test the Navy's ability to conduct complex operations, including anti-piracy and amphibious landings. The Navy's Marine Commandos (MARCOS) are trained for special operations, such as counter-terrorism and coastal defence, ensuring versatility in addressing maritime threats.

#### **Countering Threats**

The Navy plays a critical role in countering piracy, smuggling, and potential hostile incursions. Since 2008, it has conducted anti-piracy patrols in the Gulf of Aden, escorting over 3,000 merchant vessels and apprehending numerous pirates. Coastal security has been strengthened post the 2008 Mumbai attacks, with the establishment of the National Command Control Communication and Intelligence Network (NC3I), integrating data from coastal radar stations and patrol vessels. The Navy's air defence systems, including the Barak-8, protect naval assets from aerial threats, while the BrahMos missile enhances strike capabilities. These measures ensure the Navy's ability to secure India's maritime borders and critical infrastructure.

## International Cooperation

The Navy's operations are enhanced by international partnerships. The Quad's maritime exercises and informationsharing agreements with the US Indo-Pacific Command improve domain awareness. The Navy's participation in the Combined Maritime Forces (CMF) in the Middle East strengthens anti-piracy and counter-terrorism efforts. Bilateral agreements with countries like France and Singapore provide access to logistics facilities, extending the Navy's operational reach. These collaborations, supported by India's "SAGAR" (Security and Growth for All in the Region) initiative, reinforce the Navy's role as a net security provider in the IOR.

#### Public and Strategic Impact

The Navy's contributions enhance public confidence in India's maritime security. Its humanitarian missions, such as rescuing fishermen during cyclones or evacuating citizens from conflict zones (e.g., Operation Sukoon in 2006), underscore its societal role. Strategically, the Navy's growing capabilities, including plans for a third aircraft carrier and additional submarines, position India as a key player in the Indo-Pacific. Public appreciation, reflected in coastal communities' trust in naval protection, and international recognition of India's maritime leadership, highlight the Navy's critical role in national security.

# Support from Intelligence Agencies

#### Intelligence Framework

India's intelligence agencies, primarily the Research and Analysis Wing (RAW) and Intelligence Bureau (IB), are pivotal in ensuring national security. RAW, established in 1968, focuses on external intelligence, monitoring threats from neighbouring countries and global terror networks. The IB handles internal security, countering insurgency and terrorism within India. Both agencies operate under the Ministry of Home Affairs and coordinate with the National Security Council. Their efforts provide critical intelligence for military operations, policy decisions, and counter-terrorism strategies, ensuring a proactive approach to threat mitigation.

#### Signals Intelligence (SIGINT)

Signals intelligence is a cornerstone of India's intelligence capabilities. The Defence Intelligence Agency's Signals Intelligence Directorate intercepts communications, including satellite phones and radio transmissions, to track terrorist and military activities. The National Technical Research Organisation (NTRO), established post-Kargil War, operates advanced SIGINT platforms, including airborne surveillance systems and ground-based listening posts along the LoC. These capabilities enable the identification of threat networks, such as those linked to groups like Lashkar-e-Taiba (LeT), ensuring timely inputs for security forces.

## Human Intelligence (HUMINT)

Human intelligence remains vital for counter-terrorism. The IB collaborates with state police units, such as the Jammu and Kashmir Police's Special Operations Group, to gather tips from local informants. In border areas, community cooperation provides actionable intelligence on suspicious activities, disrupting terrorist logistics. The Army's intelligence units, embedded in operational commands, work with locals to map insurgent networks, enhancing the effectiveness of cordon-and-search operations. These grassroots efforts complement technical intelligence, creating a comprehensive threat picture.

## International Cooperation

India's intelligence agencies benefit from global partnerships. The US-India Counterterrorism Joint Working Group facilitates sharing of SIGINT and imagery, aiding in tracking terror financing and cross-border movements. Cooperation with Israel provides access to advanced cyber-intelligence tools, while the UK's MI6 supports efforts against terror networks in South Asia. These partnerships, strengthened through multilateral forums like the Financial Action Task Force (FATF), enhance India's ability to counter global terrorism, ensuring a robust intelligence framework.

#### **Strengthening Capabilities**

The government has prioritised intelligence reforms to address emerging threats. The establishment of the Multi-Agency Centre (MAC) post-2008 Mumbai attacks enables real-time data-sharing among agencies, improving coordination. Investments in cyber-intelligence, including monitoring of dark web platforms, counter online radicalisation. Training programs, supported by international partners, enhance analysts' skills in decrypting communications and analysing big data. These measures, backed by increased budgetary allocations, ensure that India's intelligence agencies remain agile and effective, safeguarding the nation against evolving security challenges.

# Made in India Weapons: Advancing Indigenous Defence Technology

#### Strategic Importance of Indigenous Systems

India's defence industry has made significant strides in developing homegrown weapons systems, strengthening national security and reducing dependence on foreign imports. The Akash missile system, a medium-range surface-to-air missile developed by the Defence Research and Development Organisation (DRDO), is a flagship achievement, operational with the Indian Air Force (IAF) since 2014 and the Indian Army since 2015. Designed to intercept aircraft, drones, and cruise missiles at ranges up to 30 km, Akash enhances India's air defence capabilities across diverse operational theatres. The BrahMos supersonic cruise missile, co-developed with Russia's NPOs in a 2002 deal with the Indian Army, is another cornerstone, offering versatile deployment from land, sea, air, and submarine platforms. With a speed of Mach 2.8 and a range of 290-450 km (extendable to 600 km with upgrades), BrahMos serves as a precision-strike weapon for high-value targets. These systems, manufactured by Bharat Electronics Limited (BEL) and BrahMos Aerospace, underscore India's commitment to technological self-reliance and its emergence as a global defence player.

## Akash Missile System: Robust Air Defence

The Akash missile system is engineered for rapid deployment and multi-target engagement, protecting critical assets such as airbases, command centers, and border installations. Each Akash battery includes four launchers, each carrying three missiles, supported by the indigenous Rajendra 3D phased-array radar, which can track up to 64 targets and guide missiles to 16 simultaneously. The system's mobility, mounted on T-72 chassis, enables flexible positioning in challenging terrains like the Line of Control (LoC) or Line of Actual Control (LAC). Akash has been rigorously tested at the Integrated Test Range (ITR) in Chandipur, Odisha, demonstrating a 90% hit probability against low-flying targets, including drones and cruise missiles. Its integration into India's layered air defence, alongside systems like the Russian S400 and Israeli Barak-8, provides comprehensive protection against aerial threats. The system's export to Armenia in a ₹6,000 crore deal in 2022 highlights its global competitiveness, with interest from African and Southeast Asian nations further affirming its reliability.

# BrahMos Missile: Precision and Versatility

The BrahMos missile is a fire-and-forget weapon renowned for its precision and destructive power, capable of carrying a 200– 300 kg warhead. Its advanced guidance suite, combining inertial navigation, GPS, and active radar homing, ensures accuracy within a 1-meter circular error probable (CEP). The IAF's Sukhoi Su-30 MKI jets, modified to carry air-launched BrahMos since 2017, extend India's strike range, enabling deep strikes against naval or land targets. The Navy's Kolkata-class destroyers and Talwar-class frigates deploy ship-launched BrahMos, enhancing maritime dominance in the Indian Ocean Region (IOR). The Army's land-based BrahMos regiments, equipped with mobile launchers, provide rapid-response capabilities along borders. Production facilities in Nagpur, Hyderabad, and the recently inaugurated Lucknow unit (2025) support an annual output of over 100 missiles, with plans to scale up for domestic and export needs. The \$375 million export deal with the Philippines for three coastal defence batteries in 2022, and ongoing talks with Vietnam, Indonesia, and Malaysia, underscore BrahMos's global appeal and combat-proven reliability.

#### Additional Indigenous Systems

India's defence ecosystem includes a range of homegrown systems that complement Akash and BrahMos. The DRDO's D4 anti-drone system, operational since 2021, uses radar, electrooptical sensors, and jammers to detect and neutralise unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs) at ranges up to 10 km, countering threats along the LoC. Low-level air defence (LLAD) guns, such as the upgraded L-70 and ZU-23-2, manufactured by the Ordnance Factory Board, provide close-range protection against drones, helicopters, and low-flying aircraft, with automated fire control systems improving accuracy. The Indian Space Research Organisation (ISRO) supports military operations with satellites like RISAT-2 (launched 2009) and RISAT-2BR1 (launched 2019), offering synthetic aperture radar (SAR) imagery with 0.5meter resolution for all-weather surveillance. Cartosat-2 series satellites provide optical imagery for terrain mapping and targeting. These systems, developed under the Make in India initiative, integrate seamlessly into India's multi-layered defence

strategy, enhancing situational awareness and operational effectiveness.

#### Global Recognition and Export Potential

India's indigenous defence technologies have positioned the country as an emerging defence exporter, with exports reaching ₹23,622 crore in 2024–25, a 12% increase from the previous year (Ministry of Defence, 2025). The Akash system's export to Armenia and interest from countries like Kenva, Sudan, and Thailand reflect its affordability and performance, priced at \$5 million per battery compared to \$20 million for Western equivalents. BrahMos's export success, including the Philippines deal and potential contracts with ASEAN nations, highlights its strategic value in countering naval and coastal threats. The Pinaka multi-barrel rocket launcher, another DRDO product, has attracted inquiries from Armenia and France, with a range of 38-90 km and rapid salvo capabilities. These achievements, driven by decades of DRDO research and industry collaboration, have earned India recognition as a reliable defence supplier, strengthening its geopolitical influence and economic growth through defence trade.

# Atma Nirbhar Bharat: Transforming India s Defense Ecosystem

#### Foundation of Atma Nirbhar Bharat

Launched by Prime Minister Narendra Modi in May 2020, the Atma Nirbhar Bharat initiative seeks to achieve selfreliance across critical sectors, with defence as a flagship priority. Announced during the COVID-19 pandemic to counter supply chain disruptions, the initiative promotes indigenous manufacturing, innovation, and export capabilities, aligning with the Make in India campaign launched in 2014. By 2025, it has significantly transformed India's defence sector, enabling the production of advanced systems like the Akash missile, BrahMos cruise missile, Tejas light combat aircraft, and Arjun main battle tank. The initiative's focus on reducing dependence on foreign arms-previously accounting for 60% of India's defence procurement-has enhanced strategic autonomy, ensuring the armed forces are equipped with reliable, domestically produced technology. Its emphasis on economic growth through defence manufacturing has also created jobs and fostered industrial development.

## Policy Reforms and Investments

The government has implemented sweeping reforms to accelerate indigenous defence production. In August 2020, the Ministry of Defence introduced a negative import list, banning the import of 101 defence items, including artillery guns, assault rifles, missile systems, and helicopters, to prioritise local manufacturing. The list has since expanded to over 400 items, with a target to eliminate most defence imports by 2027. The Defence Acquisition Procedure (DAP) 2020 priorities indigenous design, development, and production, offering incentives like higher indigenous content requirements (50-75%) for procurement contracts. The establishment of two defence industrial corridors-in Uttar Pradesh (UPDIC) and Tamil Nadu-has attracted significant investments. The UPDIC, spanning cities like Lucknow, Kanpur, and Agra, has secured over ₹4,000 crore for missile, drone, and ammunition production, including the BrahMos Aerospace facility inaugurated in Lucknow in 2025. The Tamil Nadu corridor, centered in Chennai and Coimbatore, focuses on aerospace and electronics, hosting firms like Lockheed Martin and Tata. These corridors have created over 15,000 direct jobs and 50,000 indirect jobs, boosting regional economies. The government's defence budget for 2024–25, at ₹6.21 lakh crore, allocates 14% to capital acquisition, with 75% earmarked for indigenous systems, reflecting a commitment to self-reliance.

# Public-Private Partnerships

Atma Nirbhar Bharat has catalysed collaboration between public sector undertakings (PSUs) and private industries, creating a vibrant defence ecosystem. PSUs like Bharat Electronics Limited (BEL), Hindustan Aeronautics Limited (HAL), and Bharat Dynamics Limited (BDL) lead production of radars, aircraft, and missiles, respectively, while private firms like Tata Advanced Systems, Larsen & Toubro (L&T), and Adani Defence have emerged as key players. The BrahMos Aerospace unit, a joint venture involving DRDO and private stakeholders, produces missiles at facilities in Nagpur, Hyderabad, and Lucknow, with a capacity to manufacture over 100 units annually. Tata's collaboration with Airbus to produce C-295 transport aircraft in Vadodara, with 56 units ordered by the IAF, exemplifies private sector involvement. Adani's 2025 facility in Kanpur, producing small arms and ammunition, supports the Army's need for 5.56mm rifles and 7.62mm machine guns. PTC Industries' titanium and super alloy plant in Lucknow supplies critical components for missiles and aircraft, reducing import dependence for high-grade materials. These partnerships, incentivised by policies like the Strategic Partnership Model (SPM) and iDEX (Innovations for Defence Excellence), have fostered innovation, with over 600 startups developing drones, AI, and cyber technologies for defence applications.

# Technological Innovation

The initiative has driven technological advancements, with DRDO spearheading research and development. The Akash missile, equipped with indigenous seekers and Rajendra radar, demonstrates India's expertise in air defence, with the Akash-NG variant extending its range to 50 km. The BrahMos-II hypersonic missile, under development with a speed of Mach 7–8, aims to enhance India's strategic deterrence. The DRDO's Nagastra-1 loitering munition, a man-portable suicide drone

with a 15–20 km range and 1 kg warhead, provides precision strike capabilities for counter-insurgency operations. ISRO's satellites, including RISAT-2BR1 and GSAT-7A, offer secure communication and all-weather surveillance, with GSAT-7A dedicated to Navy operations. The DRDO's SMART (Supersonic Missile-Assisted Release of Torpedo) system, tested in 2020, extends anti-submarine warfare range to 650 km. Defence R&D funding, at ₹23,855 crore in 2024–25, supports projects like the Advanced Medium Combat Aircraft (AMCA), a fifth-generation stealth fighter, and the Pinaka Mk-II rocket, with a 120 km range. These innovations, backed by collaborations with IITs and private labs, position India at the forefront of defence technology, reducing reliance on foreign suppliers.

## Strategic and Economic Impacts

Atma Nirbhar Bharat has delivered profound strategic and economic benefits. Strategically, indigenous systems ensure uninterrupted supply chains during geopolitical crises, enhancing India's defence preparedness. The availability of Akash and BrahMos across all three services strengthens deterrence along the LoC, LAC, and IOR. Economically, the defence sector's growth has created over 1 lakh jobs, with UPDIC and Tamil Nadu corridors contributing significantly. Defence exports, at ₹23,622 crore in 2024– 25, include Akash to Armenia, BrahMos to the Philippines, and Pinaka to potential buyers like France. The sector's contribution to GDP is projected to reach ₹3 lakh crore by 2028, driven by domestic production and exports. The initiative's alignment with Modi's vision of a self-reliant India has fostered national pride, positioning the country as a global defence hub capable of meeting both security and economic objectives.

# Leadership in Action: Shaping India s Defence Strategy

#### Prime Minister Modi's Strategic Vision

Prime Minister Narendra Modi's leadership since 2014 has transformed India's defence landscape, emphasising modernisation, self-reliance, and a proactive counter-terrorism stance. His launch of the Atma Nirbhar Bharat initiative in 2020 catalysed indigenous defence production, resulting in systems like Akash, BrahMos, and Tejas, reducing India's reliance on foreign arms from 60% in 2014 to under 40% by 2025. Modi's "zero tolerance for terrorism" policy, articulated after the 2016 Uri and 2019 Pulwama attacks, has shaped India's security doctrine. The 2016 surgical strikes across the LoC and the 2019 Balakot airstrikes, targeting Jaish-e-Mohammed camps in Pakistan, demonstrated India's willingness to strike terror infrastructure preemptively, with minimal escalation. Modi's oversight of the National Security Council, chaired by National Security Advisor Ajit Doval, ensures strategic alignment across military, intelligence, and diplomatic efforts. His diplomatic engagements through forums like the Quad and UN have secured global support for

India's counter-terrorism stance, isolating state sponsors of terrorism and enhancing India's geopolitical influence.

## Defence Minister Singh's Operational Leadership

Defence Minister Rajnath Singh, in office since 2019, has been instrumental in operationalising Modi's vision, driving defence reforms and self-reliance. Singh spearheaded the 2020 import embargo on 101 defence items, expanded to over 400 by 2025, prioritising indigenous systems like Akash, BrahMos, and the Advanced Towed Artillery Gun System (ATAGS). His establishment of defence industrial corridors in Uttar Pradesh and Tamil Nadu has attracted ₹7,500 crore in investments, fostering production of missiles, drones, and aircraft. The inauguration of the BrahMos Aerospace facility in Lucknow in 2025, capable of producing 100 missiles annually, reflects his commitment to manufacturing capacity. Singh's regular engagements with the Chiefs of Army, Navy, and Air Force Staffs, and the Chief of Defence Staff (CDS), General Anil Chauhan, ensure seamless tri-services coordination, as seen in exercises like Gagan Shakti and Tropex. His focus on border infrastructure, with 75% of Border Roads Organisation (BRO) projects completed along the LAC by 2025, enhances operational readiness in high-altitude regions.

## Modi's Counter-Terrorism Doctrine

Modi's counter-terrorism doctrine rests on three pillars: preemptive action, deterrence, and global cooperation. The 2016 surgical strikes, involving special forces crossing the LoC to destroy terror launchpads, and the 2019 Balakot airstrikes, using IAF Mirage-2000 jets to target JeM camps, exemplify preemptive strikes, with no reported civilian casualties. Modi's rejection of nuclear blackmail, articulated post-Balakot, leverages India's conventional and nuclear capabilities to deter escalation, with 5,000 km-range Agni-V missiles and Arihantclass submarines ensuring credible deterrence. His diplomatic efforts, including the 2017 UN designation of JeM leader Masood Azhar as a global terrorist, have strengthened international counter-terrorism frameworks. Modi's addresses at global summits, like the 2023 G20, emphasise dismantling terror financing and cross-border networks, earning support from the US, France, and Australia. This doctrine has galvanised public support, with 78% of Indians approving India's counter-terrorism policies in a 2023 Pew survey.

#### Singh's Push for Self-Reliance

Singh's advocacy for Atma Nirbhar Bharat has revolutionised India's defence procurement and production. His policies have incentivised private sector participation, with firms like Tata, L&T, and Adani producing systems ranging from C-295 aircraft to small arms. The Adani Defence facility in Kanpur, inaugurated in 2025, manufactures 5.56mm rifles and 30mm cannons, supporting the Army's modernisation. Singh's emphasis on R&D, with DRDO's budget increasing to ₹23,855 crore in 2024-25, has driven innovations like the Akash-NG, Pinaka Mk-II, and AMCA stealth fighter. His vision of India as a defence exporter, articulated during the 2022 Philippines BrahMos deal signing, has materialised, with exports to Armenia, the Philippines, and potential deals with Vietnam. Singh's reforms, including the corporatization of ordnance factories into seven PSUs in 2021, have improved efficiency, with BDL reporting a 15% production increase. These efforts have reduced defence imports by 11% between

2014–18 and 2018–22 (SIPRI, 2023), aligning with Modi's self-reliance goals.

#### Unified Leadership Impact

The synergy between Modi's strategic vision and Singh's operational leadership has positioned India as a formidable defence power. Their focus on indigenous technology has equipped the armed forces with advanced systems, enhancing deterrence along volatile borders. Modi's engagement with veterans, as seen in Kargil Vijav Diwas events, and Singh's all-party consultations during defence budget sessions foster national unity on security issues. Their leadership has driven defence exports to ₹23,622 crore in 2024–25, with a target of ₹50,000 crore by 2030, strengthening India's economic and strategic influence. Internationally, India's defines partnerships with the US (via 2+2 Dialogue), France (via Rafale deals), and Quad nations have earned recognition, with the US designating India a Major Defence Partner in 2016. By prioritising selfreliance, modernisation, and decisive counter-terrorism, Modi and Singh have ensured India's security and global standing, fostering a resilient nation capable of addressing 21st-century challenges.

# Technological Advancements in Operation Sindoor

#### Indigenous Defence Systems: The Backbone of Precision

Operation Sindoor, launched in response to the devastating Pahalgam attack on 22 April 2025, marked a pivotal moment in India's military history, showcasing an unprecedented integration of indigenous defence technologies. The operation's success hinged on the deployment of home-grown systems, developed under the Make in India initiative, which demonstrated remarkable precision and lethality. The Akash surface-to-air missile system, engineered by the Defence Research and Development Organisation (DRDO), emerged as a cornerstone of India's air defence strategy during the operation. This system, capable of engaging multiple aerial threats simultaneously, neutralised a barrage of Pakistani drones and missiles with its advanced Rajendra radar, which can track up to 64 targets and guide eight missiles concurrently. Its electronic counter-measures ensured resilience against jamming attempts, allowing Indian forces to maintain air superiority. The Akash system's performance was lauded for its ability to intercept threats at ranges up to 25 kilometres,

safeguarding critical infrastructure across Jammu and Kashmir, Punjab, Rajasthan, and Gujarat.

Complementing the Akash was the Quick Reaction Surface-to-Air Missile (QRSAM), designed for high-speed, short-range engagements. During Operation Sindoor, the QRSAM effectively countered Turkish-supplied drones, including the Songar and Byker YIHA III Kamikaze models, which Pakistan deployed in waves on 7-9 May 2025. The system's mobility and rapid response capabilities allowed it to neutralise these threats before they could reach Indian targets. The Arudhra and Ashwini radars, also indigenously developed, provided precise tracking and interception data, enabling seamless coordination between air defence units. These radars, with their ability to detect low-flying objects, were instrumental in thwarting drone incursions, particularly in the Uri and Poonch sectors. The operation's air defence was further bolstered by the Akashteer system, an AI-powered command-and-control network developed by Bharat Electronics Limited. By integrating data from 3D tactical radars, low-level lightweight radars, and satellite feeds, Akashteer created a real-time threat assessment framework, achieving a nearperfect interception rate against incoming projectiles.

#### Precision Strike Capabilities: BrahMos and Beyond

The BrahMos supersonic cruise missile, a joint Indo-Russian venture, was the crown jewel of Operation Sindoor's offensive arsenal. On 10 May 2025, the Indian Air Force executed coordinated strikes on Pakistani airbases, including Noor Khan, Rafiqui, and Jacobabad, using air-launched BrahMos missiles. These strikes, which disabled Pakistan's air offence

capabilities, were executed with sub-metre accuracy, thanks to the missile's state-of-the-art guidance systems. The BrahMos, capable of speeds up to Mach 3, obliterated terrorist infrastructure and air defence systems, such as the Chinesesupplied HQ-9 and LY-80, which failed to detect or engage the incoming missiles. The missile's reliance on India's NavIC satellite constellation ensured precise navigation, even in contested environments. Satellite imagery released by the Ministry of Defence revealed large craters at targeted sites, underscoring the weapon's lethality and the effectiveness of its propulsion systems and warheads.

In addition to BrahMos, Operation Sindoor showcased the Pinaka multi-barrel rocket launcher, which provided robust fire support during ground operations. Capable of firing 72 rockets in 44 seconds, the Pinaka system overwhelmed enemy positions with high-explosive payloads, ensuring sustained pressure on terrorist hideouts. The system's integration with real-time targeting data from ISRO's earth observation satellites allowed for rapid adjustments to firing solutions, enhancing its battlefield impact. The operation also saw the operational debut of the Netra Airborne Early Warning and Control (AEW&C) system, which provided 360-degree surveillance and enhanced situational awareness. Deployed for the first time in a combat scenario, Netra's ability to detect and track multiple targets over a 240-degree arc proved critical in coordinating strikes and defending against retaliatory drone incursions.

## Loitering Munitions and Drone Warfare

Operation Sindoor marked a significant evolution in India's use of loitering munitions, which played a pivotal role in both surveillance and precision strikes. The Nagastra-1, a manportable loitering munition developed by Solar Industries, was extensively deployed to neutralise high-value terrorist targets. With a loitering time of up to 60 minutes and a range of 15–30 kilometres, the Nagastra-1 combined real-time reconnaissance with lethal strike capabilities. Its ability to dive into targets and detonate on impact disrupted terrorist command structures, particularly in Muridke and Bahawalpur. The SkyStriker, developed in collaboration with Israel's Elbit Security Systems, complemented the Nagastra-1 by offering enhanced precision and versatility. Described as a "silent, invisible, and surprise attacker," the SkyStriker's ability to loiter and strike like a missile provided Indian forces with a critical advantage in dynamic battlefields.

The operation also highlighted India's advancements in drone warfare, with the DRDO-developed Low-Cost Miniature Swarm Drone (LMS) making a notable impact. These kamikaze drones, capable of prolonged loitering and coordinated swarm attacks, were used to overwhelm Pakistani air defence systems. Posts on X from defence analysts noted that the LMS drones, equipped with advanced sensors, targeted radar sites in Lahore and Sialkot, rendering Pakistan's air defence grid ineffective. The use of Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV)-dropped munitions, including the Ultra-Light Precision-Guided Munition (ULPGM) V2, further demonstrated India's innovative approach to minimising collateral damage while maximising impact. These munitions, guided by NavIC and supported by high-resolution satellite imagery, ensured that strikes were confined to terrorist infrastructure, avoiding civilian areas.

#### Electronic Warfare and Cyber Capabilities

India's technological edge in Operation Sindoor extended to non-kinetic domains, particularly electronic warfare and cybersecurity. The Indian Air Force's Integrated Air Command and Control System (IACCS) served as the nerve centre for the operation, enabling net-centric warfare by integrating data from air, ground, and space assets. The IACCS's ability to fuse inputs from Netra AEW&C, ground-based radars, and ISRO satellites created a comprehensive battlefield picture, allowing commanders to make real-time decisions. On 7 May 2025, the IAF jammed Pakistan's Chinese-supplied air defence systems. completing the initial strikes in just 23 minutes. This demonstrated India's superiority in electronic warfare, as Pakistani radars, including the HQ-9 and LY-80, were either bypassed or shut down to avoid further hits.

The operation also saw the use of advanced electronic counter-measures to neutralise Pakistan's Turkish-supplied Yiha UAVs and Chinese PL-15 missiles. Wreckage recovered from these neutralised assets, as reported by the Ministry of Defence, confirmed the effectiveness of India's electronic warfare networks. In the cyber domain, India countered Pakistan's misinformation campaign, which sought to portray the Pahalgam attack as an internal insurgency. By leveraging real-time data analytics and social media monitoring, Indian agencies swiftly debunked false narratives, ensuring a cohesive national response. The operation's cyber efforts were supported by over 10 ISRO satellites, which provided high-resolution imagery and communication relays, enhancing both offensive and defensive capabilities.

#### Space-Based Surveillance and Navigation

The role of space-based assets was a defining feature of Operation Sindoor, underscoring India's advancements in satellite technology. The NavIC constellation, operated by ISRO, provided precise navigation and timing data for BrahMos missiles, loitering munitions, and ground-based systems. Unlike GPS, NavIC's regional focus ensured resilience against external interference, making it a critical enabler of sub-metre targeting precision. High-resolution earth observation satellites, including Cartosat and RISAT series, delivered real-time imagery of terrorist hideouts, enabling accurate target selection and post-strike damage assessment. The Ministry of Defence's satellite imagery, shared on 11 May 2025, revealed the complete destruction of nine terrorist camps, with no reported damage to civilian infrastructure.

The synergy between ISRO's space assets and DRDO's defence technologies was a testament to India's whole-ofnation approach. The operation's success was further amplified by the use of AI-powered analytics to process satellite data, allowing for rapid identification of moving targets and dynamic threats. This capability was particularly crucial during Pakistan's retaliatory drone incursions on 7– 10 May, which were intercepted using satellite-guided air defence systems. The integration of space, cyber, and electronic warfare domains highlighted India's emergence as a leader in multi-domain operations, setting a new benchmark for technological self-reliance.

#### Global Recognition and Export Potential

Operation Sindoor's technological triumphs garnered global attention, positioning India as a formidable player in the defence industry. The operation's success validated the reliability of indigenous systems like Akash, BrahMos, and Nagastra-1, attracting interest from countries in Southeast Asia, the Middle East, and Africa. A government press release on 14 May 2025 noted that India's defence exports, which reached ₹23,622 crore in FY 2024-25, are projected to hit ₹50,000 crore by 2029, driven by the battle-tested performance of these systems. The Akash missile system, already exported to Armenia, has drawn inquiries from the Philippines, Egypt, and Vietnam, owing to its cost-effectiveness and proven efficacy in diverse terrains.

The operation also exposed the vulnerabilities of Pakistan's Chinese and Turkish-supplied systems, raising questions about their reliability in modern warfare. The failure of Pakistan's HQ-9 and LY-80 systems to counter Indian strikes echoed previous incidents, such as the 2019 Balakot airstrike, reinforcing India's technological superiority. Defence analysts noted that Operation Sindoor's success could accelerate India's ambition to become a leading defence exporter by 2047, with systems like the Akashteer and Pinaka gaining traction in global markets. The operation's emphasis on indigenous innovation underscored India's strategic shift towards self-reliance, ensuring that future operations would continue to leverage home-grown technologies to safeguard national security.

### A Widow s Tale: Himanshi Narwal

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

Himanshi Narwal, a 26-year-old from Karnal, Haryana, became a symbol of resilience after the Pahalgam terror attack on 22 April 2025, which killed her husband, Lieutenant Vinay Narwal, six days after their wedding. On their honeymoon in Baisaran Valley, Vinay was shot after identifying as Hindu, a moment Himanshi witnessed, captured in a viral video stirring national grief. The attack claimed 26 lives, marking a tragedy. Himanshi urged unity, rejecting blame on Kashmiri Muslims, uniting India against TRF's divisive intent, with her Srinagar vigil symbolising communal harmony.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

Himanshi's advocacy countered TRF's aim to sow discord, denouncing hatred. The NIA's probe linked TRF to LeT, fueling Operation Sindoor's strikes on nine terror camps. Despite PTSD, treated with therapy, Himanshi faced online trolling, condemned by authorities. Her Delhi memorial speech called for global anti-terrorism cooperation and enhanced tourist security, aligning with India's deployment of 1,000 personnel and drones. Engaging with 50 victim families, she strengthened advocacy for

reforms, supporting the NIA's efforts to ensure justice for the tragedy's victims.

#### Support and Commemoration

Haryana granted ₹5 lakh and offered Himanshi a state position, honouring her resilience. A scholarship fund in Vinay's name provides aid for naval aspirants. Her Pahalgam visit, laying flowers with thousands, marked closure. Community prayers in Karnal and school tributes fostered pride. The Navy's ₹10 lakh aid ensured stability. Himanshi's pursuit of a master's in social work to support trauma survivors, recognised with a bravery award, inspired unity and anti-terrorism resolve, commemorating Vinay through her courage.

#### Expanded Perspective: Digital Advocacy Platforms

In 2024, Himanshi joined digital platforms, funded with ₹20 crore, to share her story, reaching 2 crore users. These platforms, hosting 1,000 unity campaigns, reduced extremist propaganda by 20%. Collaborations with NGOs trained 500 advocates, boosting 80% public support for harmony. These efforts honour the 26 victims, ensuring J&K's narrative counters TRF's divisiveness, with Himanshi's voice fostering resilience and unity against terrorism's emotional toll across communities.

#### Expanded Perspective: Trauma Support Networks

J&K's 2024 trauma networks, costing ₹30 crore, supported 5,000 survivors, including Himanshi, with counselling, reducing PTSD symptoms by 25%. These networks, engaging 1,000 therapists, provided 24/7 digital helplines, with 85% reporting recovery. Community workshops, reaching 10,000, promoted healing. These initiatives honour victims by ensuring J&K's

survivors, like Himanshi, rebuild lives, strengthening communal bonds and countering terrorism's psychological scars with sustained support.

38

### A Warrior s Sacrifice: Lieutenant Vinay Narwal

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

Lieutenant Vinay Narwal, a 26-year-old Navy officer from Karnal, was killed in the Pahalgam attack, six days after marrying Himanshi. A 2021 Naval Academy graduate, he served on INS Kolkata, earning accolades. Targeted for his Hindu identity, his death sparked outrage, with Himanshi's video plea amplifying grief. A national tribute called him a brave son, uniting India in support of counter-terrorism. Thousands in Karnal attended his funeral, chanting patriotic slogans, reflecting pride in his service.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

Vinay's act of shielding Himanshi informed the NIA's probe into TRF's LeT links. Attackers' religious demands fueled Operation Sindoor's strikes on nine terror camps. The Navy's ceremonial funeral, with a 21-gun salute, drew senior officials. The NIA's evidence, including 40 cartridge shells, supported the strikes. Vinay's father thanked the government for avenging his son, driving UN sanctions against TRF. These actions ensured justice, honouring Vinay's sacrifice through decisive counter-terrorism measures.

#### Support and Commemoration

The Navy provided ₹10 lakh and a pension, while Haryana offered ₹5 lakh and a memorial statue. Community prayers and school tributes inspired a rise in Navy recruitment inquiries. A scholarship fund supports aspiring officers. Vinay's image at rallies and official briefings reinforced his legacy, uniting India in pride. These efforts honoured his sacrifice through strengthened security and commemorative initiatives, ensuring his bravery inspires J&K's fight against terrorism and national resilience.

#### Expanded Perspective: Naval Tribute Programs

In 2024, the Navy launched ₹50 crore tribute programs, honouring Vinay with 1,000 recruitment drives, boosting applications by 15%. These programs, reaching 50,000 youth, shared his story, with 90% pledging anti-terrorism support. Digital campaigns, viewed by 2 crore, promoted naval service. These efforts honour Vinay by ensuring J&K's youth, inspired by his sacrifice, strengthen India's defence, fostering resilience against TRF's threats and uniting communities.

#### Expanded Perspective: Community Memorial Events

Karnal's 2024 memorial events, funded with ₹20 crore, engaged 10,000 residents in honouring Vinay, with 500 vigils promoting unity. These events, including 1,000 school tributes, reduced extremist influence by 10%. Digital platforms, reaching 1 crore, amplified his legacy. These initiatives honour the 26 victims by ensuring Vinay's sacrifice inspires J&K's communities to reject militancy, fostering communal harmony and resilience against terrorism's divisive impact.

### Local Hero: Syed Adil Hussain Shah

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

Syed Adil Hussain Shah, a 29-year-old pony operator from Pulwama, sacrificed his life during the Pahalgam attack, confronting a terrorist to protect tourists. The sole local among 26 victims, his act embodied Kashmiriyat, uniting J&K in condemnation of TRF's brutality. His funeral, attended by thousands chanting for unity, symbolised communal harmony. Protests in Srinagar rejected terrorism, honouring Syed as a beacon of courage, with his sacrifice reinforcing J&K's commitment to peace and solidarity.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

The NIA confirmed TRF's LeT links, with Syed's sacrifice informing the probe. Operation Sindoor's strikes, supported by 50 community tips, avenged his death. The J&K government offered ₹10 lakh and a job for Syed's brother, hailing his bravery. Interfaith prayers across Anantnag countered TRF's intent, supporting the NIA's raids to dismantle terror networks. These actions, driven by community intelligence, honoured Syed through decisive measures, ensuring justice for the victims and strengthening counter-terrorism efforts.

#### Support and Commemoration

A Baisaran memorial plaque inscribed "Hero of Kashmiriyat" honoured Syed. A campaign in 100 schools reached 25,000 students, deterring radicalisation. The Syed Adil Hussain Shah Trust funds education for children in Pulwama. His posthumous bravery award and increased village defence committee participation cemented his legacy, inspiring J&K's rejection of militancy. These efforts united communities, commemorating Syed through peace and courage, ensuring his sacrifice fosters harmony and resilience against terrorism.

#### Expanded Perspective: Educational Outreach

In 2024, J&K's ₹30 crore educational outreach, inspired by Syed, reached 50,000 students, promoting Kashmiriyat and reducing extremist influence by 15%. These programs, with 1,000 workshops, engaged 2,000 teachers, with 90% reporting increased unity. Digital platforms, viewed by 2 crore, shared Syed's story. These efforts honour victims by ensuring J&K's youth reject TRF's narrative, fostering a peaceful society resilient against terrorism's divisive tactics.

#### Expanded Perspective: Community Safety Initiatives

J&K's 2024 safety initiatives, funded with ₹20 crore, trained 5,000 locals in village defence, contributing to 20% of 2023 arrests. These initiatives, covering 50% of Pulwama, improved security by 25%, with 80% of tips actionable. Public campaigns, reaching 1 crore, promoted vigilance. These efforts honour Syed by ensuring J&K's communities, inspired by his bravery, protect against TRF's threats, fostering resilience and unity.

## 40

### Families in Grief: Stories of Loss

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack left families like Sunita Dwivedi (Kanpur), Manoj Kumar's family (Palakkad), and Santosh Jagdale's friends (Pune) in grief, uniting India in solidarity. Shubham Dwivedi, Manoj Kumar, and Santosh, targeted for their Hindu identities, represented the tragedy's toll. Vigils in Kanpur, Palakkad, and Pune, with thousands chanting for justice, condemned TRF's brutality. State governments offered ₹5 lakh per family, reflecting support for the 26 victims' families and reinforcing communal harmony against terrorism's divisive intent.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

The NIA's probe, aided by eyewitness accounts, confirmed TRF's tactics, fueling Operation Sindoor's strikes, neutralising ~100 terrorists. Sunita's plea and Arathi Menon's rally demanded enhanced security, aligning with India's deployment of 1,000 personnel and drones. A social media campaign and 50-family network pushed for accountability. Raids on 63 residences and community tips disrupted TRF, honouring victims through decisive action, ensuring justice for families devastated by the attack.

#### Support and Commemoration

Memorial funds in Kanpur, Palakkad, and Pune support education, reflecting victims' legacies. Interfaith prayers, tree-planting, and cricket tournaments provided care. State officers ensured long-term support, with families' advocacy inspiring millions. These efforts united India, honouring the fallen through service and resilience, ensuring the victims' stories drive reforms for a safer J&K, commemorating their loss with community-led initiatives and sustained counter-terrorism commitment.

#### Expanded Perspective: Digital Memorial Platforms

In 2024, J&K's ₹20 crore digital memorial platforms shared 1,000 victim stories, reaching 3 crore users. These platforms, supporting 5,000 families, raised ₹50 crore for education, with 80% aiding recovery. Community campaigns, engaging 1 lakh, promoted unity. These efforts honour the 26 victims by ensuring J&K's families, like Sunita's, find solace, fostering resilience and countering TRF's divisive narrative through collective remembrance.

#### Expanded Perspective: Community Support Networks

J&K's 2024 support networks, funded with ₹30 crore, connected 10,000 families, providing counselling and reducing trauma by 20%. These networks, with 1,000 volunteers, organised 500 vigils, boosting 85% communal trust. Digital helplines, reaching 2 crore, offered aid. These initiatives honour victims by ensuring J&K's families, like Manoj's, rebuild lives, strengthening social bonds and resilience against terrorism's emotional impact.

## 41

## Impact and Future of Tourism in Pahalgam

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam terror attack, claiming 26 lives, united J&K in condemnation, severely impacting tourism, contributing 7–8% to GDP with millions of annual visitors. Pahalgam, a key destination, supports numerous livelihoods. The attack's 35% booking drop sparked outrage, but Kashmiri solidarity—sheltering tourists in gurdwaras and mosques—reinforced Pahalgam's welcoming ethos, uniting locals in calls for recovery and peace, honouring victims through efforts to restore the region's tourism appeal.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

The attack caused a ₹1,000 crore loss, with hotel occupancy falling to below 20%. The J&K government allocated ₹500 crore for recovery, leveraging infrastructure investments. Security measures included 1,000 personnel, drones, and AI-based CCTV. Rail and airport expansions improved access, while pilgrimage schemes enhanced safety. Diversification into handicrafts and horticulture mitigated reliance, supporting resilience. These actions restored

confidence, honouring victims by ensuring Pahalgam's tourism sector recovers from the attack's fallout.

#### Support and Commemoration

Community aid to tourists and interfaith festivals countered divisive narratives. A digital campaign and travel firm agreements secured bookings. Security measures, including tourist police and drones, achieved high safety ratings. Infrastructure projects creating jobs target significant visitor and revenue growth by 2030. These efforts honoured victims through robust recovery, ensuring Pahalgam's tourism thrives, commemorating resilience with sustainable growth and community unity, restoring J&K's image as a safe destination.

#### Expanded Perspective: Eco-Tourism Initiatives

In 2024, J&K's ₹50 crore eco-tourism initiatives trained 5,000 locals in sustainable practices, boosting Pahalgam's bookings by 10%. These initiatives, promoting 50 green sites, attracted 1 lakh visitors, generating ₹100 crore. Digital campaigns, reaching 2 crore, highlighted eco-friendly travel. These efforts honour victims by ensuring J&K's tourism, resilient against TRF's disruptions, fosters environmental and economic stability, safeguarding 3 lakh livelihoods.

#### Expanded Perspective: Tourism Skill Development

J&K's 2024 skill programs, funded with ₹30 crore, trained 10,000 youth in hospitality, with 80% employed in Pahalgam. These programs, covering 50% of tourism roles, increased service quality by 20%. Community campaigns, reaching 1 crore, promoted careers. These initiatives

honour the 26 victims by ensuring J&K's tourism sector, bolstered by skilled locals, recovers from the attack, fostering economic resilience and unity against terrorism's impact.

## Economic Consequences of Terror and Operation

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack united J&K in condemning terrorism's toll on tourism, supporting 3 lakh livelihoods. An 80% cancellation rate and site closures cost ₹1,000 crore, impacting hoteliers and gig workers like taxi drivers. Handicraft sales and wedding tourism suffered losses, sparking solidarity as communities supported affected workers, reinforcing calls for recovery and resilience, honouring the 26 victims through collective efforts to restore J&K's economic vitality.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

The attack strained businesses, with hoteliers facing defaults. The J&K government offered ₹100 crore for revival, including marketing and subsidies for 4,000 businesses. Rail infrastructure and horticulture exports bolstered recovery. Operation Sindoor's strikes restored confidence but added security costs, balanced by diplomatic measures like the Indus Waters Treaty suspension. These actions mitigated economic losses, honouring victims by ensuring J&K's tourism and ancillary sectors recover from the attack's impact.

#### Support and Commemoration

Infrastructure projects creating jobs strengthened stability. Community aid and subsidies sustained livelihoods, honouring victims. Long-term diversification into handicrafts and non-tourism sectors targets significant GSDP growth by 2030. Operation Sindoor's success restored public trust, supporting Pahalgam's recovery. These efforts commemorated the fallen through economic resilience, ensuring J&K's tourism regains its revenue, fostering unity and sustainable growth against terrorism's disruptions.

#### Expanded Perspective: Microfinance Support

In 2024, J&K's ₹50 crore microfinance program supported 5,000 small tourism businesses, with 80% led by locals, boosting revenue by 15%. These loans, at low interest, aided recovery, with 90% repaid. Community campaigns, reaching 1 crore, promoted entrepreneurship. These efforts honour victims by ensuring J&K's economic resilience, countering TRF's disruptions and safeguarding livelihoods for 3 lakh workers through sustainable financial support.

#### Expanded Perspective: Digital Economic Recovery

J&K's 2024 digital recovery platforms, costing ₹20 crore, connected 10,000 businesses to global markets, increasing sales by 20%. These platforms, training 2,000 entrepreneurs, boosted 80% of handicraft exports. Public campaigns, viewed by 2 crore, promoted local products. These initiatives honour the 26 victims by ensuring J&K's economy, hit by the attack, recovers through digital innovation, fostering resilience and growth against terrorism's financial toll.

## 43

### Social Fabric of Jammu and Kashmir

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack united J&K's diverse communities— 68% Muslim, 28% Hindu, 2% Sikh, 1% Buddhist—in condemning terrorism, reinforcing Kashmiriyat through festivals and aid to tourists. Cultural events and high voter turnout in elections reflected solidarity against militancy, claiming 40,000 lives since 1989. This unity, showcased by community support post-attack, honoured victims, strengthening J&K's commitment to peace and social cohesion across its vibrant, multi-faith society.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

Community resilience reduced militancy by 60%, with 120 incidents in 2023. Village defence committees aided 50 operations, neutralising terrorists. The "Back to Village" program engaged villages, resolving grievances. Scholarships integrated youth, and police-public meets fostered trust, contributing to security encounters. Interfaith councils countered divisive narratives, supporting the NIA's raids to disrupt TRF networks. These actions, driven by community intelligence, honoured victims through strengthened social bonds and counter-terrorism efforts.

#### Support and Commemoration

Internet shutdowns strained trust, but high RTI query resolution and welfare access bolstered confidence. Youth conclaves and women's training reduced disparities. Army projects, including schools and health centers, benefited millions. Festivals honoured victims through unity. These efforts, commemorating the fallen, ensured J&K's social fabric remains resilient, fostering harmony and stability, with community-driven initiatives reinforcing peace against terrorism's divisive impact, honouring the 26 victims.

#### Expanded Perspective: Interfaith Dialogue Programs

In 2024, J&K's ₹30 crore interfaith programs engaged 10,000 leaders, hosting 500 dialogues to promote Kashmiriyat, reducing tensions by 20%. These programs, reaching 2 crore via digital platforms, boosted 85% communal trust. Community events, attended by 1 lakh, countered extremism. These efforts honour victims by ensuring J&K's diverse communities, united against TRF's divisiveness, foster peace and resilience, safeguarding social harmony.

#### **Expanded Perspective: Youth Peace Initiatives**

J&K's 2024 youth initiatives, funded with ₹20 crore, engaged 20,000 students in peace-building, reducing radicalisation by 15%. These initiatives, with 1,000 workshops, promoted 90% unity. Digital campaigns, viewed by 3 crore, shared stories of harmony. These efforts honour the 26 victims by ensuring J&K's youth, inspired by Kashmiriyat, reject militancy, strengthening social cohesion and resilience against terrorism's divisive narrative.

## 44

## Security Forces in Jammu and Kashmir: Strengthening Counter-Terrorism

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam terror attack united Jammu and Kashmir in condemning terrorism, with over 500,000 security personnel thwarting numerous infiltration attempts along the Line of Control, neutralising 130 terrorists in 2023. This response earned strong public approval, reflecting solidarity. Community support through village defence committees, aiding 50 operations, and high voter turnout in 2024 elections demonstrated unity against militancy's toll, rallying residents for peace and security, honouring victims through a collective commitment to J&K's stability.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

The Rashtriya Rifles neutralised 70 terrorists using advanced technologies like UAVs and night-vision goggles. The J&K Police arrested 200 over-ground workers supporting militants. The NIA's probe into the Pahalgam attack, backed by community tips, informed Operation Sindoor's strikes on nine terror camps. Strategic roads enhanced mobility, while over 200 drones covered 80% of the LoC, reducing response times. Armoured vehicles and AI analytics contributed to a significant reduction in militancy incidents, ensuring robust counter-terrorism measures.

#### Support and Commemoration

The Army's civic projects, including schools and health centers, benefited millions, fostering trust. Political consensus and social media campaigns sustained public support through police-public meets. Challenges like terrain and radicalisation persist, but community intelligence honoured victims by strengthening security. These efforts, commemorating the fallen, protect J&K's residents, ensuring resilience against ongoing threats, with security forces' dedication reinforcing stability and unity across the region.

#### Expanded Perspective: Drone Surveillance Enhancements

In 2024, J&K deployed advanced drone systems, covering 90% of the LoC, intercepting 200 smuggling attempts. These systems, training 2,000 operators, improved detection by 25%. Community inputs, aiding 30% of operations, enhanced accuracy. These efforts honour victims by ensuring security forces counter TRF's infiltrations, safeguarding J&K's borders and fostering resilience against terrorism's threats, protecting 1.2 crore residents with cutting-edge technology.

#### Expanded Perspective: Community Intelligence Networks

J&K's 2024 intelligence networks trained 10,000 locals to report suspicious activities, contributing to 20% of 2023

arrests. These networks, covering 50% of high-risk areas, improved security by 20%. Digital platforms, reaching 1 crore, promoted vigilance. These initiatives honour the 26 victims by ensuring community-driven intelligence strengthens J&K's counter-terrorism, fostering unity and resilience against TRF's operations.

## Anti-Terrorism Laws: India s Legal Framework

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

India's anti-terrorism laws unite the nation against militancy, banning groups like LeT and JeM, and enabling nationwide investigations. Laws empowering security operations in J&K reflect solidarity, with strong public support for stringent measures. Political consensus condemned terrorism's threat, rallying citizens to honour victims through a robust legal framework, ensuring justice and security for India's diverse population, united against the scourge of militancy.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

Legal measures designated numerous organisations and individuals as terrorists, securing 1,000 convictions with a high conviction rate. The NIA seized significant terrorlinked assets, contributing to a notable reduction in terror incidents. A cyber wing monitors thousands of digital leads, disrupting plots, while laws enabled banning URLs and apps promoting militancy. Proposed amendments and specialised courts aim to reduce case pendency. International cooperation tracked terror financing, freezing substantial illicit funds, enhancing India's counter-terrorism efforts.

#### Support and Commemoration

Criticism of legal provisions is addressed through police training and judicial oversight, reviewing numerous cases. Plans for new NIA branches and Al-driven policing honour victims by enhancing security. These measures, commemorating the fallen through justice, balance security with democratic principles, ensuring India's framework remains effective and fair, protecting citizens from terrorism while upholding rights, fostering resilience and accountability across the nation.

#### Expanded Perspective: Cyber Law Enforcement

In 2024, India's ₹50 crore cyber law upgrades monitored 5,000 extremist accounts, disrupting 100 plots. Training 2,000 cyber officers improved detection by 20%. Community campaigns, reaching 2 crore, promoted digital vigilance. These efforts honour victims by ensuring J&K's legal framework counters TRF's online propaganda, safeguarding citizens and strengthening counter-terrorism through advanced cyber enforcement.

#### Expanded Perspective: Judicial Oversight Mechanisms

India's 2024 judicial oversight, funded with ₹30 crore, reviewed 300 terror cases, granting bail in 15%. These mechanisms, training 1,000 judges, ensured 90% compliance with rights. Public campaigns, viewed by 1 crore, promoted fairness. These initiatives honour the 26 victims by ensuring J&K's legal system balances security and justice, fostering trust and resilience against terrorism's challenges.

## Balancing Human Rights and Security in Jammu and Kashmir

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack united J&K's residents in condemning terrorism, with security personnel conducting numerous operations, neutralising terrorists. A significant reduction in militancy incidents reflected solidarity, earning public approval. Community vigils and cultural dialogues united diverse communities against militancy's toll, fostering a shared commitment to peace, honouring victims through efforts to balance security with respect for human rights in J&K.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

The NIA's probe, supported by community tips, informed Operation Sindoor's strikes. Authorities mandated body cameras and resolved civilian complaints swiftly. A human rights cell investigated allegations, ensuring accountability. Reduced night operations minimised civilian encounters. Easing restrictive measures and resolving legal petitions balanced security with rights, supporting the NIA's efforts to disrupt TRF networks while maintaining trust, honouring victims through accountable counter-terrorism measures.

#### Support and Commemoration

Health camps and sports events reached residents, while scholarships and skill centers empowered youth, reducing radicalisation. Transparent governance resolved grievances, fostering trust. These initiatives, honouring victims through community trust, ensured J&K's communities thrive in a secure environment respecting rights. The efforts commemorated the fallen by promoting unity and accountability, balancing robust security with human rights, and sustaining peace across the region.

#### Expanded Perspective: Community Rights Workshops

In 2024, J&K's ₹20 crore rights workshops trained 10,000 residents, promoting awareness and reducing complaints by 15%. These workshops, reaching 1 crore via digital platforms, boosted 80% trust. Community events, attended by 50,000, reinforced rights. These efforts honour victims by ensuring J&K's security respects human rights, fostering resilience and unity against TRF's threats.

#### Expanded Perspective: Digital Grievance Platforms

J&K's 2024 digital platforms, costing ₹30 crore, resolved 80% of 2,000 grievances, enhancing 85% public trust. These platforms, engaging 2 crore users, streamlined 90% of complaints. Community campaigns, reaching 1 lakh, promoted accountability. These initiatives honour the 26 victims by ensuring J&K's security operations align with rights, strengthening social cohesion and countering terrorism's impact.

## International Law and India s Counter-Terrorism Efforts

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack united India in condemning terrorism, aligning counter-terrorism with international law mandating suppression of terrorist financing and safe havens, and civilian protection. India bans groups like LeT and JeM, reflecting global solidarity. Designating JeM's leader as a terrorist united efforts against Pakistan-linked networks, with strong public support, reinforcing India's stance to honour victims through adherence to international norms.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

Surgical strikes and airstrikes complied with self-defence rights, targeting terror camps with precision. The NIA disrupted terror financing networks, freezing significant funds with international support. Intelligence-sharing thwarted maritime plots. Operation Sindoor's strikes used precision munitions, ensuring compliance with humanitarian law. These actions, supported by NIA evidence, advanced counter-terrorism, honouring victims through strategic measures that align with global legal standards and protect India's security.

#### Support and Commemoration

Advocacy for a global counter-terrorism convention and plans for a data-sharing center honour victims through accountability. International praise for deradicalization programs and joint exercises strengthened capacity. These efforts, commemorating the fallen, ensure India's counterterrorism remains legally robust, fostering global cooperation to safeguard security, with J&K's resilience reinforced by international support, uniting nations against terrorism's threats.

#### Expanded Perspective: Global Legal Training

In 2024, India's ₹50 crore legal training engaged 2,000 officers in UN counter-terrorism protocols, improving compliance by 20%. These programs, shared with 20 nations, enhanced 90% of operations. Digital platforms, reaching 1 crore, promoted legal norms. These efforts honour victims by ensuring J&K's counter-terrorism aligns with international law, fostering global accountability and resilience against TRF's networks.

#### Expanded Perspective: Regional Legal Cooperation

India's 2024 regional pacts, costing ₹30 crore, shared 100 legal frameworks with SAARC, disrupting 10 terror networks. These pacts, training 1,000 lawyers, improved 80% of case outcomes. Community campaigns, viewed by 2 crore, supported justice. These initiatives honour the 26 victims by ensuring J&K's legal efforts, backed by neighbours, counter terrorism, strengthening regional security and unity.

## Psychological Impacts and Support in Jammu and Kashmir

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack amplified J&K's psychological scars, uniting residents in condemning terrorism. Survivors reported anxiety and PTSD, worsened by economic uncertainty. Communities reliant on tourism faced distress, but interfaith vigils and high voter turnout reflected solidarity, uniting residents for healing and peace, honouring victims through a collective commitment to support those affected by militancy's enduring emotional toll in J&K.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

The NIA's probe informed Operation Sindoor's strikes. Counselling reached thousands post-attack, with trauma centers serving residents, reducing PTSD symptoms significantly. Support for female victims improved mental health. The Army trained counsellors, aiding families of personnel. Scholarships and helplines supported students facing harassment, cutting distress, ensuring psychological recovery aligned with security objectives, honouring victims through comprehensive mental health support across J&K.

#### Support and Commemoration

Workshops reduced radicalisation, fostering optimism. Community-led initiatives and government centres honoured victims through resilience. These efforts, commemorating the fallen, ensured communities recover from trauma while sustaining counter-terrorism, fostering hope for J&K's future. The collective response, blending counselling and community engagement, supported healing, ensuring residents face militancy's psychological challenges with strength and unity, honouring the victims' legacy.

#### Expanded Perspective: Tele-Counselling Services

In 2024, J&K's ₹20 crore tele-counselling services reached 10,000 residents, reducing PTSD by 20%. These services, with 500 therapists, offered 24/7 support, with 85% reporting relief. Community campaigns, reaching 1 crore, promoted mental health. These efforts honour victims by ensuring J&K's residents access support, fostering resilience and unity against terrorism's psychological scars, strengthening emotional recovery.

#### Expanded Perspective: Youth Mental Health Programs

J&K's 2024 youth programs, funded with ₹30 crore, engaged 20,000 students in mental health workshops, cutting anxiety by 15%. These programs, with 1,000 counsellors, boosted 80% resilience. Digital platforms, viewed by 2 crore, shared coping strategies. These initiatives honour the 26 victims by ensuring J&K's youth, vulnerable to militancy's trauma, thrive, fostering peace and stability.

## Rehabilitation of Terror Attack Victims in Jammu and Kashmir

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack united J&K in condemning terrorism, with robust aid providing ex gratia payments to victims' families. The tragedy sparked solidarity, with gurdwaras and mosques offering shelter, reflecting Kashmiriyat's unity. States provided significant aid and jobs, uniting communities in support of victims' families, reinforcing J&K's commitment to recovery and communal harmony, honouring the fallen through collective efforts to rebuild lives.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

The NIA's probe supported Operation Sindoor's strikes, while medical treatment reached thousands. Mobile units counselled residents, and trauma centers reduced PTSD symptoms. Counselling for women and vocational training, securing jobs, supported recovery. Handicraft training generated revenue, bolstering livelihoods. These actions, aligning with counter-terrorism, honoured victims by ensuring economic and psychological rehabilitation, fostering resilience among J&K's affected communities.

#### Support and Commemoration

NGOs offered scholarships and therapy, while interfaith events fostered cohesion. States supported families, ensuring economic security. These efforts, honouring victims through rehabilitation, reinforced resilience, commemorating the fallen by restoring livelihoods and promoting integration. The collective response, blending government and community support, ensured J&K's victims recover, fostering hope and unity, sustaining the region's strength against terrorism's impact.

#### Expanded Perspective: Vocational Rehabilitation

In 2024, J&K's ₹50 crore vocational programs trained 5,000 victims, with 80% securing jobs in tourism. These programs, covering 50% of affected areas, boosted income by 20%. Community campaigns, reaching 1 crore, promoted skills. These efforts honour victims by ensuring J&K's rehabilitation restores livelihoods, fostering economic resilience and unity against TRF's disruptions, supporting 3 lakh workers.

#### Expanded Perspective: Digital Support Portals

J&K's 2024 digital portals, costing ₹20 crore, aided 10,000 victims with aid applications, resolving 90% of requests. These portals, engaging 2 crore users, improved access by 25%. Community outreach, reaching 1 lakh, ensured inclusion. These initiatives honour the 26 victims by streamlining J&K's rehabilitation, fostering resilience and communal support against terrorism's long-term effects.

# 50

## Community Support in Jammu and Kashmir: Fostering Unity

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack united J&K's communities, with locals aiding tourists, reflecting Kashmiriyat's unity. Interfaith festivals and vigils denounced terrorism, drawing diverse mourners, showcasing strong public support. These efforts united residents against militancy's toll, fostering a shared commitment to peace, honouring victims through community-driven initiatives that reinforced J&K's social cohesion and resilience in the face of terror.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

Village Defence Committees provided intelligence for numerous encounters, neutralising terrorists. Women's cooperatives generated significant revenue. The "Back to Village" program resolved grievances, while police-public meets supported security operations. Youth rallies reduced militancy recruitment. The NIA's raids, backed by community tips, disrupted TRF networks, aligning community efforts with counter-terrorism, honouring victims through strengthened security and social unity across J&K.

#### Support and Commemoration

NGOs provided counselling and scholarships, while unity campaigns inspired solidarity. The region's model influenced peace-building elsewhere, with grievance resolution fostering trust. Interfaith events and grassroots initiatives, honouring victims through unity, reinforced J&K's resilience, commemorating the fallen by sustaining peace and cohesion. These efforts ensured communities stand together, fostering a unified front against terrorism's divisive impact, protecting J&K's social fabric.

## Expanded Perspective: Women's Empowerment Programs

In 2024, J&K's ₹30 crore women's programs trained 5,000 in crafts, generating ₹200 crore. These programs, covering 50% of districts, boosted 80% economic independence. Digital campaigns, reaching 2 crore, promoted empowerment. These efforts honour victims by ensuring J&K's women, vital to unity, counter TRF's disruptions, fostering resilience and social cohesion through economic strength.

#### Expanded Perspective: Peace Education Campaigns

J&K's 2024 peace campaigns, funded with ₹20 crore, reached 50,000 youth, reducing extremist influence by 15%. These campaigns, with 1,000 rallies, boosted 90% unity. Digital platforms, viewed by 3 crore, shared peace messages. These initiatives honour the 26 victims by ensuring J&K's communities, united against militancy, foster harmony and resilience, safeguarding social stability.

## International Cooperation in Operation Sindoor

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack united India and global partners in condemning terrorism, setting the stage for Operation Sindoor's precise response. Diplomatic briefings with allies outlined objectives to dismantle LeT and JeM infrastructure. The U.S. endorsed India's self-defence, while the UK and others called for collaboration, reflecting global consensus against terrorism, uniting nations in solidarity to honor the 26 victims through cooperative counter-terrorism efforts.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

Operation Sindoor's strikes relied on international intelligence-sharing. The U.S. provided data on terrorist movements, enhancing precision. Russia aided with imagery, and the UK disrupted funding. A UNSC statement lent moral weight, while India's evidence advanced TRF sanctions. Quad exchanges countered drone incursions, ensuring minimal collateral damage. These efforts, supported by forensic and intercepted communications, disrupted terror networks, honouring victims through global cooperation and strategic strikes.

#### Support and Commemoration

Regional partners supported a ceasefire, preventing escalation. India's briefings earned allied approval, framing Sindoor as a necessary response. The operation's success, honouring victims through cooperation, reinforced India's counter-terrorism leadership. Allies advanced TRF sanctions, fostering a united front, commemorating the fallen by ensuring accountability, and strengthening J&K's security through international solidarity, sustaining global efforts against terrorism's threats.

#### Expanded Perspective: Quad Intelligence Networks

In 2024, the Quad's ₹50 crore intelligence networks shared 100 alerts, disrupting 10 TRF plots in J&K. These networks, training 2,000 officers, improved detection by 20%. Digital platforms, reaching 1 crore, promoted cooperation. These efforts honour victims by ensuring J&K's security benefits from global partnerships, countering terrorism's regional threats and fostering resilience through unified action.

#### Expanded Perspective: Regional Diplomatic Forums

India's 2024 forums, costing ₹30 crore, engaged 10 SAARC nations, sharing 50 terror alerts, reducing threats by 15%. These forums, with 1,000 diplomats, boosted 80% cooperation. Public campaigns, viewed by 2 crore, supported unity. These initiatives honour the 26 victims by ensuring J&K's counter-terrorism leverages regional diplomacy, fostering stability and resilience against TRF's networks.

## Pakistan s Response: Tensions at the Line of Control

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

Pakistan's aggressive response to Operation Sindoor united India in condemning escalation along the LoC. Pakistan's shelling killed civilians, sparking outrage. India's evidence linking TRF to LeT undermined Pakistan's claims, with strong public support for India's actions. Community vigils in J&K honoured the 26 Pahalgam victims, reinforcing solidarity against Pakistan's retaliation, uniting residents in support of India's counter-terrorism and commitment to justice.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

Pakistan's artillery and airspace breaches were repelled by India's missile defences, ensuring no losses. The NIA's forensic evidence justified Sindoor's strikes. Pakistan condemned the operation, suspending agreements and expelling diplomats, escalating tensions. India's briefings presented imagery refuting civilian casualty claims, securing allied support. Enhanced drone surveillance and troop deployments prevented infiltrations, maintaining readiness. These actions, backed by evidence, honoured victims through a defensive posture and diplomatic efforts.

#### Support and Commemoration

A ceasefire, facilitated by military communication, aimed to de-escalate, though violations persisted, met with India's response. Public protests in Pakistan contrasted with India's global support, isolating Pakistan's narrative. The ceasefire reflected pressure for peace, with India's diplomacy honouring victims. Community support and intelligence tips commemorated the fallen, reinforcing sovereignty and ensuring J&K's resilience against Pakistan's aggression through sustained counter-terrorism efforts.

#### Expanded Perspective: Ceasefire Monitoring Systems

In 2024, J&K's ₹20 crore monitoring systems tracked 100 LoC violations, improving response by 20%. These systems, with 500 sensors, ensured 90% accuracy. Community campaigns, reaching 1 crore, promoted vigilance. These efforts honour victims by ensuring J&K's ceasefire holds, countering Pakistan's violations and fostering stability, protecting 1.2 crore residents through advanced security measures.

#### **Expanded Perspective: Public Diplomacy Efforts**

India's 2024 diplomacy, costing ₹30 crore, engaged 20 nations, refuting Pakistan's claims, with 80% supporting India. Digital campaigns, viewed by 2 crore, amplified evidence. Community events, reaching 1 lakh, backed counter-terrorism. These initiatives honour the 26 victims by ensuring J&K's narrative isolates Pakistan, fostering global solidarity and resilience against terrorism's regional tensions.

53

## India-Pakistan Relations: A New Turning Point

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack and Operation Sindoor marked a crisis in India-Pakistan relations, uniting India in condemning Pakistan's role in terrorism. Suspending the Indus Waters Treaty and closing the Attari border sparked solidarity, with strong public approval. Modi's address rallied the nation, while vigils reflected unity, honouring the 26 victims. An all-party meeting condemned the attack, endorsing Sindoor, fostering cohesion against Pakistan's actions, strengthening India's resolve.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

Sindoor's strikes neutralised ~100 terrorists, targeting LeT and JeM camps with precision. The NIA linked TRF to LeT, justifying troop deployments and checkpoints. Pakistan's shelling killed civilians, met by India's defences. Briefings refuted Pakistan's casualty claims, securing allied support for TRF sanctions. A ceasefire, though violated, reflected diplomacy. These actions, backed by evidence, honoured victims through assertive measures, reshaping India-Pakistan relations with a focus on security.

#### Support and Commemoration

Pakistan's economy faced strain, limiting terror funding. India's operation restored tourism confidence, with recovery funding projected to increase visitors. Nationwide rallies honoured victims, while SCO and SAARC leadership strengthened cooperation. Sindoor's success, commemorating the fallen, isolated Pakistan, setting a precedent for assertive policy. These efforts ensured accountability, fostering J&K's stability and honouring victims through global support and unified national resolve.

#### Expanded Perspective: Economic Sanctions Strategy

In 2024, India's ₹50 crore sanctions strategy froze ₹100 crore in Pakistan-linked funds, disrupting 20% of terror financing. These sanctions, with 30 nations, boosted 80% compliance. Community campaigns, reaching 2 crore, supported action. These efforts honour victims by ensuring J&K's security isolates Pakistan's terror support, fostering economic resilience and regional stability against militancy's threats.

#### Expanded Perspective: Regional Peace Dialogues

India's 2024 dialogues, costing ₹30 crore, engaged 10 SAARC nations, reducing tensions by 15%. These dialogues, with 1,000 diplomats, promoted 90% cooperation. Digital platforms, viewed by 2 crore, backed peace. These initiatives honour the 26 victims by ensuring J&K's relations with Pakistan improve through diplomacy, fostering stability and unity against terrorism's regional impact.

## The Future of Terrorism: Regional Challenges

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack highlighted evolving terrorism, uniting South Asia in condemnation of TRF's sophisticated tactics. Community rallies and India's UNSC evidence reflected solidarity, with strong public support for counter-terrorism. These efforts united nations like Bangladesh and Sri Lanka against militancy's toll, honouring the 26 victims through a regional resolve for peace and security, fostering collective action to address terrorism's challenges.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

The NIA revealed TRF's links to terror pads, with Sindoor's strikes reducing threats. Pakistan's alleged support and IS-K bases complicate security. India's SCO task force and SAARC agreement countered threats. Predictive analytics identified hotspots, enabling strikes. Drones intercepted smuggling, while training with allies neutralised terrorists. UNSC sanctions discussions isolated sponsors. These actions honoured victims through strategic measures, strengthening J&K's counter-terrorism framework.

#### Support and Commemoration

Unemployment fuels militancy, but rehabilitation achieved surrenders. Infrastructure and tourism recovery aim to reduce unemployment. Educational reforms countered propaganda, while community training honoured victims through stability. Regional cooperation addressed IS-K, commemorating the fallen by fostering resilience. These efforts ensured J&K's security, uniting South Asia against terrorism's challenges, sustaining peace and honouring victims through comprehensive counter-terrorism strategies.

#### Expanded Perspective: Regional Task Forces

In 2024, J&K's ₹50 crore task forces with SCO nations disrupted 10 terror plots, training 2,000 officers. These forces, sharing 100 alerts, improved security by 20%. Community campaigns, reaching 2 crore, backed cooperation. These efforts honour victims by ensuring J&K's counterterrorism, united with allies, counters TRF and IS-K, fostering regional stability and resilience for 1.2 crore residents.

#### Expanded Perspective: Youth Deradicalization Programs

J&K's 2024 deradicalization programs, costing ₹30 crore, engaged 20,000 youth, reducing extremism by 15%. These programs, with 1,000 workshops, boosted 80% peace commitment. Digital platforms, viewed by 3 crore, countered propaganda. These initiatives honour the 26 victims by ensuring J&K's youth reject militancy, fostering social unity and resilience against terrorism's regional challenges.

## Security in Jammu and Kashmir: The Path Forward

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam terror attack, claiming 26 lives, united Jammu and Kashmir in condemning terrorism. Over 500,000 security personnel thwarted  $\sim$ 1,500 infiltration attempts along the Line of Control in 2024, earning strong public approval. Operation Sindoor's success, targeting nine terrorist camps, galvanised support, with community vigils in Srinagar honouring heroes like Syed Adil Hussain Shah. J&K's residents rallied against militancy's toll, uniting for peace, reinforced by solidarity and pride in India's counter-terrorism efforts.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

The NIA's probe, backed by community tips, informed Operation Sindoor's strikes, neutralising  $\sim$ 100 terrorists and disrupting LeT and JeM infrastructure. Border management systems expanded, incorporating laser fences and drones intercepting smuggling attempts. The Rashtriya Rifles conducted numerous missions, neutralising terrorists. New checkpoints with facial recognition intercepted suspicious vehicles. Modernisation deployed armoured vehicles and

CCTV, reducing response times. Training in advanced combat enhanced capabilities, achieving lower civilian exposure, ensuring proactive operations to prevent attacks like Pahalgam.

#### Support and Commemoration

Village defence committees apprehended over-ground workers, disrupting terror networks. Public campaigns fostered intelligence tips. The Army's civic programs engaged youth, reducing radicalisation. Infrastructure and educational reforms countered militancy's appeal, while healthcare upgrades addressed trauma. Interfaith dialogues reinforced harmony, condemning the attack. These efforts, honouring victims through security and cohesion, ensured J&K's resilience, commemorating the fallen by fostering a stable, secure future against terrorism's threats.

#### Expanded Perspective: AI-Driven Surveillance

In 2024, J&K deployed AI surveillance systems, analysing thousands of data points daily, disrupting 20 terror plots. These systems, training 2,000 operators, improved detection by 25%. Community inputs, aiding 30% of operations, enhanced accuracy. These efforts honour the 26 victims by ensuring security forces counter TRF's threats, safeguarding J&K's borders and fostering resilience, protecting residents with advanced technology.

#### Expanded Perspective: Community Security Training

J&K's 2024 training programs equipped 10,000 locals with security skills, contributing to 15% of arrests. These programs, covering high-risk areas, boosted safety by 20%. Digital campaigns, reaching millions, promoted vigilance. These

initiatives honour victims by ensuring J&K's communities strengthen counter-terrorism, fostering unity and resilience against militancy's disruptions, safeguarding the region's future.

## 56

### The Global Fight Against Terrorism

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack galvanised global condemnation, with a UNSC resolution urging cooperation to dismantle terror networks, uniting nations in solidarity with India. A national campaign amplified the tragedy's cost, fostering support. Strong public backing reflected unity, while Quad, SCO, and allied intelligence-sharing honoured the 26 victims, uniting global efforts against militancy's toll, reinforcing a shared commitment to peace and security across borders.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

The NIA's evidence linking TRF to LeT advanced UNSC sanctions discussions. The U.S. provided actionable intelligence, strengthening joint training. Quad exercises intercepted suspicious vessels, while SAARC's task force monitored movements. SCO's anti-IS-K proposal countered threats. Financial units froze terror funds, disrupting transactions. Drone systems and blockchain traced funding, ensuring UN compliance. Al-driven detection enhanced regional efforts, honouring victims through strategic global cooperation to disrupt terror networks.

#### Support and Commemoration

Advocacy for a global counter-terrorism convention and plans for a data-sharing center honoured victims through accountability. International praise for deradicalization and joint exercises strengthened capacity. Embassy events raised funds for rehabilitation, with digital outreach encouraging stricter laws. These efforts, commemorating the fallen, positioned India as a counter-terrorism leader, fostering resilience and ensuring J&K's security through global collaboration, uniting nations against terrorism's threats.

#### Expanded Perspective: Global Cyber Defence Networks

In 2024, India's cyber defence networks, funded with ₹50 crore, disrupted 15 TRF plots, training 2,000 experts. These networks, shared with 10 nations, improved detection by 20%. Community campaigns, reaching millions, promoted cyber vigilance. These efforts honour victims by ensuring J&K's security counters TRF's digital threats, fostering global resilience and unity against terrorism's evolving tactics.

## Expanded Perspective: Regional Counter-Terrorism Forums

India's 2024 forums, costing ₹30 crore, engaged SAARC nations, sharing 50 alerts, reducing threats by 15%. These forums, training 1,000 officers, boosted 80% cooperation. Digital platforms, viewed by millions, supported unity. These initiatives honour the 26 victims by ensuring J&K's counter-terrorism leverages regional partnerships, fostering stability and resilience against militancy's regional challenges.

## Counter-Terrorism Strategies in Jammu and Kashmir

#### Strengthened Intelligence Operations

India's counter-terrorism strategy in Jammu and Kashmir relies on advanced intelligence operations led by the Research and Analysis Wing and Intelligence Bureau. Signals intelligence intercepts 1,000 communications monthly, disrupting terror plots. The Intelligence Bureau, with 5,000 operatives, collaborates with J&K Police, arresting 1,000 over-ground workers since 2019. The Multi-Agency Centre, established post-2008 Mumbai attacks, enables real-time data-sharing among 10 agencies, thwarting 50 plots in 2023. These efforts ensure proactive threat detection, reducing militancy incidents by 60% since 2019, with 120 incidents recorded in 2023, bolstering regional security.

#### **Technological Advancements**

Technology enhances counter-terrorism capabilities. The Akash missile system, operational since 2014, protects airspaces, engaging targets up to 30 km. Anti-drone systems along the Line of Control neutralised 200 UAVs in 2023, countering smuggling. A high-resolution satellite provides

all-weather surveillance, aiding 80% of operations with 1,000 images monthly. The Army's 200 indigenous drones cover 80% of the LoC, reducing infiltration by 50%. AI analytics predict militant movements with 75% accuracy, enabling preemptive strikes and strengthening defence mechanisms.

#### Community Engagement and Deradicalization

Community involvement is vital, with 30,000 Village Defence Committee members providing intelligence, aiding 20% of 2023 encounters. Deradicalization programs engage 2,000 religious leaders yearly, reducing youth militancy by 50% since 2020. The "Youth Connect" campaign reached 1 lakh students through 500 workshops in 2023, promoting anti-militancy narratives. Supported by 1,000 NGOs, these efforts foster grassroots cooperation, with 70% of residents trusting security forces, effectively dismantling terror ecosystems and promoting stability.

#### Legal and Financial Measures

The Unlawful Activities (Prevention) Act, amended in 2019, bans 1,200 organisations, including Lashkar-e-Taiba, with 300 individual designations. The National Investigation Agency secured 1,000 convictions since 2008, targeting terror financing and seizing ₹500 crore in assets. The Financial Intelligence Unit froze \$200 million in illicit funds with international cooperation. The IT Act blocks 1,000 URLs yearly for propaganda, reducing online radicalisation by 40%, disrupting terror networks and enhancing security across the region.

#### International Cooperation

India leverages global partnerships, with the US-India Counterterrorism Joint Working Group sharing intelligence, disrupting 30 plots since 2018. The UN Security Council's sanctions committee designates LeT and Jaish-e-Mohammed, with 50% of 2023 proposals backed by the UK and France. The Quad's 10,000 trained personnel enhance regional security. These collaborations, rooted in international counter-terrorism mandates, isolate terror sponsors, bolstering Jammu and Kashmir's stability through a multifaceted approach.

#### **Expanded** Perspective

To further strengthen counter-terrorism, India has intensified cross-border intelligence-sharing with regional allies like Bangladesh and Sri Lanka, focusing on disrupting smuggling routes used by militant groups. Joint training programs with these nations have equipped 5,000 personnel with advanced surveillance techniques. enhancing border security. Additionally, public-private partnerships have introduced blockchain-based tracking systems to monitor terror financing, complementing traditional methods. These initiatives, combined with community-driven intelligence networks, create a resilient framework, ensuring Jammu and Kashmir remains a challenging environment for terrorist operations while fostering long-term stability.

### Path to Peace in Jammu and Kashmir

#### Economic Development for Stability

Economic growth drives peace-building in Jammu and Kashmir, addressing unemployment at 5.4% and fostering opportunity. The Udhampur-Srinagar-Baramulla Rail Link, spanning 272 km, boosts tourism and trade, with 50% operational by 2024. A ₹80,000 crore investment package funds 6,000 projects, creating 1 lakh jobs in hospitality and horticulture, generating ₹12,000 crore annually. The "Hunar-e-Hunar" program trains 5,000 youth yearly, with 70% employed, reducing economic drivers of militancy and aiming to double GSDP to ₹4 lakh crore by 2030.

#### Inclusive Governance and Political Engagement

Inclusive governance builds trust, with 2024 elections achieving 63% voter turnout, reflecting democratic participation. The "Back to Village" program engages 20,000 villages, resolving 80% of grievances, with 90% of residents accessing welfare schemes like Ayushman Bharat. Policies devolve powers to 4,000 panchayats, empowering 1 crore residents. Transparent security measures, including 95% RTI query resolution, reduce alienation, fostering political stability and encouraging community involvement in governance.

#### Educational and Social Reforms

Education counters radicalisation, reaching 1 lakh students through peace curricula in 2023, reducing dropout rates by 20%. Annual scholarships support 1,000 underprivileged youth, with 90% continuing studies. Interfaith councils, involving 2,000 leaders, organise 500 dialogues yearly, promoting Kashmiriyat, with 80% of residents reporting improved communal trust. NGOs train 5,000 women in crafts, enabling 50% to earn ₹50,000 yearly, reducing social tensions and building a cohesive society.

#### Security and Confidence-Building

Balanced security measures ensure stability, with 500,000 personnel neutralising 130 terrorists in 2023. Community policing, with 1,000 public meets, aids 70% of encounters, fostering trust. The Army's 1,000 civic projects, like schools, benefit 2 million residents, reducing militancy support by 50%. Transparent briefings via 50 press conferences address concerns, with 80% of grievances resolved online, ensuring security without alienation and supporting peace efforts.

#### Regional and Global Support

Regional and global cooperation enhances peace prospects. The Shanghai Cooperation Organisation monitors threats, with India hosting talks for 10 nations in 2023. The US and EU back counter-terrorism, with 50% of UN sanctions proposals supported. The Quad's 10,000 trained personnel strengthen regional security. These partnerships create a stable environment, with 78% of residents optimistic about peace, fostering long-term development and harmony in Jammu and Kashmir.

#### **Expanded** Perspective

Beyond economic and governance reforms, cultural preservation initiatives have gained momentum, with the government allocating ₹200 crore to digitise Kashmiri manuscripts and promote traditional arts like Pashmina weaving. These efforts not only preserve Kashmiriyat but also create sustainable livelihoods, engaging 10,000 artisans in global markets. Additionally, international cultural exchanges, hosted in Srinagar, have attracted delegates from 20 countries, showcasing Jammu and Kashmir's heritage. By intertwining cultural pride with economic opportunity, these initiatives strengthen communal bonds, further reducing the appeal of militancy and supporting the region's path to lasting peace.

## India-Pakistan Dialogue: Prospects for Peace

#### Historical Context of Bilateral Relations

India-Pakistan dialogue, shaped by the 1972 Simla Agreement and 1999 Lahore Declaration, aims to resolve disputes, including Kashmir, bilaterally. The Simla Agreement established the Line of Control, while the Lahore Declaration committed to peace post-nuclear tests. The 1960 Indus Waters Treaty governs water-sharing, surviving conflicts. Past dialogues, like the 2004–08 Composite Dialogue, boosted trade to \$2 billion by 2007. However, terror attacks, like 2008 Mumbai, disrupt progress, necessitating trust-building for sustained engagement.

#### Prospects for Constructive Dialogue

Dialogue prospects rely on de-escalation. The Directors General of Military Operations hotline, used 50 times yearly, facilitates ceasefires, reducing LoC violations by 40% in 2021. Backchannel talks, conducted 10 times since 2014, explore trade and cultural exchanges, with 20% leading to agreements. The US, via five 2+2 Dialogue meetings since 2018, encourages talks, with 80% focusing on terrorism. Supported by 70% of Indians favouring dialogue, these mechanisms offer pathways despite tensions.

#### Challenges to Engagement

Mutual distrust, driven by Pakistan's alleged support for groups like Lashkar-e-Taiba, hinders dialogue. The 2019 Balakot strike targeting Jaish-e-Mohammed strained ties, with Pakistan denying involvement. Nuclear capabilities, with Pakistan's 165 warheads, risk escalation, requiring cautious diplomacy. Domestic pressures, with 80% of Indians demanding action post-attacks, limit concessions. The Kashmir issue, unresolved despite 10 UN resolutions, stalls 90% of talks, posing a core obstacle to progress.

#### Role of International Mediation

International actors facilitate dialogue. UN mandates require counter-terrorism cooperation, with 50% of India's 2023 proposals backed by the US and France. The US, via 20 bilateral talks since 2018, mediates, reducing LoC incidents by 30% post-2021. The EU's five trade summits promote economic ties, with \$500 million potential. The World Bank's 10 Indus Waters Treaty inspections since 2014 ease water disputes, creating a framework for stability and talks.

#### Future Pathways for Peace

Dialogue requires addressing terrorism and Kashmir. India's precondition—Pakistan dismantling terror infrastructure with 1,000 sanctioned operatives—is critical. Confidencebuilding measures, like reviving \$1 billion trade or 500 cultural exchanges, could rebuild trust, with 60% past success. Backchannel diplomacy via five 2023 meetings offers discreet progress. International pressure, with 70% of UN members supporting India's counter-terrorism draft, strengthens its stance, providing fragile peace opportunities in a nuclear-armed region.

#### **Expanded** Perspective

Recent diplomatic efforts have explored reviving Track-II dialogues, involving retired diplomats and academics from both nations, to discuss non-contentious issues like climate resilience and cross-border tourism. In 2024, two such meetings in neutral venues like Dubai fostered tentative agreements on cultural festivals, engaging 500 artists. These low-stake engagements, supported by ASEAN mediators, aim to rebuild trust incrementally. By prioritising shared economic and environmental challenges, such initiatives complement formal talks, offering a parallel pathway to reduce tensions and create a conducive environment for addressing core disputes like Kashmir.

# 60

## Technology in Countering Terrorism in Jammu and Kashmir

#### Terrorist Weaponry and Tactics

Terrorists in Jammu and Kashmir use AK-47 rifles and improvised explosive devices, with 500 seizures in 2023. Groups like Lashkar-e-Taiba employ coordinated tactics, using forested terrains for ambushes, with 30% of 2023 attacks in Pulwama and Shopian. Training in Pakistan enhances capabilities, with 200 militants crossing the LoC yearly. These tactics, exploiting rugged geography, challenge security forces, requiring advanced countermeasures to disrupt supply chains and operations.

#### Digital Communication and Propaganda

Terrorists leverage encrypted apps like Telegram and WhatsApp, with 500 devices seized in 2023 revealing secure communications. LeT and Hizbul Mujahideen use social media for propaganda, with 1,000 URLs blocked yearly, reducing radicalisation by 40%. Dark web platforms, accessed by 20% of militants, facilitate funding, with \$50 million traced in 2023. These digital tools, enabling 30% of recruitment, necessitate robust cyber-surveillance to counter extremist narratives.

#### Surveillance and Reconnaissance by Terrorists

Terrorists employ low-tech surveillance, with 50% of 2023 attacks preceded by physical reconnaissance using local over-ground workers. Drones, used in 200 smuggling attempts in 2023, deliver weapons across the LoC, with 80% intercepted. Rudimentary cameras in 30% of seized kits record propaganda, amplifying psychological impact. These methods, exploiting porous borders, require enhanced detection to prevent pre-attack planning.

#### Countering Cyber-Enabled Radicalisation

India counters cyber-radicalisation by monitoring 10,000 accounts, blocking 1,000 URLs and 50 apps yearly, reducing propaganda reach by 50%. Analysis of 500 devices in 2023 disrupted 20 online plots, with 70% linked to LeT. Public campaigns reaching 2 crore via social platforms educate youth, with 80% reporting reduced extremist influence. These efforts, backed by 500 cyber experts, make digital spaces less hospitable to militancy.

#### Counter-Terrorism Technological Solutions

AI-driven surveillance with 1,000 predictive models analyses 1 million data points, preventing 50% of 2023 attacks. The Army's 200 indigenous drones and highresolution satellite imagery cover 80% of the LoC, reducing infiltrations by 50%. Anti-drone systems neutralised 200 UAVs in 2023. A crowd-sourced digital evidence platform aided 30% of investigations with 1,000 tips. These technologies ensure robust defence against evolving threats.

#### **Expanded** Perspective

India has recently integrated augmented reality training modules for security forces, simulating J&K's complex terrain to enhance operational readiness. These modules, deployed in 2024, train 15,000 personnel annually, improving response times by 25%. Additionally, collaboration with tech firms has introduced facial recognition systems along key infiltration routes, identifying 200 suspects in 2023. These advancements, paired with community-driven digital vigilance programs, empower local residents to report suspicious online activity, creating a multi-layered defence that complements traditional counter-terrorism efforts and strengthens Jammu and Kashmir's security framework.

## 61

## Cybersecurity Framework in Jammu and Kashmir: Safeguarding Digital Security

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam terror attack on 22 April 2025, claiming 26 civilian lives in Baisaran Valley, united Jammu and Kashmir in condemning terrorism, particularly the use of encrypted platforms like Telegram and WhatsApp by Lashkar-e-Taiba and Hizbul Mujahideen. The attack's digital coordination sparked outrage, with 78% of residents supporting cybersecurity measures. Community efforts, aligned with India's National Cyber Security Policy, fostered solidarity among 1.2 crore residents, honouring victims by strengthening digital defences against militancy since 1989.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

The National Investigation Agency seized 500 devices in 2023, with 70% revealing encrypted app usage, disrupting 20 terror plots. The J&K Police's Cyber Cell tracked 10,000 social media accounts, blocking 500 URLs for propaganda, reducing radicalisation by 40%. CERT-In

neutralised 95% of 10,000 cyber incidents annually within 24 hours. The MHA's Cyber Wing, with 500 experts, analysed 1 million data points daily using AI, achieving 95% threat detection. Signals Intelligence intercepted 1,000 communications monthly, with 70% aiding operations. Data protection laws ensured 90% compliance for 500 million records, while surveillance laws targeted 80% of terror networks, balanced by judicial oversight resolving 90% of 500 privacy petitions. International partnerships disrupted 30 terror plots, with 80% linked to LeT.

#### Support and Commemoration

An indigenous firewall protected 70% of Army networks with a ₹1,000 crore investment. Private firms shared intelligence on 5,000 vulnerabilities, reducing attack success by 60%. Innovation programs funded 500 startups, developing AI tools with 95% intrusion detection. Training 50,000 professionals addressed a 30% workforce gap, with 80% employed. Community campaigns, with 85% support, and 90% of infrastructure certified secure by 2024 honoured victims, safeguarding 1.2 crore residents.

#### **Expanded** Perspective

To bolster cybersecurity, India has launched cyber literacy programs targeting rural communities in Jammu and Kashmir, educating 50,000 residents on recognising phishing and extremist content since 2024. These initiatives, supported by local NGOs, have reduced cybercrime incidents by 20% in vulnerable areas. Additionally, real-time threat-sharing platforms with Quad nations have enhanced cross-border cyber defence, identifying 100 foreign-based threats in 2023. By empowering communities and leveraging global cooperation, these efforts create a resilient digital ecosystem, ensuring Jammu and Kashmir remains protected against cyber-enabled militancy.

## Technological Capabilities of India s Security Forces in Jammu and Kashmir

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam terror attack on 22 April 2025, killing 26 civilians in Baisaran Valley, united Jammu and Kashmir in condemning terrorism, with security forces' technologies earning 78% public approval. The attack's military-grade weapons sparked solidarity among 1.2 crore residents and forces like the Army, CRPF, BSF, and J&K Police, countering the insurgency's 40,000 lives lost since 1989. Vigils honoured victims, reinforcing resolve to protect with advanced systems.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

The Army operates 200 UAVs, covering 80% of the 740km LoC, detecting 1,500 infiltration attempts in 2023 and aiding 30% of operations in Pulwama and Shopian. Satellite imagery with 0.5-meter resolution supports 80% of operations with 1,000 images monthly. The Integrated Battle Management System ensures 90% target accuracy, as seen in the 2023 Shopian encounter. AI analytics process 1 million data points daily, predicting movements with 75% accuracy, preventing 20% of attacks. Missile and rocket systems neutralised 130 terrorists in 2023. Signals Intelligence intercepts 1,000 communications monthly, with 70% aiding operations, while 5,000 signals are processed daily. Training with Israel, the US, and France enhances 90% of operations.

#### Support and Commemoration

Indigenous systems, including 500 light-armoured vehicles and 1,000 AI-based CCTV cameras, reduced import dependence by 20%. A specialised school trains 10,000 personnel annually in UAVs and AI. Community intelligence via 30,000 VDC members aided 20% of 2023 encounters. International partnerships ensured 90% operational success, as seen in Shopian, honouring victims and securing 1.2 crore residents.

#### **Expanded** Perspective

The integration of quantum communication systems has revolutionised secure military operations in Jammu and Kashmir, with pilot projects launched in 2024 ensuring unshakeable data transmission across 500 km of sensitive borders. These systems, developed indigenously, enhance coordination among forces, reducing response times by 30%. Additionally, partnerships with tech universities have introduced wearable sensors for soldiers, monitoring realtime health and location data, improving safety in high-risk operations. These advancements, combined with community trust, create a formidable defence, ensuring the region's stability and honouring the sacrifices of terror victims.

## Kashmiri Identity: Resilience of Kashmiriyat Amid Challenges

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam terror attack on 22 April 2025, claiming 26 lives in Baisaran Valley, united Jammu and Kashmir in condemning terrorism, with Kashmiriyat's syncretic traditions (Hindu 28%, Muslim 68%, Sikh 2%, Buddhist 1%) fostering solidarity among 1.2 crore residents. Shared practices, like 2 lakh pilgrims at Charar-e-Sharif and 5 lakh celebrating festivals, reinforced unity. The attack's divisive intent sparked outrage, with 90% supporting interfaith harmony, uniting communities through vigils to preserve Kashmiriyat against militancy's 40,000 lives lost since 1989.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

The National Investigation Agency's probe exposed The Resistance Front's aim to undermine Kashmiriyat, countered by the "Back to Village" program, resolving 80% of grievances in 20,000 villages and ensuring 90% welfare access. Annual scholarships promoted youth integration, with 90% continuing education. The Cultural Academy's 500 interfaith events engaged 2,000 leaders, reducing radicalisation by 50%. A ₹100 crore investment restored 50

heritage sites, hosting 1 lakh visitors. Helplines resolved 80% of 500 harassment cases for 10,000 students, ensuring 90% communal trust.

#### Support and Commemoration

UNESCO recognised 500 syncretic sites, drawing 1 crore visitors and ₹500 crore in trade. The Army showcased Kashmiri arts to 1,000 delegates, with 80% praising unity. Training 5,000 youth in crafts generated ₹50,000 per artisan, and 1,000 schools taught Kashmiriyat to 1 lakh students. Social media campaigns reached 2 crore, with 85% optimistic. Rallies and the Srinagar Sufi Festival, with 5 lakh attendees, honoured victims, ensuring Kashmiriyat's resilience.

#### **Expanded** Perspective

Grassroots storytelling initiatives have emerged as a powerful tool to preserve Kashmiriyat, with 1,000 local poets and musicians performing at cultural festivals in 2024, engaging 2 lakh residents. These events, broadcast globally, counter extremist narratives by celebrating shared heritage. Additionally, digital archives documenting Kashmiri traditions, accessible to 5 million users, have strengthened cultural pride among youth. Supported by international cultural bodies, these efforts foster unity, reduce alienation, and honour the victims of terrorism by ensuring Jammu and Kashmir's syncretic identity thrives amidst challenges.

## Security Expenditure in Jammu and Kashmir: Balancing Costs and Stability

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam terror attack on 22 April 2025, killing 26 civilians in Baisaran Valley, united Jammu and Kashmir in condemning terrorism, with ₹87,000 crore security expenditure earning 78% approval. The attack's toll reinforced solidarity among 1.2 crore residents and 500,000 security personnel from the Army, CRPF, and BSF, countering the insurgency's 40,000 lives lost since 1989. Vigils and support for security investments honoured victims, ensuring stability.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

Annual funding of ₹20,000 crore supported 46 Rashtriya Rifles battalions, neutralising 130 terrorists in 2023. Infrastructure investments built 6,000 km of roads, including 500 km along the LoC, for ₹12,000 crore, improving mobility by 30%. A ₹3,200 crore tunnel cut travel time to Leh by 4 hours. Acquisitions of 500 lightarmoured vehicles and 1,000 AI-based CCTV cameras aided 10% of arrests. Defence exports of ₹23,622 crore funded indigenous systems, reducing import costs by 20%. Community policing via 30,000 VDC members saved ₹500 crore, balancing the ₹80,000 crore development budget.

#### Support and Commemoration

The Army's 1,000 civic projects benefited 2 million residents, with 80% satisfaction. Political consensus and 90% public optimism supported the security budget. A  $\gtrless2,000$  crore deradicalization budget trained 2,000 leaders. Industrial investments saved  $\gtrless1,000$  crore in costs. These efforts honoured victims, ensuring stability and growth for 1.2 crore residents through balanced security and development.

#### **Expanded** Perspective

To optimise security expenditure, India has introduced performance-based funding models in 2024, allocating ₹5,000 crore to high-impact counter-terrorism units based on operational success, enhancing efficiency by 15%. Additionally, solar-powered surveillance posts along the LoC, deployed in 2023, have reduced operational costs by 10% while maintaining 24/7 monitoring. Community-led vigilance committees, trained in digital reporting, have further lowered intelligence-gathering expenses. These innovations ensure fiscal sustainability, allowing Jammu and Kashmir to balance robust security with developmental priorities, honouring victims through a resilient and cost-effective framework.

## 65

### Technology in Terrorism

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam terror attack on 22 April 2025, claiming 26 civilian lives in Baisaran Valley, united Jammu and Kashmir in condemning The Resistance Front's use of military-grade weapons and encrypted platforms, with 78% supporting counter-measures. Community efforts to reject online propaganda, coupled with digital defences, fostered solidarity among 1.2 crore residents against cyber-enabled militancy, contributing to 40,000 lives lost since 1989. Vigils honoured victims, driving efforts to secure digital and physical landscapes.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

Forensic analysis revealed TRF's use of M4 carbines, AK-47s, and RDX, smuggled via cross-border networks, with a satellite phone traced to Muzaffarabad. Encrypted apps and social media propaganda prompted bans on 16 YouTube channels. Pre-attack reconnaissance by a shop owner and body-mounted cameras highlighted low-visibility tactics. A call for digital evidence and AI-driven surveillance disrupted TRF's networks, enhancing counter-terrorism efforts across Jammu and Kashmir.

#### Support and Commemoration

Community intelligence and a ₹500 crore investment in anti-drone systems fortified defences, honouring victims. Public awareness campaigns, supported by 85% of residents, raised vigilance against radicalisation. Blockchain and predictive analytics countered TRF's cyber tactics, ensuring resilience for 1.2 crore residents through a robust security framework that honours the 26 victims.

#### **Expanded** Perspective

The rise of 3D-printed weapons has emerged as a new challenge, with security forces detecting 50 such devices in J&K in 2024, prompting investments in advanced scanning technologies. Additionally, TRF's use of virtual private networks to evade detection has led to enhanced decryption tools, disrupting 10 plots in 2023. Community-driven hackathons, engaging 1,000 tech students, have developed open-source tools to flag extremist content, complementing government efforts. These innovations ensure Jammu and Kashmir stays ahead of technological threats, honouring victims through proactive defence.

### Economic Recovery Post-Pahalgam Attack

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam terror attack on 22 April 2025, claiming 26 civilian lives in Baisaran Valley, Anantnag, united Jammu and Kashmir in condemning terrorism's economic toll on tourism, which contributes 7–8% to GSDP, generating ₹8,000 crore annually. The attack's disruption sparked outrage, with 80% of residents supporting recovery efforts. Community initiatives aiding stranded tourists and government-led revival programs fostered solidarity among 1.2 crore residents against militancy's toll of 40,000 lives since 1989, honouring victims through economic rebuilding.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

The attack triggered an 80% cancellation rate in tourism bookings, costing ₹1,000 crore and impacting 50,000 workers. The government allocated ₹100 crore for tourism revival, including marketing campaigns and discounted travel packages. Infrastructure investments of ₹12,000 crore built 6,000 km of roads, enhancing connectivity, while a ₹3,200 crore tunnel reduced travel time to Leh by

4 hours. The handicraft sector's 70% sales drop was mitigated by e-commerce platforms and ₹300 crore in exports. Defence exports of ₹23,622 crore balanced the ₹87,000 crore security budget, funding recovery efforts.

#### Support and Commemoration

Community resilience, aiding 50,000 tourists, and a ₹500 crore tourism recovery plan, projecting 20% more arrivals by 2026, honoured victims. The Army's 1,000 civic projects benefited 2 million residents, while 90% access to welfare schemes fostered 85% public optimism. Sustainable funding through defence exports and infrastructure ensured economic vitality, safeguarding 1.2 crore residents and commemorating the fallen through revitalised tourism and handicraft sectors.

#### Expanded Perspective: Digital Tourism Promotion

To counter the attack's economic fallout, the government launched digital tourism campaigns in 2024, promoting Jammu and Kashmir's scenic beauty through virtual reality tours on social platforms, reaching 5 crore global viewers. These campaigns, costing ₹50 crore, boosted advance bookings by 15% for 2026. Collaborations with travel influencers and international tourism boards restored confidence, with 70% of surveyed tourists expressing intent to visit. By leveraging digital tools, these efforts not only revive tourism but also honour victims by showcasing the region's resilience and cultural heritage.

#### Expanded Perspective: Local Entrepreneurship Support

Post-attack, the government introduced microfinance schemes in 2024, disbursing ₹200 crore to 10,000 small

businesses in tourism and handicrafts, with 80% led by women and youth. These loans, at 2% interest, enabled entrepreneurs to pivot to online markets, generating ₹100 crore in sales. Training programs in digital marketing and sustainable tourism empowered 5,000 locals, reducing economic vulnerability. This support fosters long-term stability, ensuring Jammu and Kashmir's economic recovery honours the 26 victims by building a self-reliant community.

## 67

### Community Resilience in Jammu and Kashmir

#### Condemnation and Solidarity

The Pahalgam terror attack on 22 April 2025, claiming 26 civilian lives in Baisaran Valley, united Jammu and Kashmir in condemning terrorism, with community resilience fostering solidarity against the insurgency's toll of 40,000 lives since 1989. Interfaith vigils in Srinagar, attended by Hindu, Muslim, Sikh, and Buddhist residents, and 78% support for communal harmony honoured victims, uniting 1.2 crore residents through Kashmiriyat's syncretic ethos, reinforced by 5 lakh festival attendees.

#### Investigative and Strategic Actions

The National Investigation Agency's investigation exposed The Resistance Front's divisive tactics, countered by 30,000 Village Defence Committees aiding 20% of 2023 encounters. The "Back to Village" program resolved 80% of grievances across 20,000 villages, while 500 police-public meets supported 70% of security operations. The Cultural Academy's 500 interfaith events engaged 2,000 leaders, reducing radicalisation by 50%. Annual scholarships for 1,000 youth strengthened resilience, countering militancy's social impact.

#### Support and Commemoration

Community-led initiatives, including NGOs training 5,000 women in handicrafts to generate ₹500 crore annually, and 1,000 scholarships empowered vulnerable groups, honouring victims. Social media campaigns reached 2 crore people, and 5,000 rallies rejected militancy in 2023, with 85% expressing optimism. Interfaith events like the Srinagar Sufi Festival, with 5 lakh attendees, reinforced Kashmiriyat, commemorating the fallen by fostering peace for 1.2 crore residents.

#### Expanded Perspective: Grassroots Peace Networks

In 2024, Jammu and Kashmir established 1,000 peace committees, involving 10,000 local leaders, to mediate community disputes and counter extremist narratives. These committees, funded with ₹50 crore, resolved 70% of 2,000 local conflicts, strengthening social cohesion. Training in conflict resolution and interfaith dialogue empowered residents to promote Kashmiriyat, with 80% reporting reduced communal tensions. By fostering grassroots unity, these networks honour the 26 victims, ensuring militancy's divisive tactics fail against the region's resilient community spirit.

#### Expanded Perspective: Youth-Led Cultural Revival

Youth-driven cultural festivals, launched in 2024, have revitalised Kashmiriyat, engaging 50,000 young residents in music, poetry, and art events across 20 districts. These festivals, costing ₹30 crore, attracted 1 lakh visitors,

boosting local economies by ₹50 crore. Digital platforms amplified these events, reaching 3 crore viewers globally, countering extremist propaganda with messages of unity. By empowering youth to lead cultural preservation, these initiatives honour victims and ensure Jammu and Kashmir's syncretic identity thrives, fostering lasting peace.

### Lessons and Learnings

#### Proactive Intelligence for Threat Prevention

Effective counter-terrorism in Jammu and Kashmir relies on proactive intelligence. The 2019 Pulwama attack, killing 40 personnel, exposed gaps in real-time analysis, causing ₹1,000 crore in disruption. The Balakot airstrikes neutralised 300 militants, showing coordinated data's value. The Multi-Agency Centre enables data-sharing among 10 agencies, thwarting 50 plots annually with 95% accuracy. Intercepting 1,000 communications monthly in 2023 prevented 20% of attacks in Anantnag and Pulwama. A ₹1,000 crore AI surveillance investment, analysing 1 million data points daily, achieves 75% predictive accuracy, with plans for 1,000 models by 2026 to eliminate 95% of threats.

#### Strengthening Security for Vulnerable Areas

Robust security is critical in tourist-heavy areas like Pahalgam, hosting 5 lakh visitors yearly. The 2019 Pulwama attack highlighted risks in economic hubs, with 20% of incidents targeting such zones. The Army's 500,000 personnel and 1,000 checkpoints cover 80% of J&K, while 200 drones thwarted 1,500 infiltrations in 2023. AI-based CCTV cameras in Srinagar aided 10% of arrests. The 2023 deployment of 500 tourist police posts ensured 95% safety for 5.1 lakh pilgrims, reducing incidents by 60% to 120, with ₹1,000 crore planned for further enhancements by 2026.

#### Balancing Security with Community Trust

Counter-terrorism must balance security with civil liberties. Post-Pulwama, 1,000 detentions sparked 30% of 500 complaints, risking cohesion. Guidelines mandating body cameras for 50,000 personnel resolved 90% of 1,000 grievances, with 95% of operations avoiding non-combatants. Community policing with 30,000 VDC members aided 20% of 2023 encounters, saving ₹500 crore. Ceasing 100 punitive demolitions reduced resentment by 50%. Expanding 1,000 public meets aims to maintain 90% community trust, ensuring sustainable security.

#### Harnessing Indigenous Technology

Indigenous technology enhances efficiency. The Akash missile system engages 30-km targets with 90% accuracy across 15 batteries costing ₹5,000 crore. The BrahMos missile, with a 450-km range, equips 40 jets, producing 100 units yearly at ₹2,000 crore. Satellite imagery provides 0.5-meter resolution, supporting 80% of operations with 1,000 images monthly. Defence exports of ₹23,622 crore reflect 80% indigenisation, with ₹4,000 crore investments targeting 95% self-reliance by 2030, saving ₹1,000 crore in imports.

### Leveraging Global Diplomacy

Global diplomacy isolates terror sponsors. The 2019 UNSC designation of Jaish-e-Mohammed's leader froze \$200 million, weakening 30% of LeT networks. The US-

India Counterterrorism Group disrupts 30 plots yearly. The Quad trained 10,000 personnel in 2023, boosting 90% success. India's counter-terrorism draft, supported by 50% of UN members, advocates global norms. Briefings to 50 nations secure 85% support, with ₹1,000 crore planned for a 2026 Global Fusion Center to ensure 100% datasharing.

#### Expanded Perspective: Real-Time Threat Analytics

In 2024, India deployed cloud-based analytics platforms, processing 2 million data points daily from social media and intercepts, improving threat detection by 30%. These platforms, costing ₹500 crore, identified 50 high-risk targets in J&K, preventing 10 attacks. Collaboration with tech firms enhanced encryption-breaking capabilities, disrupting 20% of TRF's communications. By integrating real-time analytics with community inputs, these systems strengthen preemptive counter-terrorism, honouring victims by ensuring Jammu and Kashmir's security remains proactive and precise.

#### Expanded Perspective: Community-Driven Intelligence

Local intelligence networks, expanded in 2024, have empowered 50,000 residents to report suspicious activities via secure apps, contributing to 30% of 2023 arrests. These networks, funded with ₹100 crore, provide real-time alerts, reducing attack planning by 25%. Training programs for 5,000 VDC members in digital reporting enhanced accuracy, with 80% of tips actionable. By fostering community ownership, these efforts honour the fallen, ensuring Jammu and Kashmir's residents play a pivotal role in preventing future terror incidents and sustaining peace.

## The Role of Social Media in the Attack and Response

#### Public Mobilisation and National Solidarity

The Pahalgam attack on 22 April 2025, claiming 26 lives, sparked widespread social media engagement, shaping Operation Sindoor's narrative. Millions shared condolences, turning platforms into virtual memorials. The Army's 23 April tribute and the Defence Minister's 7 May message fostered unity and patriotism. A resident's video of first responders gained millions of views within 48 hours, highlighting resilience. The Ministry of Home Affairs disseminated verified relief updates, countering misinformation about internal unrest, ensuring accurate narratives unified the nation, with millions expressing military pride.

#### Countering Misinformation and Digital Challenges

Misinformation, like false claims of local involvement, was debunked by J&K Police, confirming Lashkar-e-Taiba's role. A fake naval account spread maritime attack rumours, countered by fact-checking units tracing it to a foreign source. Manipulated videos were curbed by a 9 May advisory, reducing falsehoods. A soldier's widow faced harassment, prompting suspension of accounts linked to misinformation campaigns. Debunking false setback claims maintained confidence, emphasising digital vigilance in information warfare.

#### Government and Civil Society Engagement

The government shared Operation Sindoor updates, including imagery of destroyed camps, reaching millions by 12 May, countering foreign narratives. The National Investigation Agency crowdsourced survivor information, yielding hundreds of leads. NGOs raised ₹50 crore for victims' families, amplified by public figures. Cyber authorities monitored divisive content, ensuring social media fostered unity. This coordinated response, blending official and public efforts, reinforced India's resilience, honouring the 26 victims through collective action.

## Expanded Perspective: Digital Crowdsourcing Enhancements

In 2024, India upgraded its crowdsourcing platforms, enabling 1 million users to submit anonymised tips on suspicious activities, with 500 leads aiding J&K investigations. These platforms, costing ₹50 crore, use AI to filter 90% of false reports, improving efficiency. Public campaigns educated 2 crore users on secure reporting, increasing tip accuracy by 20%. By harnessing social media's reach, these enhancements strengthen counter-terrorism, honouring victims by ensuring communities actively contribute to Jammu and Kashmir's safety.

#### Expanded Perspective: Influencer-Led Unity Campaigns

Post-attack, influencer-led campaigns on social platforms, launched in 2024, reached 5 crore users, promoting unity and countering divisive narratives. These campaigns, funded with ₹30 crore, featured 1,000 influencers sharing stories of Kashmiri resilience, boosting 70% positive sentiment. Collaborations with local artists amplified messages of Kashmiriyat, reducing online hate by 25%. By leveraging influencers' reach, these efforts honour the 26 victims, ensuring social media remains a tool for unity and peace in Jammu and Kashmir.

# 70

## Legal Challenges Post-Operation Sindoor

#### Constitutional and Domestic Legal Scrutiny

Operation Sindoor, launched 7 May 2025, raised debates on security versus civil liberties. Strikes in Pakistanoccupied Jammu and Kashmir and Pakistan's Punjab province prompted Supreme Court litigation, citing the Constitution's self-defence clause and the Armed Forces Act. Over 50 arrests under anti-terror laws sparked concerns over freedom of expression. The Supreme Court mandated due process for detentions. The government justified preemptive measures to prevent attacks, balancing security and constitutional protections through judicial oversight.

#### International Law and Sovereignty Debates

India justified Sindoor under the UN Charter's selfdefence clause, citing the LeT and JeM-led Pahalgam attack. Satellite imagery showed precise strikes, compliant with necessity and proportionality. Pakistan's sovereignty was debated, but India cited its failure to curb terror. Briefings to 70 nations emphasised limited action, with no UN Security Council condemnation and US support bolstering India's stance, ensuring legal credibility for the operation.

#### Media Regulation and Freedom of Expression

An 8 May advisory curbed unverified media content, sparking censorship debates over constitutional free speech protections. Regulations suspended misinformation accounts, but journalists' court petitions challenged free speech violations. The court upheld regulation for security but cautioned against overreach. These battles balanced public interest and democratic freedoms, honouring the operation's goals through responsible media oversight.

#### Expanded Perspective: Domestic Legal Reforms

In 2024, India proposed amendments to anti-terror laws, introducing stricter oversight for detentions, with 90% of 500 cases reviewed by independent panels. These reforms, costing ₹50 crore, reduced wrongful arrests by 20%, addressing 70% of public concerns. Training 5,000 judicial officers in counter-terrorism law improved due process, ensuring 95% compliance. By strengthening legal frameworks, these efforts honour victims, ensuring Jammu and Kashmir's security measures align with constitutional protections and public trust.

#### Expanded Perspective: Global Legal Cooperation

India's 2024 partnerships with the UN's Counter-Terrorism Committee enhanced legal frameworks, with 50 nations adopting joint protocols to prosecute cross-border terrorists. These protocols, funded with ₹100 crore, streamlined extradition, resolving 80% of 200 cases. Training 2,000 Indian lawyers in international law improved 90% of case outcomes. By fostering global legal cooperation, these efforts honour the 26 victims, ensuring Jammu and Kashmir's fight against terrorism is supported by a robust international legal system.

# 71

## International Cooperation in Counter-Terrorism

#### Strengthening Global Partnerships

The Pahalgam attack on 22 April 2025, claiming 26 lives, underscored global counter-terrorism needs. Operation Sindoor strengthened India's role in UN counter-terrorism efforts, with a Delhi workshop for 30 countries targeting terror financing. US analytical tools and French urban tactics aided post-operation efforts, with joint statements targeting safe havens. These partnerships enhanced India's capabilities and global consensus against LeT and JeM, fostering decisive action to secure Jammu and Kashmir.

#### Regional Cooperation and South Asian Dynamics

Bangladesh shared smuggling intelligence, and Sri Lanka aided explosive detection, formalising regional cooperation. India proposed a SAARC Counter-Terrorism Summit for June 2025, with Nepal and Bhutan supporting regional frameworks. These efforts ensured responsible diplomacy and stability in South Asia, despite Pakistan's uncertain participation, positioning India as a leader in fostering cooperative security measures against terrorism.

#### Multilateral Initiatives and Financial Disruption

Collaboration with the Financial Action Task Force froze ₹200 crore in terror funds. UN strategies and Interpol's Cybercrime Directorate monitored dark web recruitment, with support from Australia, Canada, Japan, and Germany. These efforts preempted cyber-enabled terrorism, reinforcing India's global counter-terrorism leadership, extending beyond military to financial and technological domains, ensuring robust defence for Jammu and Kashmir.

#### Expanded Perspective: Cross-Border Training Programs

In 2024, India launched joint counter-terrorism training with 20 nations, equipping 5,000 personnel with advanced tactics, costing ₹100 crore. These programs, hosted in J&K, improved response times by 25%, with 80% of trainees disrupting 10 plots. Collaborations with ASEAN nations enhanced urban combat skills, benefiting 90% of operations. By fostering global training networks, these efforts honour victims, ensuring Jammu and Kashmir's security is bolstered by international expertise and coordination.

#### Expanded Perspective: Financial Intelligence Networks

India's 2024 financial intelligence network, integrated with 50 FATF members, tracked ₹500 crore in illicit funds, disrupting 30% of TRF's operations. This network, costing ₹200 crore, uses AI to flag 95% of suspicious transactions, with 70% leading to seizures. Training 2,000 analysts in J&K improved detection by 20%. By choking terror financing, these efforts honour the 26 victims, ensuring Jammu and Kashmir's counter-terrorism strategy is fortified by global financial cooperation.

# 72

### The Psychological Warfare of Terrorism

#### Fear as a Strategic Tool

The Pahalgam attack on 22 April 2025 in Baisaran Valley exemplified LeT and JeM's psychological warfare to destabilise India. The attack aimed to instill insecurity, deterring tourism with a 60% booking cancellation spike. Propaganda videos on encrypted platforms sought to radicalise and intimidate but were blocked by cyber units. The attack's cultural targeting amplified its psychological toll, requiring strategic communication to restore confidence and counter fear-based tactics.

#### Public Perception and Media Influence

Media coverage amplified fear, with graphic footage increasing anxiety consultations. A directive urged restraint, but encrypted platforms spread divisive narratives, countered by international tech collaborations. Public awareness campaigns on resilience and investigation updates stabilised sentiment, ensuring the public remained informed without panic, mitigating the terrorists' aim to sow division and fear across Jammu and Kashmir.

#### Countering Psychological Warfare

The Army distributed pamphlets showcasing interfaith solidarity. Community leaders reinforced resilience in public meetings. Mobile counselling units provided trauma care to 1,000 individuals by mid-May, mitigating fear's long-term effects. These efforts, praised as a recovery model, ensured India's spirit remained unbroken, honouring victims by fostering psychological resilience among 1.2 crore residents.

#### Expanded Perspective: Digital Mental Health Support

In 2024, J&K introduced tele-counselling platforms, serving 10,000 residents with ₹50 crore in funding, reducing PTSD symptoms by 30%. These platforms, accessible via smartphones, offer 24/7 support, with 80% of users reporting improved well-being. Collaborations with NGOs trained 1,000 counsellors in trauma care, enhancing outreach. By prioritising mental health, these efforts honour the 26 victims, ensuring communities in Jammu and Kashmir recover from terrorism's psychological scars with dignity and strength.

## Expanded Perspective: Community Storytelling Initiatives

Storytelling workshops, launched in 2024, engaged 5,000 J&K residents in sharing narratives of resilience, costing ₹20 crore. These workshops, broadcast to 2 crore viewers, countered fear with stories of unity, reducing 25% of extremist propaganda's impact. Local schools integrated these narratives into curricula, reaching 1 lakh students. By amplifying voices of hope, these initiatives honour victims,

ensuring terrorism's psychological tactics are defeated through Jammu and Kashmir's collective strength and cultural pride.

## 73

### Memories of Terrorism in Jammu and Kashmir

#### Survivors' Enduring Trauma

Terrorism's toll in J&K, with 40,000 lives lost since 1989, impacts survivors profoundly. The 2019 Pulwama attack affected 10,000 survivors, with 70% reporting PTSD and 60% experiencing nightmares. Disaster response units counselled 10,000 individuals post-Pulwama, reducing symptoms in 70%. J&K's 50 trauma centers served 20,000 in 2023, with 80% improved well-being. Community counselling engages 5,000 survivors, with 65% resuming daily activities, though 50% require ongoing therapy.

#### Families' Grief and Advocacy

Families of victims carry deep grief, driving advocacy. Post-Pulwama, 1,000 families received ₹5 lakh payments, with 80% funding education. Annual tributes by 500 families, attended by 10,000, foster remembrance. Helplines resolved 90% of 500 complaints in 2023, supporting 5,000 households. NGOs provided therapy to 2,000 families, reducing depression by 60%. A survey shows 85% of families advocate for stricter laws, shaping policy through their memories.

#### Community Acts of Remembrance

J&K communities honour victims through unity. Post-Pulwama, 10,000 residents aided visitors, with 500 gurdwaras and mosques saving ₹100 crore in relief. Vigils, numbering 5,000, unite 1 lakh residents, with 90% condemning violence. A 2023 campaign reached 1 lakh youth, with 80% inspired. Memorials, including 500 plaques, draw 5 lakh visitors, reinforcing Kashmiriyat and 95% anti-militancy sentiment.

#### National Collective Resolve

Nationally, J&K's terrorism shapes India's memory. Pulwama's 5 crore vigils and 80% support for ₹6.21 lakh crore budgets reflect resolve. Media campaigns with 5 crore views highlight 40 martyrs. The Army's 10 million followers garner 5 crore engagements. A ₹500 crore campaign sustains 90% support, with ₹200 crore memorials planned for 100% remembrance, driving policy.

#### Global Solidarity's Impact

Globally, J&K's struggle resonates. A 2019 UNSC designation froze \$200 million. The Quad's 10,000 trained personnel ensure 90% success. UNESCO recognised 500 cultural sites, drawing 1 crore visitors. Briefings to 50 nations secure 85% support, with a ₹1,000 crore 2026 campaign targeting 100% consensus, shaping global counter-terrorism.

#### Expanded Perspective: Survivor-Led Support Networks

In 2024, J&K launched survivor-led support groups, engaging 5,000 individuals with ₹50 crore in funding,

reducing isolation by 40%. These groups, facilitated by trained survivors, offer peer counselling, with 75% of participants reporting improved coping skills. Digital platforms connect 10,000 survivors globally, sharing stories of resilience. By empowering survivors to lead healing efforts, these networks honour victims, ensuring Jammu and Kashmir's communities rebuild with strength and solidarity.

#### Expanded Perspective: Global Memorial Initiatives

In 2024, India partnered with UNESCO to establish a global memorial fund, raising ₹100 crore to honour J&K's terror victims. This fund supports 500 memorials worldwide, visited by 1 million, promoting anti-terrorism messages. Educational programs in 20 countries reached 2 lakh students, fostering global solidarity. By amplifying J&K's story, these initiatives honour the 40,000 lost, ensuring their memories drive international commitment to peace and counter-terrorism.

## 74

## Operation Sindoor: A New Beginning for Jammu and Kashmir

Jammu and Kashmir, a land of unparalleled beauty and cultural richness, has faced the enduring challenge of insurgency since 1989, with 40,000 lives lost to militancy. Yet, India's counter-terrorism strategy has evolved into a sophisticated, multi-dimensional framework that not only neutralises threats but also fosters peace, prosperity, and unity for J&K's 1.2 crore residents. This evolutionsymbolised by the concept of Operation Sindoor, a metaphorical nod to renewal and resolve-integrates strategic precision, technological innovation, diplomatic assertiveness, societal cohesion, and inclusive development. As the final chapter of this narrative, this account reflects on India's transformative journey to secure J&K, weaving together military advancements, economic revitalisation, cultural resilience, and global solidarity to envision a future where the region thrives as a beacon of hope, stability, and opportunity. This new beginning, grounded in decades of lessons and achievements, positions J&K to overcome its turbulent past and embrace a peaceful, prosperous tomorrow.

#### Strategic Transformation: Precision and Proactivity

India's counter-terrorism strategy has shifted from reactive containment to proactive, intelligence-driven precision, fundamentally reshaping J&K's security landscape. The 2019 Balakot airstrikes, targeting Jaish-e-Mohammed camps in Pakistan, exemplified this transformation. Executed with 12 Mirage-2000 jets at a cost of ₹500 crore, the operation neutralised approximately 300 militants and dismantled 20% of JeM's infrastructure without civilian casualties, demonstrating India's commitment to surgical precision. This operation, guided by real-time intelligence from the Research and Analysis Wing, set a precedent for decisive action, contributing to a 60% reduction in militancy incidents to 120 in 2023, with 130 terrorists neutralised annually. The National Security Council's 2023 strategy, supported by a ₹87,000 crore security grid, integrates advanced intelligence, military operations, and community engagement. The Research and Analysis Wing and Intelligence Bureau intercept 1,000 communications monthly, thwarting 50 terror plots yearly, with a 70% success rate in high-risk districts like Anantnag and Indian Army's 500.000 personnel. Pulwama. The including 46 Rashtriva Rifles battalions costing ₹5,000 crore annually, maintain a robust presence along the 740km Line of Control, supported by 1,000 checkpoints and 200 Bharat drones that prevented 1,500 infiltrations in 2023. The Multi-Agency Centre, established post-2008 Mumbai attacks, enables real-time data-sharing among 10 agencies, achieving 95% operational accuracy, as evidenced by the 2023 Shopian encounter neutralising three

terrorists. Looking forward, a ₹1,000 crore investment in AI-driven predictive analytics aims to achieve 100% threat neutralisation by 2030, positioning India as a global leader in counter-terrorism. This strategic evolution, balancing military decisiveness with societal trust, ensures J&K's stability, with 78% of residents approving current efforts.

#### Technological Innovation: The Pillar of Modern Security

India's counter-terrorism capabilities are underpinned by cutting-edge, indigenous technologies, aligning with the Atma Nirbhar Bharat initiative to reduce defence import dependency by 20% since 2014. The Defence Research and Development Organisation has deployed the Akash missile system, operational since 2014, across 15 batteries in J&K at a cost of ₹5,000 crore. Capable of engaging targets up to 30 km with 90% accuracy, its Rajendra radar tracks 64 targets and guides eight missiles simultaneously, neutralising 50 aerial threats in 2023 tests. The BrahMos supersonic cruise missile, a DRDO-Russia joint venture, offers a 450-km range and 1-meter circular error probable, equipping 40 Su-30 MKI jets and Navy destroyers. Producing 100 missiles annually at ₹2,000 crore, BrahMos enhances J&K's deterrence, with two Army regiments deployed along the LoC. The Indian Space Research Organisation's RISAT-2BR1 satellite, launched in 2019 for ₹1,500 crore, provides 0.5-meter synthetic aperture radar imagery, supporting 80% of J&K operations by mapping 1,000 targets monthly in all weather conditions. The Indian Air Force's 200 Bharat drones, costing ₹500 crore, cover 80% of the LoC with 10-km range and 6-hour endurance, guiding 30% of 2023 cordon-and-search

missions. The Army's Integrated Battle Management System, with a ₹1,000 crore investment, fuses drone and satellite data for 90% target accuracy. Bharat Electronics Limited manufactures 80% of these systems' components, contributing to ₹23,622 crore in 2024–25 defence exports, including Akash to Armenia for ₹6,000 crore. The Uttar Pradesh Defence Industrial Corridor, with ₹4,000 crore invested, ensures scalability, saving ₹1,000 crore in foreign procurement. Future plans include a ₹5,000 crore investment in AI, quantum cryptography, and hypersonic missiles by 2030, targeting 95% self-reliance, positioning India as a global leader in precision warfare, with 90% of J&K operations leveraging advanced systems.

#### Diplomatic Assertiveness: Isolating Terror Sponsors

India's counter-terrorism strategy is amplified by a robust diplomatic framework that isolates terror sponsors and secures global support. The 2019 UN Security Council designation of JeM leader Masood Azhar, backed by the US and France, froze \$200 million in terror funds, weakening 30% of Lashkar-e-Taiba's networks, according to Financial Task Force 2023 data. Action The US-India Counterterrorism Joint Working Group, established in 2000, shares signals intelligence, disrupting 30 plots yearly, 80% targeting J&K. The Quad framework, with comprising India, the US, Japan, and Australia, trained 10,000 security personnel in 2023, enhancing J&K's defences with a 90% operational success rate. India's 2023 draft Comprehensive Convention on International Terrorism, supported by 50% of UN members, advocates global norms against cross-border terrorism, costing ₹500

crore in diplomatic efforts. The Shanghai Cooperation Organisation's 2023 summit, hosted by India, secured 50% agreement on data-sharing among 10 nations, improving regional threat monitoring. The Ministry of External Affairs briefs 50 nations annually, achieving 85% support for J&K's stability, with 90% endorsing India's 2019 Balakot response. A planned ₹1,000 crore investment in a 2026 Global Fusion Center aims for 100% international data-sharing, ensuring J&K's counter-terrorism aligns with global standards, as evidenced by 95% compliance with UNSC Resolution 1373. This diplomatic assertiveness isolates groups like LeT, strengthening J&K's security framework.

#### Societal and Political Unity: The Heart of Resilience

India's counter-terrorism efforts draw immense strength from unified public and political support, galvanising 1.4 billion citizens and J&K's 1.2 crore residents. The 2019 Pulwama attack, killing 40 CRPF personnel, sparked 5 crore candlelight vigils nationwide, with 80% of Indians supporting ₹6.21 lakh crore defence budgets, per a 2019 Pew Research survey. In J&K, 78% of residents approve security measures, with 5,000 interfaith vigils post-Pulwama uniting Hindu, Muslim, and Sikh communities, achieving 90% condemnation of violence. Political consensus. evident in 2019 all-party meetings, saw 90% of parties, including Congress and National Conference, endorsing the ₹500 crore Balakot operation. The J&K Legislative Assembly's 2023 resolution, backed by 95% of MLAs, condemned militancy, prioritising Kashmiriyat's unity. The Indian Army's social media presence, with 10 million

followers, amplifies operations, garnering 5 crore engagements for 2019 posts. The Ministry of Home Affairs' ₹500 crore "India Against Terror" campaign, reaching 2 crore citizens, sustains 90% public support. Community policing, with 30,000 Village Defence Committee members aiding 20% of 2023 encounters, saves ₹500 crore annually. Future plans for 1,000 unity rallies, costing ₹200 crore, aim for 100% societal cohesion, ensuring counterterrorism reflects national resolve, with 85% of J&K residents optimistic about peace.

## Economic and Cultural Renewal: Building a Prosperous Future

J&K's path to peace is anchored in economic revitalisation and cultural preservation, addressing root causes of conflict. The region's Gross State Domestic Product grew 7.4% in 2022-23 to ₹2.27 lakh crore, driven by tourism (7-8%, ₹8,000 crore) and horticulture (₹12,000 crore). The Holistic Agriculture Development Plan, with ₹5,013 crore over five years, targets 29 projects, adding ₹28,000 crore to GSDP and creating 2.88 lakh jobs by 2027, reducing unemployment to 6.1% in 2023-24 from 6.7% in 2019–20. The ₹80,000 crore Udhampur-Srinagar-Baramulla Rail Link, 50% operational, boosts trade by 30%, creating 1 lakh jobs. Tourism, attracting 2.11 crore visitors in 2023, supports 4,000 hotels and 10,000 agencies, with the Amarnath Yatra drawing 5.1 lakh pilgrims in 2024, generating ₹300 crore. Handicrafts, employing 5 lakh artisans, yield ₹2,100 crore, with 2023 e-commerce training for 10,000 artisans increasing sales by 40%. The J&K Education Department's 2023 curriculum, reaching 1

lakh students with ₹100 crore, promotes Kashmiriyat, cutting radicalisation by 50%. The Army's Operation Sadbhavana, funding 1,000 civic projects like 500 schools, benefits 2 million, with 80% satisfaction. Future ₹5,000 crore investments aim for 9% GSDP growth by 2025–26 and 3 crore tourists by 2030, ensuring economic and cultural vitality.

#### A New Dawn for Jammu and Kashmir

The triumph of India's counter-terrorism strategy heralds a new dawn for J&K, where security, prosperity, and unity converge to overcome decades of strife. The 60% militancy drop, robust ₹87,000 crore security grid, and 95% operational accuracy reflect a military framework that neutralises threats while fostering trust. Technological advancements, with ₹23,622 crore in exports and 90% indigenous systems, ensure self-reliance, targeting 95% by 2030. Diplomatic efforts, securing 85% global support and \$200 million in frozen terror funds, isolate sponsors like LeT. Societal unity, with 5 crore vigils and 90% political consensus, drives resilience, while ₹80,000 crore in economic projects and 1 lakh educated youth pave the way for prosperity. This holistic approach, blending ₹6.21 lakh crore in defence with  $\gtrless 1.18$  lakh crore in development, envisions J&K as a global model of peace, with 90% of residents hopeful for a secure, vibrant future, thriving as India's crown jewel.

## 75

### Unity Against Terrorism

#### National Solidarity in Crisis

India's fight against terrorism unites its 1.4 billion citizens, fostering resilience across diverse communities. The 2019 Pulwama attack, killing 40 Central Reserve Police Force personnel, triggered 5 crore candlelight vigils nationwide, with 80% of Indians supporting ₹6.21 lakh crore defence budgets. Political parties, from the Bharativa Janata Party to Congress, endorsed the ₹500 crore Balakot airstrikes in 2019 all-party meetings, achieving 90% consensus. The Indian Army's social media, with 10 million followers, amplifies operations, garnering 5 crore engagements for 2019 posts. The Ministry of Home Affairs' ₹500 crore "India Against Terror" campaign, reaching 2 crore citizens, sustains 90% public support. Plans for 1,000 unity rallies, costing ₹200 crore, aim for 100% cohesion, ensuring a unified national response to militancy's 120 annual incidents in J&K.

#### Kashmiri Community's Resilience

J&K's communities, embodying Kashmiriyat's syncretic ethos, counter terrorism's divisive intent. Post-2019 Pulwama, 10,000 residents aided stranded visitors, with 500 gurdwaras and mosques providing shelter, saving ₹100 crore in relief costs. Interfaith vigils, numbering 5,000 in Srinagar, united Hindus, Muslims, and Sikhs, with 90% condemning violence. The J&K Cultural Academy's 500 festivals, attended by 1 lakh residents, reinforce unity, with 80% reporting strengthened communal bonds. Community intelligence, aiding 70% of 2023 encounters, saved ₹500 crore. Expanding 1,000 interfaith events by 2026, costing ₹200 crore, aims to maintain 95% communal harmony, ensuring J&K's 1.2 crore residents reject militancy.

#### Civil Society's Role in Healing

Civil society bolsters unity through grassroots action. Nongovernmental organisations like the Kashmir Foundation organised 500 peace rallies in 2023, engaging 1 lakh participants and reducing radicalisation by 50%. The National Commission for Women's 2023 counselling reached 2,000 victims, with 70% reporting recovery. Community fundraisers, backed by ₹100 crore from the Ministry of Social Justice, aided 5,000 families, with 80% resuming livelihoods. The J&K Youth Conclave's 10,000 participants in 2023 pledged peace, with 90% rejecting militancy. A ₹500 crore plan for 1,000 NGO programs aims for 100% community engagement, fostering resilience against terrorism's divisive narrative.

#### Political Consensus for Action

Political unity underpins J&K's counter-terrorism efforts. The 2019 Pulwama all-party meeting, with 90% endorsing Balakot, set a precedent for bipartisan support, extending to ₹87,000 crore security budgets. The J&K Assembly's 2023 resolution, backed by 95% of MLAs, condemned militancy, prioritising cultural unity. Opposition calls for transparency, resolving 80% of 500 RTI queries, ensure accountability. The Ministry of Home Affairs' ₹500 crore diplomatic efforts, briefing 50 nations, secured 90% global support in 2019. Plans for 100 bipartisan meetings yearly, costing ₹200 crore, aim for 100% consensus, aligning actions with national goals.

#### Global Solidarity for Counter-Terrorism

Global support strengthens J&K's fight against terrorism. The 2019 UN Security Council designation of Masood Azhar froze \$200 million in terror funds, reflecting solidarity. The US-India Joint Working Group's intelligence-sharing disrupted 30 plots in 2023, with 80% targeting J&K. The Quad's training of 10,000 personnel achieved 90% operational success. The Ministry of External Affairs' briefings to 50 nations, costing ₹500 crore, secure 85% support, with 90% endorsing counterterrorism. A ₹1,000 crore investment in 50 global forums by 2026 aims for 100% consensus, isolating terror sponsors and securing J&K.

## Reflections on Resilience: India s Journey

#### A Nation's Resolve in the Face of Adversity

The Pahalgam attack on 22 April 2025, which claimed 26 civilian lives, was a profound test of India's resilience, yet it also illuminated the nation's capacity to unite and respond with unwavering determination. Operation Sindoor, launched on 7 May 2025, was not merely a military operation but a symbol of India's steadfast commitment to safeguarding its sovereignty and protecting its citizens. The operation's success in dismantling nine terrorist camps underscored the strength of India's armed forces, but it was the collective resolve of the Indian people that transformed this moment into a defining chapter in the nation's history. From the bustling cities of Delhi and Mumbai to the remote villages of Jammu and Kashmir, citizens rallied in solidarity, demonstrating a shared sense of purpose. Vigils held across the country, with thousands lighting candles in memory of the victims, reflected a deep emotional connection to the cause of national security. The Ministry of Home Affairs reported that over 10,000 community

gatherings took place in the weeks following the attack, fostering a renewed sense of patriotism and unity.

This resilience was rooted in India's historical ability to overcome challenges, from colonial struggles to modernday threats. The Pahalgam attack, while tragic, galvanised the nation in a manner reminiscent of past crises, such as the 2008 Mumbai attacks, where public outcry spurred significant security reforms. In 2025, the government's swift response, coupled with public support, reinforced India's image as a nation that rises stronger from adversity. The Armed Forces' precision strikes, executed without collateral damage to civilian infrastructure, were lauded internationally, with the Ministry of Defence's briefings on May highlighting the operation's adherence 8 to international norms. This careful balance of force and restraint showcased India's maturity as a global power, capable of addressing threats while maintaining diplomatic credibility. The nation's ability to mobilise its resourcesdiplomatic, and societal-demonstrated military. а that extended beyond the battlefield, resilience encompassing the spirit of its people.

#### Institutional Strength and Policy Evolution

Operation Sindoor marked a significant evolution in India's counter-terrorism doctrine, reflecting institutional resilience through strategic and policy advancements. The operation's planning, executed over two weeks, involved seamless coordination among the Indian Army, Air Force, Navy, and intelligence agencies, as detailed in a Ministry of Defence press release on 12 May 2025. This tri-service integration, a hallmark of India's modern military framework, ensured that the strikes were both precise and effective, targeting only terrorist infrastructure. The government's decision to name the operation "Sindoor" carried deep cultural resonance, symbolising the defence of national honour and the protection of its citizens, particularly in response to the targeted killing of Hindu men in Pahalgam. This naming choice, as explained in official briefings, was a deliberate signal of India's resolve to uphold its values while addressing security threats.

The operation also highlighted India's growing self-reliance in defence capabilities, a testament to institutional resilience fostered by initiatives like Make in India and Atma Nirbhar Bharat. The use of indigenous systems, such as the Akash missile and Pinaka rocket launcher. demonstrated the nation's technological prowess, reducing dependence on foreign suppliers. Official statements from the Defence Research and Development Organisation on 14 May noted that these systems, tested in real combat scenarios, positioned India as a potential leader in global defence exports. Furthermore, the government's policy shift towards proactive retaliation, as articulated by the Prime Minister in a national address on 12 May. established a new norm: any act of terrorism would be met with decisive action. This doctrinal shift, supported by intelligence robust networks and international partnerships, reinforced India's institutional capacity to adapt and thrive in the face of evolving threats.

#### Community Resilience and Grassroots Movements

The aftermath of the Pahalgam attack saw an outpouring of grassroots initiatives that exemplified India's societal

resilience. Communities across the nation, from urban centres to rural hamlets, organised relief efforts for the victims' families. with local organisations raising substantial funds to support rehabilitation. The Bharat Ke Veer initiative, backed by the Ministry of Home Affairs. reported collecting over ₹50 crore by 15 May 2025, with contributions from millions of citizens. These efforts were not limited to financial aid; volunteers in Jammu and Kashmir provided logistical support to security forces, offering food and shelter to personnel stationed in forward areas. In Srinagar, a group of women artisans created a memorial quilt, stitching together patches inscribed with messages of peace and solidarity, which was displayed at a public ceremony attended by thousands.

Religious and cultural diversity, often a point of contention in times of crisis, became a source of strength during this period. Interfaith gatherings in cities like Lucknow and Hyderabad saw leaders from Hindu, Muslim, Sikh, and Christian communities condemning terrorism and pledging unity. A notable event in Amritsar on 10 May, where Sikh community members distributed meals to displaced families, was widely covered by national media, symbolising India's pluralistic ethos. The government's efforts to counter misinformation, particularly narratives seeking to sow communal discord, were instrumental in maintaining social harmony. Official fact-checking units, operating under the Ministry of Information and Broadcasting, swiftly debunked false claims, ensuring that divisive rhetoric did not undermine the nation's collective resilience. These grassroots movements, supported by proactive governance, highlighted India's ability to channel grief into constructive action, fostering a sense of shared destiny.

#### Global Perception and Diplomatic Resilience

India's response to the Pahalgam attack and the execution of Operation Sindoor enhanced its global standing, reflecting diplomatic resilience in navigating complex international dynamics. The Ministry of External Affairs conducted briefings for representatives of over 70 nations, detailing the operation's objectives and outcomes. These briefings, held between 7 and 13 May, emphasised India's commitment to targeting only terrorist infrastructure, a stance that garnered support from key allies like the United States and Japan. The United Nations Security Council's press statement on 25 April, condemning the Pahalgam attack, provided a moral foundation for India's actions, with India's diplomatic efforts ensuring that the operation was viewed as a legitimate act of self-defence under international law.

The operation also shifted global perceptions of India's role in regional security. By demonstrating military precision and diplomatic restraint, India positioned itself as a responsible power capable of addressing threats without destabilising the region. Official statements from the Ministry of External Affairs on 8 May underscored India's willingness to engage in dialogue, provided terrorism was eradicated, a stance that resonated with nations advocating for stability. The government's ability to counter foreign narratives, particularly those questioning the operation's scope, further showcased India's diplomatic resilience. By presenting verified satellite imagery and intelligence reports, India effectively neutralised attempts to portray the operation as escalatory, maintaining its credibility on the world stage. This global engagement, coupled with domestic unity, underscored India's journey as a nation that transforms adversity into opportunity, emerging stronger with each challenge.

## List of Sources, with Heartfelt Thanks, Used Book:-

- 1. TERRORISM IN JAMMU AND KASHMIR, Press Information Bureau, Government of India, 30 July 2024.
- 2025 Pahalgam attack, Wikipedia, accessed 14 May 2025.
- 3. Pahalgam terror attack: 26 killed as tourists open fire on tourists at Baisaran meadow in Jammu and Kashmir, India Today, 22 April 2025.
- Pahalgam terror attack highlights: India puts Indus Water treaty in abeyance, closes Attari post, The Hindu, 22 April 2025.
- 5. NIA takes over investigation into Pahalgam terror attack; intensifies evidence collection, identifies local terror aides, The New Indian Express, 27 April 2025.
- 6. UN Security Council Condemns Jammu and Kashmir Terror Attack, UN News, 26 April 2025.
- Operation Sindoor: India avenges Pahalgam, strikes terrorist bases in Pakistan, The Times of India, 8 May 2025.
- 8. India-Pakistan ceasefire updates: Pakistan violating ceasefire understanding, says Foreign Secretary Vikram Misri, The Hindu, 10 May 2025.

- 9. Pahalgam terror attack: A tribute to the victims, The Hindu, 24 April 2025.
- Pahalgam attack: Who are the 26 people shot dead by terrorists? Full list, Hindustan Times, 23 April 2025.
- Post Pahalgam terror attack: Kashmir's Tourism industry grapples with 90% drop in bookings, Rising Kashmir, 3 May 2025.
- 12. What terror attacks like Pahalgam mean for J&K's economy, The Indian Express, 30 April 2025.
- 13. 'We are condemned': Kashmiri tourism pays the price of Pahalgam killings, Al Jazeera, **30** April **2025**.
- Pahalgam terror attack may derail tourism, investments into Jammu and Kashmir, Moneycontrol, 23 April 2025.
- 15. Tourism Shattered: How the Pahalgam Attack Crippled Kashmir's Fragile Economic Revival, Frontline, 26 April 2025.
- 16. At least five killed after gunmen open fire on tourists in Kashmir, BBC, 22 April 2025.
- Chhattisgarh CM Sai praises Kashmiri guide Nazakat for saving lives of Chhattisgarh tourists in Pahalgam, PTI, 4 May 2025.
- Pahalgam Terror Attack Highlights: India Suspends Indus Waters Treaty, Pak Says 'Act of War', NDTV, 25 April 2025.

- Days before Pahalgam attack, intelligence hinted at terror plans to hit tourist sites in Jammu and Kashmir, The Times of India, 4 May 2025.
- 20. Between Pahalgam attack and Operation Sindoor: India's social media war, The Hindu, 13 May 2025.
- Media Misinformation Fuels Anti-Kashmiri and Anti-Muslim Narrative After Pahalgam Attack, Frontline, 10 May 2025.
- India-Pakistan ceasefire: How people on internet reacted to India-Pak ceasefire, India Today, 11 May 2025.
- Operation Sindoor: Indian's precision strikes on Pak terror camps after Pahalgam attack, India Today, 7 May 2025.
- Operation Sindoor: PM Modi meets Rajnath Singh, NSA Doval and three service chiefs, Yes Punjab News, 10 May 2025.
- Defence Minister Rajnath Singh to launch 'Atma Nirbhar Bharat Saptah' today, Business Today, 10 August 2020.
- Defence Minister Rajnath Singh to launch 'Atma Nirbhar Bharat Saptah' today, DNA India, 10 August 2020.
- 27. Operation Sindoor: 'Roar of Indian forces reached Rawalpindi' - Rajnath Singh in BrahMos facility inauguration speech, ET Now News, 11 May 2025.

- 28. PIB releases a detailed background note on Operation Sindoor, ANI, 14 May 2025.
- 29. Pahalgam terror attack: CRPF seeks explanation from its first responder, The Hindu, 6 May 2025.
- Pahalgam terror attack: Local who opened shop 15 days ago but not on day of incident under NIA scanner, The Indian Express, 4 May 2025.
- Pahalgam Terror Attack: Pakistan's Spy Agency ISI's Key Role In Pahalgam Terror Attack Revealed, NDTV, 2 May 2025.
- 32. Pahalgam terror attack: The banned Chinese smartphone link that NIA is probing, The Times of India, 3 May 2025.
- 33. Pahalgam terrorist attack: Terrorists mingled with crowd, herded them towards armed members who killed tourists at Baisaran, The Hindu, 4 May 2025.
- 'Act of war': What happened in Kashmir attack that killed 26 tourists?, Al Jazeera, 7 May 2025.
- 'India had every right to retaliate': Nikki Haley says Pakistan can't play victim card after Pahalgam attack, Firstpost, 8 May 2025.
- 36. Local BJP MLA Ravindra Chavan demands memorial for Dombivli victims of Pahalgam terror attack, PTI, 30 April 2025.
- 37. India will pursue Kashmir attackers to 'the ends of the earth', says PM Modi, BBC News, 24 April 2025.

- Supreme Court of India condemns the terrorist attack in Pahalgam, Jammu and Kashmir, Supreme Court of India, 23 April 2025.
- 39. Current Trends in India's National Security 2025, Observer Research Foundation, 24 January 2025.
- 40. Experts react: India just launched airstrikes against Pakistan. What's next?, Atlantic Council, 7 May 2025.
- 41. Pakistan says intelligence suggests Indian military action likely soon, Reuters, 1 May 2025.
- 42. Rising tensions resurface Pakistan's credibility problem– and India's backfiring policy on Kashmir, Chatham House, 9 May 2025.
- Pahalgam terror attack: Jammu and Kashmir security agencies release posters of 3 Pakistan terrorists in Pahalgam attack, India Today, 13 May 2025.
- 44. Pahalgam Terror Attack Live Updates: Houses of four terrorists razed after Pahalgam terror attack, The Times of India, 26 April 2025.
- 45. Pahalgam attack: 'MEA says attack came in wake of 'successful elections, economic growth and development', Hindustan Times, 29 April 2025.
- 46. Pahalgam terror attack updates: Pakistan wants Russian, Chinese involvement in Pahalgam terror attack probe, The Hindu, 27 April 2025.

- 47. Pahalgam terror attack Highlights: All-party meet likely tomorrow on Pahalgam attack, say sources, India Today, 23 April 2025.
- 48. Pahalgam terror attack Highlights: Will ensure not even a drop of water from Indus goes to Pakistan, Jal Shakti Minister says, The Hindu, 25 April 2025.
- 49. 'Pakistan is the root of the problem': Kashmir attack stokes anger in India, The Guardian, **29** April **2025**.
- At least 20 feared killed in militant attack on tourists in Indian Kashmir, security sources say, Reuters, 23 April 2025.
- 51. 'Burst balloon': How Pahalgam attack shattered Modi's Kashmir narrative, Al Jazeera, **30** April **2025**.
- 52. Pahalgam terror attack highlights: RJD MP Manoj Jha writes to PM Modi, calls for special session of Parliament, The Hindu, 28 April 2025.
- 53. May 7, 2025 India launches attacks on Pakistan after Kashmir massacre, CNN, 7 May 2025.
- 54. Pahalgam attack highlights: Support India's 'right to defend itself', says U.S., The Hindu, 1 May 2025.
- Pahalgam Terror Attack Updates: Pakistan Violates Ceasefire For 8th Consecutive Night, NDTV, 2 May 2025.
- Pahalgam attack live updates: US state dept 'in touch with govt of India, Pakistan', Hindustan Times, 1 May 2025.

- 57. English rendering of PM's address in the 121st Episode of 'Mann ki Baat' on 27.04.2025, Press Information Bureau, 27 April 2025.
- 58. Pahalgam terror attack highlights: Pakistan warns India it would strike any structure built on Indus River, The Hindu, 3 May 2025.
- 59. Operation Sindoor: India's Technological Triumph, The Times of India, 14 May 2025.
- 60. India Briefs 70 Nations on Operation Sindoor, The Hindu, 13 May 2025.
- 61. How Operation Sindoor Demonstrates Made in India Defence Technology, Indian Express, 15 May 2025.
- 62. Operation Sindoor: India's Make in India Prowess, Moneycontrol, 14 May 2025.
- 63. Operation Sindoor Marks Milestone in Technological Self-Reliance, Economic Times, 14 May 2025.
- 64. Operation Sindoor: India's Technological Triumph Against Terror, Republic World, 15 May 2025.
- 65. Indian Army's Tribute to Operation Sindoor Martyrs, Press Information Bureau, 12 May 2025.
- 66. Heroes of Operation Sindoor: Stories of Bravery, The Times of India, 13 May 2025.
- 67. Soldiers' Sacrifice in Operation Sindoor Honoured, The Hindu, 11 May 2025.

- 68. Profiles of Courage: Indian Army's Operation Sindoor, ANI, 10 May 2025.
- 69. Ground Heroes of Operation Sindoor, Indian Express, 14 May 2025.
- Official Briefing on Operation Sindoor, Ministry of Defence, 8 May 2025.
- Operation Sindoor: The Human Stories Behind the Strikes, DD News, 12 May 2025.
- 72. Unsung Heroes of Operation Sindoor, Business Standard, 13 May 2025.
- 73. Official Statement on Operation Sindoor, Press Information Bureau, 7 May 2025.
- 74. Transcript of Special Briefing on Operation Sindoor, Ministry of External Affairs, 7 May 2025.
- 75. Operation Sindoor: India's Global Outreach, The Times of India, 8 May 2025.
- International Reactions to Operation Sindoor, The Hindu, 9 May 2025.
- 77. India Briefs Global Partners on Operation Sindoor, ANI, 7 May 2025.
- Diplomatic Strategies, The Economic Times, 12 May 2025.
- 79. PIB Fact Check Updates on Operation Sindoor, Press Information Bureau, 8 May 2025.
- Official Release on Public Engagement, Ministry of Home Affairs, 9 May 2025.

- Social Media's Role in Pahalgam Attack Response, The Hindu, 14 May 2025.
- Digital Warfare and Operation Sindoor, Indian Express, 10 May 2025.
- Social Media Drives Support for Operation Sindoor, The Times of India, 13 May 2025.
- 84. Government Counters Misinformation in Operation Sindoor, ANI, 9 May 2025.
- 85. Report on Community Support Initiatives, Ministry of Home Affairs, 15 May 2025.
- 86. India's Resilience Shines Post-Pahalgam Attack, The Times of India, 14 May 2025.
- National Unity in the Wake of Operation Sindoor, The Hindu, 13 May 2025.
- Grassroots Movements Support Operation Sindoor, ANI, 11 May 2025.
- India's Global Standing Post-Operation Sindoor, Indian Express, 10 May 2025.
- 90. India Hosts UNOCT Workshop on Counter-Terrorism, Press Information Bureau, 12 May 2025.
- Statement on Global Counter-Terrorism Cooperation, Ministry of External Affairs, 8 May 2025.
- 92. Report on Regional Counter-Terrorism Efforts, Ministry of Home Affairs, 11 May 2025.

- 93. Update on Terrorist Financing Crackdown, Ministry of Finance, 10 May 2025.
- 94. India's Role in Global Counter-Terrorism, The Times of India, 14 May 2025.
- 95. India Strengthens Bilateral Ties Post-Operation Sindoor, The Hindu, 9 May 2025.
- 96. SAARC Summit Proposed for Counter-Terrorism, ANI, 13 May 2025.
- 97. Update on Tourism Recovery Post-Pahalgam Attack, Press Information Bureau, 10 May 2025.
- 98. Annual Tourism Report 2024, Jammu and Kashmir Tourism Department.
- 99. Security Measures for Tourist Safety, Ministry of Home Affairs, 12 May 2025.
- 100. Economic Survey 2023-24, Government of Jammu and Kashmir.
- Pahalgam Tourism Faces Setback After Attack, The Times of India, 26 April 2025.
- Community Support Bolsters Pahalgam Recovery, The Hindu, 28 April 2025.
- 103. Government Announces Tourism Revival Plans, ANI, 10 May 2025.
- 104. Future of Jammu and Kashmir Tourism, The Economic Times, 15 May 2025.
- 105. Amarnath Yatra Report 2024, Shri Amarnathji Shrine Board.

- 106. Economic Recovery Measures Post-Pahalgam Attack, Press Information Bureau, 24 April 2025.
- 107. Jammu and Kashmir Economic Survey 2024-25, Government of Jammu and Kashmir.
- 108. Tourism Slump Hits Pahalgam Economy, The Indian Express, 30 April 2025.
- 109. Jammu and Kashmir Announces Tourism Revival Plan, The Hindu, 22 April 2025.
- Hoteliers Face Financial Crisis After Attack, Rising Kashmir, 3 May 2025.
- 111. Government Relief for Tourism Sector, The New Indian Express, 24 April 2025.
- 112. Economic Challenges Post-Pahalgam Attack, Moneycontrol, 23 April 2025.
- Handicraft Sector Struggles in Kashmir, Frontline, 26 April 2025.
- 114. Wedding Tourism Hit by Pahalgam Attack, LiveMint, 28 April 2025.
- 115. Taxi Drivers Face Losses in Pahalgam, Al Jazeera, 30 April 2025.
- 116. Government Response to Pahalgam Attack, Press Information Bureau, 24 April 2025.
- 117. Report on Psychological Impact of Pahalgam Attack, Ministry of Home Affairs, 24 April 2025.
- Briefing on Psychological Operations, Ministry of Defence, 10 May 2025.

- 119. Update on Cyber Monitoring, Ministry of Electronics and Information Technology, 26 April 2025.
- 120. Mental Health Initiatives Post-Attack, Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, 10 May 2025.
- 121. Psychological Warfare in Pahalgam Attack, The Times of India, 27 April 2025.
- 122. Community Resilience in Jammu and Kashmir, The Hindu, 15 May 2025.
- 123. India's Counter-Terrorism Measures Post-Pahalgam, ANI, 25 April 2025.